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1      RENO, NEVADA -- MAY 28, 2025 -- 9:00 A.M.

2                        -o0o-

3

4

5           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Let's go on the

6 record.  All right.  This is the time, place set for

7 the formal hearing In the Matter of Charges and

8 Complaint Against Ira Michael Schneier, M.D.

9           Counsel, I'd like you to please state your

10 appearances for the record.

11           MR. SHOGREN:  Good morning.  This is

12 William Shogren, Deputy General Counsel, on behalf

13 of the Investigative Committee of the Medical Board.

14           MS. THOMAS:  Melanie Thomas on behalf of

15 Dr. Schneier.

16           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Thank you.

17           Now, procedurally, this is the history of

18 the case:  The complaint was filed on, July 30,

19 2024.  Respondent's answer was filed on

20 September 23, 2024.  An early case conference was

21 held on October 17, 2024.  A hearing was originally

22 set for March 11th and 12th, 2025.  There was a

23 deadline in the order on that for filing of

24 prehearing motions.  The IC filed a motion in limine

25 on February 11, 2025.  Respondent filed the
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1 opposition to that on March 3, 2025.  The order on

2 that was filed on March 7, 2025.  Then the hearing

3 was reset to commence today, May 28th, 2025, at

4 9:00 a.m.

5           Are counsel ready to proceed?

6           MS. THOMAS:  Yes.

7           MR. SHOGREN:  Yes.

8           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.  And,

9 Dr. Schneier, I didn't mean to cut you out of that.

10 Welcome to today's proceedings.  Do you have any

11 questions as we move forward?

12           DR. SCHNEIER:  No.

13           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  A couple of

14 housekeeping matters, as I mentioned before we got

15 on the record.  Exhibits, I have in front of me the

16 IC's formal hearing Exhibits 1 through 10, and then

17 I also have Dr. Schneier's culled exhibits with a

18 bunch of different numbers on them.

19           Let's turn to the -- what I'd like to do

20 is see whether we have a stipulation on these.  To

21 the extent that we have a stipulation, that's great,

22 if we don't, we can deal with it.

23           So first, turning to the IC's Exhibits 1

24 through 10, I would ask, Ms. Thomas, you've reviewed

25 these, any problems, objections with any of them?

Page 7

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200



CORRECTED COPY

1           MS. THOMAS:  I don't know that all of them

2 are appropriate for admission.  I think part of your

3 order on motion in limine was that -- related to the

4 discussions of subsequent care -- and the Board has

5 not yet advised whether they intend to get into the

6 subsequent care -- I think there needs to be a

7 foundation laid for that, and I think that we should

8 address those records as they come up in the

9 proceedings.

10           And then with regard to the journal

11 article, I think there needs to be a foundation for

12 that, and I'm not sure that that's appropriate

13 evidence for admission.

14           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.

15 Well, let's go to number 1.  Any problems with

16 number 1, Ms. Thomas?

17           MS. THOMAS:  No.

18           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  That'll be

19 admitted.

20                (IC's Exhibit 1 was admitted.)

21           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Number 2?

22           MS. THOMAS:  No.

23           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Number 3,

24 Patient A medical records, Sunrise.  That's about 41

25 pages.  Any problems with that one?
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1           MS. THOMAS:  Other than the fact that

2 these are not complete records, but we also have a

3 competing set of records that are more substantive

4 for these admissions, I have no problem.

5           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Number 3 will be

6 admitted.

7                (IC's Exhibit 3 was admitted.)

8           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Then we have

9 number 4, which appears to be a series of imaging

10 studies.  Some of those are, Ms. Thomas, after

11 February-ish of 2020, the last three, it looks like.

12           What's your position on those?

13           MS. THOMAS:  I do not have an issue with

14 those studies being admitted.

15           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.

16 Those will all be admitted.

17                (IC's Exhibit 4 was admitted.)

18           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Number 5,

19 Patient A medical records, Clinical Neurology

20 Associates?

21           MS. THOMAS:  Those are -- and maybe I can

22 shortcut here.  Five through 8 are subsequent care,

23 so if the appropriate foundation is laid, I feel

24 like we can deal with that at the time, but, right

25 now, there has been no representation by the Board
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1 on whether they intend to canvass that area.

2           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.

3           Mr. Shogren comments on that?

4           MR. SHOGREN:  The Board does intend to

5 reference this briefly, some of the aftercare.  It's

6 mentioned in the Complaint.

7           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  What

8 we'll do is we'll reserve that.  I assume that

9 you're going to be going through this with one or

10 more of your witnesses; correct?

11           MR. SHOGREN:  Correct.

12           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.

13 We'll reserve that.

14           The article, we're going to reserve that

15 one as well.  I had made a note of that as kind of

16 the learned treatise, so there's going to need to be

17 some foundation for that laid.

18           And then number 10, Ms. Thomas?  It's a

19 CV.

20           MS. THOMAS:  I don't have a problem with

21 that being admitted.

22           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  So

23 Exhibits -- this is the IC's exhibits -- 1, 2, 3, 4

24 and 10.  Number 9, reserve; 5, with foundation -- 5

25 through 8 same.
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1                (IC's Exhibits 2 and 10 were

2                admitted.)

3           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.

4 Let's turn to the culled exhibits, the respondent.

5 I did take a little bit of time just to kind of get

6 an idea of what was in this material.

7           Mr. Shogren, you've had a chance to review

8 this material, what's your position regarding it?

9 Stipulated, non stipulated, objections?

10           MS. THOMAS:  And I might be able to

11 shortcut this a little bit.

12           I'm willing to go on a case-by-case basis

13 with these exhibits and only admit the portions of

14 them that we use or otherwise state on the record to

15 be admitted, with the exception of Q.

16           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  With the

17 exception of what?

18           MS. THOMAS:  Q.

19           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Q.  Pardon me.

20 I'm not sure I have a Q in here.  I go up to P, so I

21 don't even have a Q.

22           MS. THOMAS:  It's not our -- if you look

23 at our prehearing statement -- so when I sent the

24 culled exhibits over, that was the only exhibits

25 that had been changed from the time of the
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1 prehearing statement.

2           It's paragraph 17 on the list of proposed

3 exhibits, the curriculum vitae.  I'm happy to email

4 a copy to you if you like.

5           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Well, if you

6 want to -- yeah, if you want to have it in the

7 record, it's going to need to be there, because I

8 don't see it in materials.

9           MS. FUENTES:  I do have it here.

10           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  You have it?

11           MS. FUENTES:  I do have it here.  I can

12 get you a copy.

13           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  We can do

14 that on a break, perhaps.

15           MR. SHOGREN:  I have no objection to

16 admitting the respondent's exhibits.

17           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.

18           To the extent that they're going to be

19 used, Ms. Thomas or anybody, then the respondent's

20 culled exhibits, just for the record, they are --

21 you have to kind of read between the lines on

22 this -- A, B, E, F, G, H, I, J, K, and P are

23 admitted for purposes of use in this proceeding.

24                (Respondents Exhibits A, B, E, F,

25                G, H, I, J, K, and P were
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1                admitted.)

2           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.  So

3 taken care of the exhibits.

4           Final housekeeping before we get into the

5 nuts and bolts, what's the anticipated witnesses,

6 Mr. Shogren first, that you anticipate calling

7 today?

8           MR. SHOGREN:  I was going to briefly call

9 Ms. LaRue, an investigator here with the Board, to

10 talk about Exhibits 5 through 8, lay a foundation

11 for those.

12           And then we'll be calling the Board's

13 expert witness, Dr. Goz.

14           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Those were the

15 two anticipated witnesses?

16           MR. SHOGREN:  Correct.

17           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  And, Ms. Thomas,

18 for you?

19           MS. THOMAS:  I intend to ask limited, if

20 any, questions of Ms. LaRue, to cross-examine

21 Dr. Goz, and then we will be calling Dr. Agarwal and

22 Dr. Schneier.

23           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  There was some

24 hint at one point in time, I think in one of our

25 chats, that Dr. Khavkin is somehow going to
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1 testify --

2           MS. THOMAS:  Khavkin?

3           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Yeah.  How is

4 that pronounced?

5           MS. THOMAS:  Kav-kin.

6           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  So that doctor,

7 Dr. Khavkin, he is not going to be -- he's on a

8 witness list, but he's not going to be testifying;

9 correct?

10           MS. THOMAS:  We do not plan to call him.

11           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.

12           And, Mr. Shogren, you don't plan to call

13 him either?

14           MR. SHOGREN:  No.

15           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Got it.  Okay.

16           There's not a whole lot -- well, there's

17 would be, two experts.  The rule of exclusion, you

18 guys want to invoke that?

19           MS. THOMAS:  I don't believe that the rule

20 of exclusion applies at trial.  I think expert

21 witnesses are an exception to that rule.  I would

22 not be asking for exclusion.

23           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Mr. Shogren, how

24 do you -- because there is a hearsay exception on

25 that, and it's within my discretion to invoke it or
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1 not under the rule.

2           Any position on that?

3           MR. SHOGREN:  Just, generally, I invoke

4 that.

5           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  In this

6 instance, since we have two experts and this appears

7 to be -- that appears to be the core of the case and

8 it is discretionary, I'm not going to have the rule

9 of exclusion invoked because it doesn't really apply

10 all that well to experts, in my view, in this and

11 other context.  So, anyway, who knows.

12           What I'd like to do now is, Mr. Shogren,

13 you indicated a desire to do a short opening.  Feel

14 free.

15 OPENING STATEMENT

16 BY MR. SHOGREN:

17           First off, I'd like to say good morning to

18 everyone.  I'd like to thank everyone involved in

19 today's hearing for their participation.

20           Just briefly, I want to lay out that the

21 hearing is to present evidence to determine whether

22 a Dr. Schneier violated parts of the Medical

23 Practice Act, specifically whether or not he

24 committed malpractice as alleged in Count I of the

25 Complaint filed by the Investigative Committee, and

Page 15

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200



CORRECTED COPY

1 failed to maintain complete medical records, as

2 alleged in Count II, and continually failed to

3 exercise skill and diligence as alleged in Count

4 III.

5           I want to briefly outlined what will be

6 discussed, what the evidence will show at today's

7 hearing.

8           The evidence will show that on December

9 31, 2019, Dr. Schneier performed spinal surgery on

10 Patient A to address Patient A's -- aiming to

11 address Patient A's stenosis, however the surgery

12 was performed on the wrong level of the patient's

13 spine.

14           Then Dr. Schneier failed to recognize the

15 wrong-level surgery, despite Patient A's continued

16 issues with lower extremity change and functional

17 deficits and multiple subsequent imaging studies

18 that demonstrated continued stenosis at the T10

19 through T11 level.

20           This also includes failure to address the

21 patient pathology there at that level in a second

22 surgery performed by Dr. Schneier on January 23,

23 2020, when he removed hardware, but still did not

24 revise his laminectomy for the surgery to address

25 the patient's stenosis.
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1           The evidence will also show that Dr.

2 Schneier's records did not address Patient A's

3 continued stenosis or discussion of that with the

4 patient after the first surgery, and thus the

5 records are not complete.

6           Finally, the evidence will show that Dr.

7 Schneier continued failed to exercise skills and/or

8 diligence by not addressing Patient A's stenosis at

9 the T10 through T11 level after December 31, 2019.

10           In sum, the testimony and evidence

11 presented here today will establish by a

12 preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Schneier

13 committed malpractice, failed to maintain proper or

14 complete medical records, and continually failed to

15 exercise diligence.

16           Accordingly, Dr. Schneier has failed to

17 meet the standard of care and violated the three

18 provisions of the Medical Practice Act as alleged in

19 the formal Complaint.

20           On behalf of the Investigative Committee,

21 we ask the Board to considering the record that will

22 be presented today and render the appropriate

23 findings and discipline.

24           Once again, thank you, everyone, for being

25 here today.

Page 17

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200



CORRECTED COPY

1           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Thank you,

2 Mr. Shogren.

3           It's my understanding, Ms. Thomas, you

4 will reserve any opening at the present time?

5           MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  Thank you.

6           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.

7 Mr. Shogren, ball's in your court.  You can call

8 your first witness.

9           The way we'll do it is you can call him,

10 the court reporter will then administer the oath,

11 and you can go forward.  Okay?

12           MR. SHOGREN:  Okay.  The IC will first be

13 calling Johnna LaRue as their first witness.

14           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Ms. LaRue, can

15 you hear us?

16           THE WITNESS:  I can hear you.  Can you see

17 me and hear me?

18           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Yes.

19           Can everybody else see and hear Ms. LaRue?

20           MS. THOMAS:  Yes, we can.

21           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.  Ms.

22 LaRue, please state your name for the record, and

23 then I'm going to have the court reporter swear you

24 in.  Okay?

25           THE WITNESS:  Well, hold on.  I have to
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1 turn my volume up.  I'm having trouble hearing you.

2 Okay.  You asked me for my name?

3           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Yeah.  Just

4 state your name for the record, then the court

5 reporter is going to swear you in, and then

6 Mr. Shogren will ask you some questions.

7           THE WITNESS:  Okay.  My name is Johnna

8 LaRue, L-A-R-U-E.

9                (The oath was administered.)

10           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Mr. Shogren?

11 DIRECT EXAMINATION

12 BY MR. SHOGREN:

13      Q.   Good morning, Mr. LaRue.  First off, where

14 do you work?

15      A.   The Nevada State Board of Medical

16 Examiners.

17      Q.   And in what capacity do you work for the

18 Board of Medical Examiners?

19      A.   I'm the Deputy Chief of Investigations.

20      Q.   Do you have any other roles besides doing

21 investigations?

22      A.   Compliance officer.

23      Q.   And how long have you worked for the

24 Board?

25      A.   19 years.
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1      Q.   Okay.  We're here today for a hearing to

2 present evidence so that the Board can determine if

3 Dr. Schneier violated the Medical Practice Act.

4           Are you the investigator who is assigned

5 to this case with regards to Dr. Schneier?

6      A.   Yes.

7      Q.   As part of your investigation for the

8 case, were you required to obtain medical records?

9      A.   Yes.

10      Q.   And as part of the investigation in this

11 case, were you required to serve orders or requests

12 issued by the Investigative Committee to obtain

13 medical records?

14      A.   Yes.

15      Q.   Thank you.

16           I'm going to ask you a couple of questions

17 directed towards some of the exhibits.  Do you have

18 a binder in front of you?

19      A.   Yes, I do.

20      Q.   The IC's exhibits, go to Exhibit 5, it's

21 been marked.

22      A.   Okay.

23      Q.   Do you recognize these documents?

24      A.   Yes.

25      Q.   And looking at what's been marked as
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1 Bates-stamped page 64.

2      A.   Yes.

3      Q.   What is this document?

4      A.   This is my request for medical records to

5 the Clinical Neurology Specialists.

6      Q.   Turning to page 65, what is this document?

7      A.   This is the custodian of records that I

8 received from -- her name is, it looks like Gina

9 Martinez from the Clinical Neurology Specialists.

10      Q.   And then looking at the rest of the pages

11 in this exhibit, are you familiar with these

12 documents?

13      A.   Yes.  These were the records that were

14 provided to me.

15      Q.   Do you recall receiving these documents?

16      A.   Yes.

17      Q.   Do these documents appear to be true -- a

18 true and correct copy of Patient A's medical records

19 from Clinical Neurology Specialists?

20      A.   Yes.

21           MR. SHOGREN:  At this time, I'll ask for

22 admission -- or move to admit Exhibit 5 into the

23 record.

24           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Ms. Thomas?

25           MS. THOMAS:  I don't think that this
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1 states -- that this witness has laid the foundation

2 for how these records relate to whether Dr. Schneier

3 has committed malpractice, prepared incomplete

4 records, or did not meet his standard of care of the

5 patient.

6           And, secondarily, only because there are

7 other records in this binder that are accompanied by

8 custodian of records affidavit, I would want to be

9 sure that this witness is certain that the entirety

10 of the records from Dr. Germin are produced in

11 Exhibit 5.

12           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Ms. Thomas, let

13 me ask you this:  Have you seen these records

14 before?

15           MS. THOMAS:  The ones in Exhibit 5 or Dr.

16 Germin's record as a whole?

17           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  The ones in

18 Exhibit 5.

19           MS. THOMAS:  When the Board disclosed

20 them, I've seen them.

21           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  And is it

22 your position that this is not the entirety of these

23 records?

24           MS. THOMAS:  I don't know.

25           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.
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1 Whether they are or -- whether they are or are not

2 complete, they have been proposed, marked, and they

3 will be admitted for purposes of this hearing.

4                (IC's Exhibit 5 was admitted.)

5           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Go ahead,

6 Mr. Shogren.

7 BY MR. SHOGREN:

8      Q.   Ms. LaRue, the only other exhibit I'm

9 going to have you look at is Exhibit 8.

10      A.   Okay.

11      Q.   Are you familiar with this exhibit?

12      A.   Yes.

13      Q.   What does this exhibit appear to be?

14      A.   This is my request for records from the

15 Khavkin Clinic.  The whole of it is the custodian of

16 records, and then there's a few reports attached.

17      Q.   Just to be clear, what page is your letter

18 on?

19      A.   Page 93 is my request letter.

20      Q.   You mentioned a custodian of record, what

21 page is that on?

22      A.   Page 94.

23      Q.   And do you recall receiving these records

24 from the Khavkin Clinic?

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   Do these documents appear to be a true and

2 correct copy of Patient A's medical records from the

3 Khavkin Clinic?

4      A.   Yes, what's in here is from the Khavkin

5 Clinic.

6           MR. SHOGREN:  At this point, I move to

7 admit Exhibit 8 into the record.

8           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Ms. Thomas?

9           MS. THOMAS:  I have the same objection.

10 The witness did not answer that these were the

11 complete set of records, but that they were records

12 from the Khavkin Clinic.

13           Also, there has not been a foundation laid

14 for how subsequent care and information contained

15 with what is hearsay evidence would establish that

16 Dr. Schneier committed malpractice, prepared

17 incomplete records, or didn't meet the standard of

18 care, which are the issues we are here to discuss

19 today.

20           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  It appears that

21 Exhibit 8, which is what we're talking about, is

22 also respondent's Exhibit K, already been admitted.

23 I haven't gone through each and every case, there's

24 not that many of them, but it includes a lot of the

25 same material.
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1           They'll be admitted -- 8.

2                (IC's Exhibit 8 was admitted.)

3           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Mr. Shogren?

4           MR. SHOGREN:  I have no further questions.

5           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Cross?

6 CROSS-EXAMINATION

7 BY MS. THOMAS:

8      Q.   Yes, just a couple of questions, Ms.

9 LaRue.

10           As part of your investigation in this

11 case, did you only request records?

12      A.   No, I didn't only request records.

13      Q.   Okay.  What else did you do?

14      A.   I would have requested a response from Dr.

15 Schneier.

16      Q.   Anything else?

17      A.   No.

18      Q.   Did you select the Board's expert witness

19 in this case?

20      A.   No, I did not.

21      Q.   How did you identify what records to

22 obtain?

23      A.   Via the complaint that we receive.

24      Q.   And when -- who did you receive the

25 complaint from?
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1           MR. SHOGREN:  Objection.  I think that's

2 part of the confidential --

3           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Part of the

4 confidential?  Can you explain, please?

5           MR. SHOGREN:  That goes into the

6 investigative process, part of the investigated

7 file, and is confidential by law.

8           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  The name of the

9 person only; is that correct?

10           MR. SHOGREN:  Correct.

11           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  That was the

12 question.

13           I'll allow it as to the name of the

14 person, but beyond that, no.

15           MR. SHOGREN:  I'm sorry.  What do you say?

16           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  I said I will

17 allow the question as to the name of the person, but

18 that's about as far as we're going on that.

19           THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  I cannot provide

20 you the name of the complainant, that's protected by

21 the statute, 630.336, as part of the confidential

22 process of the investigation.  I can't provide

23 you -- I can't provide the name of the complainant

24 or how we received it.

25           We received the complaint and we
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1 investigated it.

2           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  With that

3 explanation for what -- the way the process

4 worked -- I didn't know whether it was an office

5 staff person, I didn't know whether that -- if

6 that's the case, objection sustained.

7           Move forward, please.

8           MS. THOMAS:  I would just like to respond

9 to that.  We do not believe that the name of the

10 complainant is confidential.  We believe that the

11 statute protects the investigation.

12           I'm not trying to get into what happened

13 once they received the complaint, but the complaint

14 is not part of the investigation.  It is from the

15 complaint that an investigation is opened, but it is

16 not yet in the investigative stage at the time the

17 complaint is received.

18           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Mr. Shogren, any

19 response to that?

20           MR. SHOGREN:  I disagree with that

21 assertion.  I think the statute is clear.  I think

22 there is case law that actually goes into,

23 specifically, the confidentiality of the

24 complainant.

25           But once again, it's a part of the
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1 investigative file, it's now being used today, it is

2 part of the hearing, it's confidential under NRS

3 630.336.

4           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.  This

5 is, for future reference, something that would have

6 been nice to have been in a hearing -- a pretrial

7 motion, frankly.  That having been said, I do not

8 want to tread on confidentiality.

9           Based upon what I have heard just now, the

10 objection is sustained as to the complainant.

11           Go forward.

12 BY MS. THOMAS:

13      Q.   So I need to ask some questions whether

14 there is a sustained objection on them or not.  I

15 need to make the record.

16           Was the complainant Patient A?

17           MR. SHOGREN:  Objection.  Confidential.

18           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  I believe that

19 that would be kind of a backdoor to the

20 confidentiality.

21           Objection is sustained.

22           MS. THOMAS:  And I'm just going to look up

23 the statute quickly.

24           For the record, NRS 630.336 does not

25 protect the identity of the complainant.  It
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1 protects disclosure of the complaint and the

2 associated investigation, but nowhere in the statute

3 does it say that the identity of the complainant is

4 protected.

5           And the statute -- legislative

6 interpretation dictates that any silence in the

7 statute is deemed intentional.

8           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Mr.  Shogren?

9           MR. SHOGREN:  I believe -- I'm looking, a

10 case, State of Nevada -- Sarfo v. State of Nevada

11 Board of Medical Examiners, for that issue about the

12 identity of the complainant.

13           I believe the court in that case -- I'm

14 just looking up, I don't feel like I have time to

15 full brief this issue, but I believe the court ruled

16 that complainant is confidential.

17           MS. THOMAS:  What is the cite for that

18 case?

19           MR. SHOGREN:  It is -- I'm sorry.  I'm

20 having trouble finding the case.

21           MS. THOMAS:  How do you spell it?

22           MR. SHOGREN:  How to spell --

23           MS. THOMAS:  The case name.

24           MR. SHOGREN:  Sarfo, S-A-R-F-O, 429 P.3d

25 650.
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1           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Ms. Thomas, I

2 have a question for you as we're doing some legal

3 research, I suppose.  Are you only interested in the

4 name, and then that was going to be it?

5           MS. THOMAS:  Yes.

6           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Going to be it;

7 correct?

8           MS. THOMAS:  Correct.

9           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  I don't want to

10 burn too much daylight here looking up cases.  As I

11 said, this would be an interesting legal issue,

12 perhaps.

13           Ms. LaRue, you're going to be around, I'm

14 assuming, today; correct?

15           THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Yeah, I'm in the

16 office until 4:00.

17           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  Here's my

18 idea to throw out as people are researching this

19 particular issue.  You've heard -- and I'll call it

20 a "preliminary sustaining of that objection as to

21 the identity," I would like to move ahead.

22           If that's the only question, Ms. Thomas,

23 that you had as to the identity and then you were

24 going to move on, we can reserve that issue as

25 necessary, because I don't know whether you would be
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1 using that later on in any of your direct or

2 cross-examination.

3           Would you anticipate using that name?

4           MS. THOMAS:  Well, it's important to --

5 it's potentially important to how this whole thing

6 shapes up.  I am nearly through the decision.  If it

7 is the position of the Nevada Supreme Court that the

8 identity of the individual is not subject to

9 disclosure, then I obviously accept -- accept that.

10           But the answer to that question could

11 dictate the approach taken in these proceedings.

12           I don't need to get into the investigative

13 file, but I think the identity of the person from

14 which this investigation stemmed is relevant and

15 it's not subject to protection.

16           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.

17 Well, I feel a little bit queasy about the --

18 violating confidentiality and violating the rules

19 regarding that, so the objection is sustained,

20 subject to further discussion later on.

21           I want to move forward.  Okay?

22           MS. THOMAS:  Okay.

23           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  So with that,

24 proceed.

25           MS. THOMAS:  Okay.
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1 BY MS. THOMAS:

2      Q.   How did you determine the dates of service

3 to request in making your records request?

4      A.   It was based on the information that I

5 received in the complaint.

6      Q.   Was it solely based on the information you

7 received in the complaint?

8      A.   Yes.  The original date of service that I

9 put would have been based on the complaint, the

10 information that I received.

11      Q.   Did you use the same dates of service in

12 every request that you made?

13      A.   I'd have to look.  If you give me a

14 minute, I can look at my request letter and

15 determine that.

16      Q.   Yes, please do.

17                (Witness reviewed documents.)

18           THE WITNESS:  Yes, same date of service.

19 BY MS. THOMAS:

20      Q.   And one last question, which I don't know

21 if it will catch an objection, but in order to

22 preserve the record, was the complainant a medical

23 provider?

24           MR. SHOGREN:  Objection.

25           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Sustained.
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1 BY MS. THOMAS:

2      Q.   Are there any records that you requested

3 that do not appear within the exhibits disclosed by

4 the Board and their prehearing statements?

5      A.   I -- well, honestly, I don't know if I can

6 answer that because I don't have my investigative

7 case file in front of me to determine if what I

8 requested is everything that's presented here.

9           Everything that's presented here as

10 exhibit are all things that I requested and got as

11 part of my investigation.

12      Q.   Do you request records that you do not

13 subsequently disclose as part of the evidence in a

14 formal hearing?

15      A.   As I'm not the attorney of the record, I

16 can't answer that question.  I can only tell you

17 what I gather and that's it.  I don't --

18      Q.   I'm sorry.  What did you say?

19      A.   I don't make the determination of what

20 exhibits are presented in a hearing, that's not part

21 of my position or my job.

22      Q.   Did you remove any records from the sets

23 that you received in this case that have been

24 disclosed?

25      A.   I did not remove any records, no.
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1      Q.   Did you interview any witnesses?

2      A.   Not directly, no.

3      Q.   What do you mean?

4      A.   No, I didn't do any interviews.  I did not

5 directly contact anyone.

6      Q.   Did you indirectly conduct interviews?

7      A.   Indirectly, yes.  When I sent Dr. Schneier

8 a letter and asking him to respond to the

9 allegations in the Complaint, that would be what I

10 would consider an indirect interview, me asking

11 questions and him giving me answers.

12      Q.   Do you have any medical training?

13      A.   No.

14      Q.   Were you responsible for providing the

15 records to Dr. Goz?

16      A.   Yes.

17      Q.   Did you provide him the entirety of the

18 records that are in the Board's prehearing

19 statement?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   Did you provide him anything else?

22      A.   No.

23      Q.   Did you provide him with a copy of Dr.

24 Schneier's prehearing statement and the culled

25 exhibits?
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1      A.   No.

2      Q.   Are you the only one that provides Dr. Goz

3 with records related to this investigation?

4      A.   Yes.

5      Q.   Do you direct Dr. Goz in his review of the

6 records in any way?

7      A.   No.

8      Q.   Have you used Dr. Goz in regard to other

9 cases before the Board?

10      A.   I can't answer that question.  I can only

11 answer that I used him directly for this case.

12      Q.   Can you not answer that question because

13 you don't know the answer?

14      A.   Well, I don't -- yes and no.  I don't know

15 what other cases he's used because I don't assign

16 him as a reviewer or an expert witness.

17           But also any other information would not

18 be relevant because they would not be related to

19 this specific investigation, so I don't have that

20 information.

21      Q.   How is the reviewer assigned to an

22 investigation?

23      A.   It would be based on the decision of the

24 committee that reviewed the case.

25      Q.   Who was the committee that reviewed this
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1 case?

2      A.   I don't know if I know what committee this

3 case went to.  I don't know that I can answer that

4 question.

5           Choices about being a reviewer is also

6 made on specialty and location.

7      Q.   How does the location influence whether a

8 reviewer is assigned to a case?

9      A.   The process of choosing a reviewer is

10 determined on the location of the physician at

11 question and the location of the reviewer.  Dr. Goz

12 was located in the north, so he doesn't have any

13 direct influence or direct contact with the

14 respondent.

15           We choose people who don't know each

16 other, who have no interaction with any of the

17 patients involved in any of our cases so that it is

18 a completely unbiased review.

19      Q.   So it's your understanding that

20 Dr. Schneier does not do business in Northern

21 Nevada?

22      A.   It's my understanding that Dr. Schneier

23 doesn't have any contact with Dr. Goz specifically.

24 I don't know if Dr. Schneier does business in

25 Northern Nevada or not.
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1      Q.   Was Dr. Goz provided with the complaint?

2      A.   I can't -- he would have been -- Dr. Goz

3 would have been provided with all of the information

4 that I received.

5      Q.   So the community complaint that -- from

6 which your investigation began was provided to Dr.

7 Goz?

8      A.   I --

9           MR. SHOGREN:  Objection.

10           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Hang on, hang

11 on, there's an objection.

12           Let's hear it.

13           MR. SHOGREN:  This goes too much into the

14 investigative file, which is confidential.  The

15 Board, through the IC, presented its exhibits, what

16 it intends to be using today.  I think anything else

17 is part of the investigative file and is

18 confidential.

19           MS. THOMAS:  My response to that is that,

20 one, Dr. Goz is not an employee of the Medical

21 Board, he is a private practitioner, by providing

22 him information that is alleged to be protected by

23 statute, that privilege or that confidentiality has

24 been waived.

25           And, secondarily, the disclosure of
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1 Dr. Goz in the Board's prehearing statement is not

2 limited to the exhibits or records disclosed

3 therein, but states that he has conducted a medical

4 review of this case and is expected to testify

5 regarding his medical review of this case and the

6 applicable standard of care.  If his review included

7 items such as the complaint, we are entitled to know

8 that.

9           I would also argue that that addresses an

10 earlier objection that was made that that

11 information is now no longer protected.

12           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Dr. Goz, it's my

13 understanding, is going to be testifying, and all of

14 these questions are going to be asked -- in other

15 words, what did you review?

16           I'm wondering whether this discussion that

17 we're having should be more directed towards that

18 type of testimony, as opposed to with this witness.

19           I just want to keep things moving along.

20 I don't want to fight about things or have a fight

21 about things.

22           At this time, it's -- if the witness, the

23 medical witness is going to be testifying, you can

24 ask him what he reviewed, then Mr. Shogren can

25 respond to that.  I just don't know whether it's --

Page 38

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200



CORRECTED COPY

1 this witness is the proper one to go through all of

2 that.

3           That's my comment, it's not really a

4 ruling or anything, but any comments to that?

5           MS. THOMAS:  I just think for the sake of

6 completing a record here in preserving all

7 objections and bases for those objections in the

8 event that judicial review is at some point

9 warranted or necessary is important.

10           I am happy to ask the same questions of

11 Dr. Goz, and I don't want to spend that much time

12 arguing either.  I -- I want to keep things flowing.

13           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.

14 Let's do this:  Why don't you direct those questions

15 to Dr. Goz, i.e., what he reviewed, what he was

16 provided, what he reviewed, and and any other

17 questions.  You're going to be able to have full

18 cross-examination rights on that.  Okay?

19           MS. THOMAS:  Okay.

20           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Let's move

21 forward with this witness.

22           MS. THOMAS:  Sure.  I'm just making a note

23 of your ruling so I don't run afoul of it.

24

25
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1 BY MS. THOMAS:

2      Q.   Are there any records you requested that

3 you did not receive?

4      A.   No.

5      Q.   Did you ask Dr. Goz to memorialize his

6 opinions in writing?

7      A.   Yes.

8      Q.   Did he?

9      A.   Yes.

10      Q.   Were his opinions memorialized in writing

11 on one occasion or revised?

12      A.   If I recall, I believe it was just one

13 occasion.

14      Q.   Was he provided all of the information

15 that you gave him in one transmission, or did you

16 provide the information over multiple transmissions?

17      A.   I believe it was one transmission, one

18 time he got all the information.

19      Q.   How did you provide that information,

20 electronically, hard copies in the mail, some other

21 mechanisms?

22      A.   An encrypted file transfer.

23      Q.   As you sit there today, are you able to

24 say whether he was provided more medical records

25 than the excerpt provided in the Board's prehearing
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1 statement?

2      A.   My answer to that is that I provided him

3 everything that I received.

4      Q.   Did you request anything other than

5 medical records in this case?

6      A.   No.  Only the statement from Dr. Schneier.

7           Would that include images and X-rays?

8      Q.   Yes.  That's a good question.

9           Did you -- are all of the images and

10 X-rays that you requested part of the Board's

11 Exhibit 4?

12      A.   Well, because the exhibits, says they're

13 on a USB, I couldn't tell you, but I did collect

14 images and X-rays.

15           Because I don't have USB in front of me, I

16 don't have that information.

17      Q.   So -- okay.

18           MS. THOMAS:  I have no further questions.

19 Thank you.

20           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Redirect?

21           MR. SHOGREN:  No further questions.

22           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.  Ms.

23 LaRue, as I indicated, you may be brought back, so

24 don't leave without letting us know.  Okay?

25           THE WITNESS:  Okay.  I'm here until 4:00.
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1 Mercedes can let me know if you guys need me again.

2           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  Thank

3 you.

4           THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

5           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Mr. Shogren,

6 next witness?

7           MR. SHOGREN:  The IC will next be calling

8 a Dr. Goz.

9           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Doctor, hi.  Can

10 you hear us?

11           THE WITNESS:  Hi there.

12           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Good.  Can you

13 hear us?

14           THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.

15           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.

16 Welcome.

17           What I'm going to have you do is to state

18 your name for the record, then the court reporter is

19 going to swear you in, and then you'll be asked some

20 questions.

21           For the lawyers, it's -- how long do you

22 guys want to go until we take a break?  I usually

23 like to go about an hour and a half on proceedings

24 and then take a break, which would be about another

25 half hour or so.  That sound okay?
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1           MS. THOMAS:  Sure.

2           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.

3           MR. SHOGREN:  That's fine.

4           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.  So

5 with that, Ms. Court Reporter, please, swear in the

6 witness.

7                (The oath was administered.)

8           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Mr. Shogren,

9 proceed.

10 DIRECT EXAMINATION

11 BY MR. SHOGREN:

12      Q.   Good morning, Dr. Goz.

13      A.   Good morning.

14      Q.   First of all, are you licensed as a

15 medical doctor in the State of Nevada?

16      A.   I am.

17      Q.   How long have you been licensed?

18      A.   I've been licensed to Nevada for about

19 five years.

20      Q.   Are you licensed anywhere else?

21      A.   California.

22      Q.   How long have you been licensed in

23 California?

24      A.   About the same.

25      Q.   And where did you go to medical school?
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1      A.   Mount Sinai medical school in New York

2 City.

3      Q.   And what was your residency in?

4      A.   Orthopedic surgery.

5      Q.   And where did you complete that?

6      A.   University of Utah.

7      Q.   Do you have any certifications?

8      A.   Can you be more specific?

9      Q.   Are you certified by the American Board of

10 Medical Specialties?

11      A.   Yes, the American Board of Orthopedic

12 Surgery, so I'm a board-certified orthopedic

13 surgeon.

14      Q.   What kind of medicine do you practice

15 right now?

16      A.   Spine surgery.

17      Q.   And where do you practice medicine?

18      A.   Reno, Nevada.

19      Q.   And do you practice in a facility or

20 office or hospital?

21      A.   I'm part of a private practice.

22      Q.   And how long you've been practicing as a

23 orthopedic spine surgeon?

24      A.   About five years.

25      Q.   And what role do you concurrently work?
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1      A.   I'm a spine surgeon.

2      Q.   Do you have any other positions?

3      A.   No.

4      Q.   Are you a member of any professional

5 societies?

6      A.   Member of the American Academy of

7 Orthopedic Surgery.

8      Q.   And how many spinal surgeries do you

9 performed yearly?

10      A.   Somewhere between 200 and 250 surgeries a

11 year.

12      Q.   And how many laminectomies have you

13 performed?

14      A.   I'm not sure.  Many.

15      Q.   Do you know how many spinal fusions you

16 have performed?

17      A.   Again, I'm not sure the number, but about

18 250 surgeries -- 200 to 250 surgeries a year for

19 five years, thoracic lumbar fusion is a common

20 procedure, so, I don't know, probably a few hundred.

21      Q.   I would like you turn briefly to the IC's

22 Exhibit 10.

23      A.   And where am I turning to?

24      Q.   There should be a binder in front of you,

25 labeled --
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1      A.   Is it this guy?

2      Q.   There should be another one.  I believe

3 that's respondent's exhibits.  It's a smaller

4 binder.

5      A.   Let me see if I can track it down.  I'm

6 not sure if I have a small binder in front of me.

7 One moment.

8           Yeah, I don't think I have the binder

9 you're referring to in front of me.

10      Q.   Dr. Goz, I believe we sent that to you

11 earlier.  You were provided a copy of it at least

12 few weeks ago.

13      A.   It may be at my office.  I'm not

14 completely sure.  I'm at my home office today.

15           MR. SHOGREN:  Mr. Burcham, do you mind if

16 we take a brief break?

17           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  No, not at all.

18 We can go off the record.  You can also, I think,

19 maybe do a screen share.  Mercedes might be able to

20 figure that out so you could show him.  It's a CV,

21 it looks like, it's what you're referring to; right?

22           MR. SHOGREN:  Correct.  But also Dr. Goz

23 needs the IC's exhibits in the binder, all of them,

24 I will be referring to those.

25           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Yeah, exactly.
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1 I figured you would be.  Let's -- yeah, let's go off

2 the record to sort this out.

3                (Recess from 10:10 A.M. to 10:18

4                A.M.)

5           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  We're back on

6 the record.  It's my understanding we're going to be

7 doing some screen sharing, and then maybe during a

8 break or lunch or whatever try to retrieve the

9 actual record, something along those lines.

10           MR. SHOGREN:  Yes.  If okay with everyone,

11 no one objects, we'll be just screen sharing the

12 IC's exhibits with Dr. Goz to reference.

13           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  As long as the

14 witness has access to the documents, to your

15 documents, that's great.  We want to be able to make

16 sure that he sees them, and that everybody that's

17 online here knows exactly what the witness is

18 looking at.

19           Mr. Shogren, continue, please.

20 BY MR. SHOGREN:

21      Q.   Dr. Goz, I want to refer you to Exhibit

22 10, premarked Exhibit 10.

23           MR. SHOGREN:  And for the record, this

24 exhibit has already been admitted and it's now being

25 screen shared.
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1 BY MR. SHOGREN:

2      Q.   Dr. Goz, have you seen this document

3 before?

4      A.   Yes.

5      Q.   Does this document accurately summarize

6 your experience and education?

7      A.   It does.

8      Q.   Did you prepare this document?

9      A.   Yes.

10      Q.   Is there anything you'd like to add?

11      A.   No.

12      Q.   Is this document complete?

13      A.   I believe so.

14      Q.   Okay.  And, Doctor, have you served as a

15 peer reviewer for the Board before?

16      A.   I served as a peer reviewer for the Board

17 for a few years, a number -- I don't remember my

18 exact starting.  It might be on the CV if you scroll

19 down.

20      Q.   And how many cases have you reviewed for

21 the Board?

22      A.   Maybe about five or six, if I had to

23 guess.

24      Q.   Are you familiar with the Board's case

25 number 24-40539-1 regarding Dr. Schneier?
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1      A.   Yes.

2      Q.   Based on your training and experience, do

3 you feel you're familiar with the standard of care

4 to which medical practitioners should be held

5 regarding the facts of this case?

6      A.   Yes.

7      Q.   Do you have experience in the subject

8 matter, after review, regarding the facts of the

9 case?

10      A.   I do.

11      Q.   Were you provided the material by the

12 Board in your review of this case?

13      A.   Yes.

14      Q.   Do you remember what was included in the

15 materials?

16      A.   Broadly speaking, hospital records as well

17 as billing records, and imaging records as well as

18 images themselves.

19      Q.   If could you turn to the IC's Exhibit 9.

20 Do you recognize this document?

21      A.   I do.

22      Q.   And what is this document?

23      A.   It is a published manuscript that was used

24 as a reference in my report.

25      Q.   Did you submit this article to the Board?
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1      A.   I did.

2      Q.   And is this a true and correct copy of the

3 article you submitted to the Board?

4      A.   Yes.

5           MR. SHOGREN:  At this point, the IC moves

6 to admit Exhibit 9 into evidence.

7           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Ms. Thomas?

8           MS. THOMAS:  The relevance of the document

9 has not yet been established.

10           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  So the objection

11 is as to relevance?

12           MS. THOMAS:  Yes.

13           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Counsel,

14 Mr. Shogren?

15 BY MR. SHOGREN:

16      Q.   Dr. Goz did you reference this article

17 when coming to your opinion on a case?

18      A.   I did.

19           MR. SHOGREN:  An offer that it is

20 relevant.

21           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  I looked at this

22 and I believe that -- let me ask the doctor a

23 question.

24           Do you believe that this is reliable

25 authority within the medical community?
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1           THE WITNESS:  Ask me that again?

2           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Do you believe

3 that this article, "Prevalence of Wrong Level

4 Surgery Among Spine Surgeon," is a reliable

5 authority in the spinal medical community, spinal

6 surgeons?

7           THE WITNESS:  A reliable what?

8           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Authority.

9           THE WITNESS:  Authority?

10           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  It's a reliable

11 authority?

12           And the reason I use that specific term is

13 that under learned treatise evidence under the

14 Nevada Revised Statute, it needs to be established

15 that this is a reliable authority.  And I just want

16 to make sure, you used it for your report, do you

17 believe that it's a reliable authority?

18           THE WITNESS:  I would say I'm not an

19 expert on what qualifies as a reliable authority.

20           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Did you --

21           THE WITNESS:  This is -- go ahead.

22           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Did you rely on

23 it to some extent?

24           THE WITNESS:  I used it as one of the data

25 points to generate my report.
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1           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.

2 It'll be admitted.  Thank you.

3                (IC's Exhibit 9 was admitted.)

4 BY MR. SHOGREN:

5      Q.   Dr. Goz, were you asked by the Board when

6 you're provided materials to make an objective

7 determination whether in your professional opinion

8 there was departure from the proper standards of

9 medical care by Dr. Schneier?

10      A.   Yes, I was.

11      Q.   What was your opinion?

12      A.   That there was a departure from the

13 standard of care.

14      Q.   And how did you come to this

15 determination?

16      A.   After my thorough review of the medical

17 records.

18      Q.   And can you briefly explain what the

19 departure was?

20      A.   In my opinion, the departure from the

21 standard of care was failure to recognize the

22 wrong-level surgery over a prolonged period of time,

23 and failure to address that complication.

24           And I want to be clear in my opinion, you

25 know, I think the report is very clear that
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1 wrong-level surgery is a well-documented

2 complication or potential risk of surgery,

3 especially at the thoracic spine, and while having

4 that complication in itself, in my opinion, is not

5 malpractice, it is the repeat failure to recognize

6 that complication and adjustment it in a timely

7 manner.

8           That constitutes departure from standard

9 of care, in my opinion.

10      Q.   Okay.  Thank you, Doctor.

11           I'm going to ask some more specific

12 questions with regards to the facts of this case by

13 going over some of the records that were admitted

14 previously.  If you could turn to the IC's

15 Exhibit 3.  First I would like to go to

16 Bates-stamped 54.

17           And also, Dr. Goz, I'd ask when we're

18 referring to the medical records that you not refer

19 to the patient's name on the record, that you

20 referred to the patient as "Patient A."

21      A.   Okay.

22      Q.   So for the record, this is Exhibit 3 which

23 was previously admitted as Patient A's medical

24 records from Sunrise Hospital.

25           On page 54, what does this document look
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1 like to you?

2      A.   It appears to be a history and physical

3 note from admission on 12/26/2019.

4      Q.   And where did the patient present?

5      A.   It appears Sunrise Hospital and Medical

6 Center.

7      Q.   If you can just read into the record from

8 this page, what is the reason for admission?

9      A.   "Left lower back pain."

10      Q.   If you can read into the record the next

11 section, History of Present Illness?

12      A.   "This is a pleasant, obese male who

13 presents to the E.R. complaining of worsening left

14 low back pain.  Per the patient, he has been having

15 issues with inability to walk for last two months,

16 and today the pain got worse to the point that he

17 called his orthopedic surgeon, who told him to go to

18 the E.R.  The patient also complained of mild

19 numbness and tingling in the legs."

20      Q.   Okay.  If we could turn to Bates-stamped

21 59.

22           Dr. Goz, what does this document look like

23 to you?

24      A.   That looks like an MRI report from an MRI

25 of the lumbar spine performed on 12/27/2019.
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1      Q.   And if we can turn to page 60.  Can you

2 read into the record the section called

3 "Impression," the first impression.

4      A.   "The canal narrow at T11-12 with likely

5 cord edema at this level.  Recommend

6 contrast-enhanced thoracic spine MRI."

7      Q.   Based on your experience, why would a

8 thoracic spine MRI be recommended here?

9      A.   A contrast-enhanced MRI provides some

10 additional detail in terms of whether there is any

11 inflammatory tissue present, it can be useful in the

12 setting of an infection or tumor.  It can also help

13 delineate a little bit more in terms of the nature

14 of the cord edema that is noted.

15      Q.   Okay.  Now if we can turn to page 61, the

16 next page.

17           What does this document like to you?

18      A.   MRI spine with and without contrast, this

19 is the thoracic spine performed on 12/30/2019.

20      Q.   Backing up here, please, what is the

21 thoracic spine?

22      A.   It's the mid portion of your back.

23      Q.   What does a MRI do in this circumstance?

24      A.   It's an imaging modality that's useful for

25 visualizing soft tissues.
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1           In this case, specifically neurologic

2 structures that we use to look for stenosis or

3 narrowing of the spinal canal, any sort of damage or

4 compression of neurologic structures.

5      Q.   If we could turn to the next page 62.  If

6 you could read into the record the Impression.

7      A.   "Mild T7-T8, mild T9-T10, mild T11-T12.

8 Severe T10-T11.  Central canal stenosis without

9 normal cord signal at T10-T11 and possibly T7-T8."

10           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Hey, Doctor,

11 this is the Hearing Officer, you need to, when

12 you're reading things, slow down.  I heard the court

13 reporter going really fast.

14           So when you're reading a document, you

15 need to read it with a slower cadence so that we

16 don't miss anything.  Okay?

17           THE WITNESS:  Sounds great.

18           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Thank you.

19           THE REPORTER:  Thank you, Hearing Officer.

20 BY MR. SHOGREN:

21      Q.   Okay.  I just wanted to break down this

22 impression a little bit.

23           So, first of all, what is the reference

24 to, like, a T10-T11, what are those numbers?

25      A.   They are the numbering of the thoracic
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1 spine vertebra, the bones of the thoracic spine.

2      Q.   So what number range is in the thoracic

3 spine?

4      A.   From 1 to 12.

5      Q.   And what is stenosis?

6      A.   A narrowing of the nerve tunnel.

7      Q.   And central canal stenosis, what is that

8 specifically?

9      A.   Narrowing of the central tunnel where the

10 spinal cord resides.

11      Q.   And what does the narrowing consist of?

12      A.   It can vary.  It can be a disc that's

13 bulging out, it can be thickening of the ligaments,

14 it can be bones spurs.

15           "Stenosis" is not a specific term to any

16 one particular pathology.

17      Q.   And in your experience, have you treated

18 patients with stenosis?

19      A.   I have.

20      Q.   How many patients would you say you

21 treated with this condition?

22      A.   Hundreds.

23      Q.   And then on this Impression, there's

24 reference to an abnormal core signal.  Could you

25 explain what that means?
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1      A.   That is evidence of bruising or damage of

2 the spinal cord, commonly referred to as

3 "myomalacia," basically evidence of damage to the

4 spinal cord.

5      Q.   And there's also reference here to "severe

6 T10-T11 central canal stenosis," what makes it

7 severe?

8      A.   The degree of narrowing.  Typically severe

9 stenosis deforms the spinal cord without any fluid

10 remaining around it.

11      Q.   And how is central canal stenosis usually

12 treated?

13      A.   It depends on the patient's symptoms.

14      Q.   And what are some typical symptoms of

15 stenosis?

16      A.   It can range from completely asymptomatic

17 to severe neurologic deficits with weakness,

18 decreased sensation, balance issues.  And in most of

19 the cases, bowel and bladder control issues.

20      Q.   Are there any symptoms specific to, like,

21 a thoracic stenosis?

22      A.   Generally, more diffused lower extremity

23 weakness can be accompanied by numbness, can be

24 accompanied by growing numbness, can be accompanied

25 by bowel and bladder control issues.

Page 58

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200



CORRECTED COPY

1           The severity is different from case by

2 case.

3      Q.   In your experience, generally what happens

4 if thoracic spine stenosis is not treated?

5      A.   If severe, symptomatic thoracic central

6 stenosis is not treated, that can lead to permanent

7 neurologic deficits.

8      Q.   Can you expound on what that means, the

9 deficits?

10      A.   Meaning that -- let's say someone has

11 severe stenosis but they don't have cord signal

12 change -- which I think is here -- and they don't

13 have any symptoms, in that case, it may be

14 appropriate to not treat the stenosis if there's no

15 symptoms associated with it.

16           However, in the case where there is severe

17 central stenosis and cord signal change indicating

18 some degree of damage to the spinal cord and

19 symptoms, which may include things like decreased

20 sensation, motor deficits, bowel and bladder control

21 issues, all the things that are previously named,

22 those may become permanent or some subsection of

23 that may become permanent if left untreated.

24      Q.   In your opinion, how soon does stenosis in

25 this circumstances need to be treated after
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1 recovery?

2      A.   I think there's a bit of leeway in the

3 sense that there's not a clear answer to that in

4 terms of standard of care.  In general, it should be

5 treated in a timely fashion.

6           And from literature on spinal cord injury,

7 or often traumatic spinal cord injury is associated

8 with some degree of pressure on the spinal cord, we

9 aim for within 48 hours.  We know that people within

10 48 hours of a decompression do better than folks

11 that have a decompression more than 48 hours after

12 spinal cord injury.

13           That being said, you know, those things

14 are being applied to these settings and we don't

15 have a clear answer for timing, we just know that

16 probably sooner is better than later.  The specific

17 timing of each case is up to the discretion of the

18 treating surgeon.

19      Q.   Okay.  I'm going to now turn to page 56 of

20 Exhibit 3.

21           Doctor, what does this document looks like

22 to you?

23      A.   That looks like an operative report by

24 Dr. Schneier.  Date of procedure is 12/31/2019.

25      Q.   And what is the -- if you can read into
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1 the record the Preoperative Diagnosis?

2      A.   "Thoracic myelomalacia myelopathy with

3 spinal stenosis, T10-T11."

4      Q.   If you can explain -- I don't think you

5 have before -- myelomalacia myelopathy, what that

6 is?

7      A.   Myelomalacia is referring to increased

8 inflammation and edema or sort of increased fluid in

9 the spinal cord or increased inflammation, more

10 accurately, that correlates with the finding of the

11 increased signal noted on the MRI, or they may have

12 referred to it as "edema."

13           Myelopathy is a clinical condition that

14 basically describes spinal cord dysfunction.

15      Q.   According to preoperative diagnosis, what

16 part of the body is this occurring?

17      A.   T10-T11.

18      Q.   If you look at the Procedure section,

19 could you read that into the record?

20      A.   "Thoracic laminectomy T10-T11 for cord

21 decompression and use of intraoperative neuro

22 monitoring, use of intraoperative fluoroscopy with

23 pedicle screw fixation, T10-T11, with onlay lateral

24 transfer of fusion with allograft autographed bone

25 fusion."
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1      Q.   If you can break that down a little bit.

2 What is a thoracic laminectomy?

3      A.   That is referring to removing the lamina,

4 which is a bony proportion of the spinal canal, to

5 take the pressure off the spinal cord.

6      Q.   Is this a common procedure in your

7 experience?

8      A.   Yes.

9      Q.   Is this a common procedure to treat the

10 preoperative diagnosis as described here?

11      A.   It is.

12      Q.   And moving on here, there's mention of a

13 "pedicle screw fixation," could you explain what

14 that is?

15      A.   Use of screws and rods to perform a

16 fusion.

17      Q.   Is it common for this to accompany the

18 laminectomy?

19      A.   Yes.

20      Q.   And what is the purpose of the fusion?

21      A.   If a surgeon believes that the required

22 decompression, or laminectomy, would be so wide that

23 it may destabilize the spine, then that surgeon,

24 commonly, will perform a fusion at the same time as

25 the laminectomy.
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1           It allows the surgeon to perform a wider

2 decompression of the spinal canal.

3      Q.   And to be clear, can you explain what

4 decompression means?

5      A.   Removing bones, ligaments that are leading

6 to the stenosis and thereby widening the nerve

7 tunnel.

8      Q.   Okay.  And in this report there's

9 mentioned of the T10-T11, we've established that is

10 the area of the spine; is that correct?

11      A.   That's correct.

12      Q.   So as part of the preoperative diagnosis,

13 how is the area determined?

14      A.   Tell me more about what you're asking.

15      Q.   How does a spinal surgeon determine what

16 area needs to be worked on?

17      A.   Based on a combination of the patient's

18 clinical symptoms and the MRI or advanced imaging

19 findings.

20      Q.   In your opinion, is the operative report

21 in agreement with the MRI previously reviewed from

22 12/30 --

23      A.   Yes.

24      Q.   -- on December 30th?

25      A.   Yes.
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1           MS. THOMAS:  Objection to form -- I'm

2 sorry.  What date did you say?

3           MR. SHOGREN:  December 30th, 2019.

4           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Counsel, why

5 don't you try that -- start over again.  There was

6 an objection and then there was a lot of silence.

7           Can you ask the question or have the court

8 reporter read it back?

9           MR. SHOGREN:  I'm sorry you're cutting

10 out.  I apologize.  It's probably on my end.  We're

11 you asking me to restate the question?

12           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Yes.  Or have

13 the court reporter read it back.

14           MR. SHOGREN:  I was asking:  The

15 preoperative diagnosis from Dr. Schneier's operative

16 report, is that an agreement with the MRI impression

17 from December 30, 2019?

18           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Go ahead,

19 Doctor.

20           THE WITNESS:  Yes, it is.

21 BY MR. SHOGREN:

22      Q.   Okay.  Now if we can turn to Exhibit 3,

23 Bates-stamped 24.

24           Dr. Goz, what does this document look like

25 to you?
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1      A.   It looks like a note from the emergency

2 department, and the note is dated 1/22/2020.

3      Q.   And how many pages does this document

4 appear to consist of?

5      A.   It says "page 1 of 13" at the bottom

6 there, so I'm assuming 13.

7      Q.   To be clear, who are these records for?

8      A.   Can you clarify that question for me?

9      Q.   Are these records for Patient A?

10      A.   Yes.

11      Q.   If you can read into the record the

12 section titled "HPI Note"?

13      A.   "A 49-year-old male presented to the E.D.

14 complaining of left hip pain for nine days.  Patient

15 recently had back surgery on 12/31/2019, and left

16 hip surgery on 1/9/2020.  Reports back pain and

17 diaphoresis.  Patient has had difficulty walking.

18 Patient is unable to straighten his left leg due to

19 spasms.  Patient denies other symptoms at this

20 time."

21      Q.   If you could turn to page 31.  If you

22 could read into record under the section Hospital

23 Reports, the third paragraph, starting with "Patient

24 underwent"?

25      A.   "Patient underwent T10-T11 laminectomy
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1 cord decompression, pedicle screws fixation on light

2 fusion on 12/31/2019.  Patient complained of left

3 lower extremity pain.  Neurosurgery evaluated the

4 patient on 1/2/2020.  Recommended baclofen for

5 muscle spasm and Decadron on tapering doses.

6 Neurosurgery cleared the patient for skilled nursing

7 facility.  Okay to shower and get incision wet, pat

8 dry.  Patient continued to complain of left hip

9 pain.  X-ray done, and it showed posterior superior

10 dislocation of the femoral ahead.  Patient has had

11 left hip total arthroplasty done under

12 Dr. Silverberg on 6/28/2018."

13      Q.   Dr. Goz, thank you.  That's all to read

14 into record there.  Thank you.

15           Now if we can turn to page 35.  Could you

16 just briefly read what the Clinical Impression on

17 the top of this page?

18      A.   "Primary impression, back pain.  Secondary

19 impression, focal neurologic deficit, post-op pain,

20 seroma."

21      Q.   Can you explain what "seroma" means?

22      A.   A collection of postoperative -- typically

23 postoperative fluid.

24      Q.   Now can you turn to page 52 of Exhibit 3.

25 Dr. Goz, what does this document appear to be?
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1      A.   This appears to be a report of the CT

2 thoracic spine without contrast, dated 1/22/2020.

3      Q.   And it's a CT for Patient A?

4      A.   Correct.

5      Q.   What is the difference between, like, a CT

6 thoracic spine and the MRI thoracic spine?

7      A.   From a clinical standpoint, a CT is better

8 at showing bony structures, whereas an MRI is better

9 at showing soft tissues such as nerves.

10      Q.   Okay.  If you can read into the record

11 from this page, the History section.

12      A.   "History:  Bilateral lower extremity

13 spasticity, increased back pain after surgery,

14 recent spinal surgery at 12/31/2019, tenderness to

15 palpitation at approximately T6-T7."

16      Q.   And if could you read into the record the

17 Comparison section.

18      A.   "Comparison:  MRI of the thoracic spine

19 dated 12/30/2019, intraoperative fluoroscopic spot

20 images of the lower thoracic spine dated

21 12/31/2019."

22      Q.   If you can read into the record at the

23 bottom, the Impression section?

24      A.   "Interval laminectomy at T9 and T10 with a

25 unilateral left-sided pedicle screw and rod
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1 construct, the left T9 screw reaches the medial."

2      Q.   If you can continue on the bottom of the

3 page and continue reading?

4      A.   "Medial cortex of the left T9 pedicle,

5 approximately 50 percent of the width of the screw

6 projects into the lateral aspect of the central

7 canal at T9.  Partially visualized, small

8 simple-appearing postoperative fluid collection

9 favor a small seroma."

10      Q.   So going back to page 52, can you explain

11 what "interval laminectomy" means?

12      A.   That relative to the comparison study, a

13 laminectomy or decompression was performed.

14      Q.   According to this impression, where were

15 the laminectomies performed?

16      A.   T9-T10.

17      Q.   In this record, is there any mention of

18 the a laminectomy being performed at the T10-T11?

19      A.   There is not.

20      Q.   In your opinion, does this CT report

21 differ from Dr. Schneier's postoperative analysis

22 from December 31, 2019?

23      A.   It does.

24      Q.   In your opinion, how does it differ?

25      A.   Dr. Schneier's operative report indicated
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1 a T10-T11 laminectomy, whereas this report indicates

2 the laminectomy was performed at T9-T10.

3      Q.   And, generally, how does -- a professional

4 that interprets the CT, how do they determine where

5 the laminectomy is?

6      A.   It's fairly evident on the CT as an area

7 of bone that has been removed.

8      Q.   In your opinion, it's fairly easy to

9 determined based off of a CT or MRI where the

10 laminectomy was done?

11      A.   Yes.

12      Q.   Dr. Goz, if can you turn to Exhibit 2.

13           Dr. Goz, are you familiar with this

14 document?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   Were you provided this document in your

17 review of the standards?

18      A.   I was.

19      Q.   And what does this document appear to be?

20      A.   It appears to be Dr. Schneier's response

21 to the Board.

22      Q.   If you can turn to page 20.

23           If you can read into the record this

24 section -- although there's mention of the patient's

25 name, if you can just replace the patient's name
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1 with "Patient A," and read that into the record?

2      A.   "I, Michael Schneier, M.D., have reviewed

3 the response to the allegations made against me, to

4 confirm that the response is a true and accurate

5 representation of the care provided to Patient A,

6 and adopt the responses as though fully set forth by

7 my own hand."

8      Q.   Now if we can go back to page 13 of

9 Exhibit 2.

10           If you can just read into the record

11 starting with the third paragraph, but there is also

12 mention of the patient's name, please replace with

13 "Patient A" whenever he is referred to.

14      A.   "Patient A returned to the hospital on

15 January 22, 2020.  An E.D. physician, Norland

16 Maltez, describes bilateral lower extremity

17 spasticity, left greater than the right, with normal

18 muscle strength and sensation.  He noted that it is

19 possible pedicle screw breach and that Dr. Schneier

20 was contacted.  Dr. Schneier prepared his

21 consultation report on the morning of January 23,

22 2020.

23           "In that report, he noted that Patient A

24 was status post-thoracic laminectomy and pedicle

25 screw replacement, T9-T10, with laminectomy
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1 extending into the T10-T11 disc space.

2           "The patient now complained of left lower

3 extremity pain with a restriction in the extension.

4 The patient has no sensory deficits, no motor

5 deficits, and normal bowel and bladder control.

6           "Dr. Schneier noted that he reviewed the

7 CT scan, found no CSF extravasation, and the thecal

8 sac was not impinged.  He planned to take Patient A

9 to surgery, remove the screws, and get a further MRI

10 without the" --

11      Q.   Thank you, Doctor.  That's all for that

12 section.

13           Now if you can turn back to the Exhibit 3,

14 page 49.  What does this document look like to you?

15      A.   This is an operative report of procedure

16 performed on -- let's see.  Actually, the date of

17 the procedure is missing.  The surgeon is Dr.

18 Schneier.

19      Q.   If we can to to page 51 in this exhibit.

20           What does this document appear to be?

21      A.   This appears to be brief operative note,

22 from an operative report dated 1/23/2020.

23      Q.   And what is the surgery date and time

24 listed as?

25      A.   1/23/2020, 12:15.
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1      Q.   If you can turn back to page 49 and read

2 into the record what the preoperative diagnosis is?

3      A.   "Question of T9 medial pedicle screw or

4 medial breach of the T9 pedicle with the pedicle

5 screw."

6      Q.   And what is the procedure listed as?

7      A.   Removal of T9-T10 pedicle screw, screw

8 lock implant.

9      Q.   And if you explain what the "T9-T10

10 pedicle screw" means?

11      A.   The screws that were previously implanted,

12 as well as the rods, were taken out.

13      Q.   Is it a common procedure in your

14 experience?

15      A.   It is.

16      Q.   If you can read into the record the

17 Finding section.

18      A.   "Medial wall pedicle intact with ball-tip

19 palpation T9, T10.  No CSF leak noted with

20 valsalva."

21      Q.   Can explain what the procedure was on this

22 page?

23      A.   So Dr. Schneier removed the previously

24 placed pedicle screws.  He felt the tract of the

25 pedicle screws -- meaning the hole that they were
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1 placed in -- and in the findings, he notes that the

2 medial wall -- meaning the wall of the -- it's the

3 bony structure that's right next to the spinal cord

4 is basically the barrier between the bony pedicle,

5 which is where the screw should be placed, and the

6 canal, which we do not want to place the screw into

7 because at risks spinal cord injury -- he notes that

8 it was intact when he felt it with a ball-tip probe,

9 implying that the screw was not too medial, as the

10 CT scan implied.

11      Q.   At this point on January 23, 2020, did Dr.

12 Schneier, in your opinion, depart from the standard

13 of care in regard to Patient A?

14      A.   Yes, I believe so.

15      Q.   Can you explain why?

16      A.   At this point, the patient seems to be not

17 doing well, continues to have symptoms of

18 myelopathy, spinal cord dysfunction.  One of those

19 symptoms, as I mentioned previous, is sort of issues

20 with lower extremities that can be motor deficits,

21 such as weakness, can be spasticity or increased

22 muscle tone.

23           And this was worked up with a CAT scan,

24 and that CAT scan indicated that there may be a

25 wrong-level surgery that was performed.  And,
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1 ostensibly, if the decompression was performed at

2 the wrong level, the appropriate intervention would

3 be to extend that laminectomy or to do a

4 decompression at the correct level where the area of

5 the stenosis is.

6           But instead of doing that, a removal of

7 hardware was performed.

8      Q.   Can you explain what "extending the

9 laminectomy" means?

10      A.   Meaning, if the stenosis or the

11 significant compression of the spinal cord is at

12 what we're calling the T10-T11 level and the

13 decompression is performed T9-T10, the appropriate

14 solution would be to extend the decompression

15 inferiorly, taking the rest of the T10 lamina and

16 the superior aspect of the T11 lamina in order to

17 address the area of stenosis.

18      Q.   At this point I want to go back to

19 Exhibit 2, and just for the record, Dr. Goz, what

20 does this exhibit consist of?

21      A.   This is a letter to Ms. LaRue.

22      Q.   If could you read the second paragraph --

23 the first sentence of the second paragraph on

24 page 14?  Sorry.  "On February 4."

25      A.   "On February 4, 2020, an MRI interpreted
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1 by Dr. Julian Hardman describe postoperative changes

2 from laminectomy at T9 and T10 with the removal of

3 hardware, and severe stenosis" -- excuse me --

4 "severe canal stenosis at T10-T11, secondary to disc

5 protrusion and scar tissue from laminectomy at T10.

6 It must be noted that" --

7      Q.   Thank you, Doctor, just the first --

8      A.   Sorry.

9      Q.   Continue to read the next paragraph, third

10 paragraph of the page.

11      A.   The one starting with "Dr. Schneier's"?

12      Q.   Yes.

13      A.   "Dr. Schneier's progress note on

14 February 4, 2020, records that the patient was being

15 evaluated for inpatient rehabilitation, but had to

16 be able to perform three hours per day to meet

17 criteria.

18           "He noted that a thoracic MRI done that

19 day did not show signal edema, like the initial

20 12/31 MRI did.  There was no evidence of

21 post-laminectomy spondylolisthesis or a CSF leak.

22 There was five out of five strength in all major

23 muscle groups at the lower extremities, but Patient

24 A continued to hold his left leg flex at the knee

25 and claimed he was unable to perform knee
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1 extension."

2      Q.   Can you read into the record the next

3 paragraph?

4      A.   "A discharge summary was prepared on

5 February 10, 2020 by Doctor Saleem Assad, who noted

6 that Patient A continued to report back spasms and

7 remained weak.  He was awaiting placement at a

8 skilled nursing facility which occurred on

9 February 16, 2020."

10      Q.   In your opinion, based off of

11 Dr. Schneier's representations to the Board, as of

12 February 4, 2022, did Dr. Schneier depart from the

13 standard of care regarding Patient A?

14      A.   I believe he did.

15      Q.   Can you explain why?

16      A.   At this point, there are multiple imaging

17 studies that indicate a wrong-level surgery was

18 performed and there's continued severe canal

19 stenosis that appears to be symptomatic, and Dr.

20 Schneier did not address the continued stenosis.

21      Q.   Okay.  If we can now turn to IC's Exhibit

22 5, page 66.

23           Dr. Goz, what does this exhibit appear to

24 be?

25      A.   This appears to be part of a note for a

Page 76

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200



CORRECTED COPY

1 neurological consultation.

2      Q.   Is there a date on this record?

3      A.   April 30, 2020.

4      Q.   Could you read the first Impression on

5 page 66?

6      A.   "Weakness in the lower extremities

7 associated with tightness and spasm in the distal

8 legs and feet in a patient diagnosed with thoracic

9 myelomalacia, status post T10-T11 laminectomy,

10 December 2019, with a revision in January of 2020 at

11 Sunrise Hospital by Dr. Schneier.  Limited

12 database."

13      Q.   Okay.  If you can read into the record the

14 Impression on page 66?

15      A.   "Repeat MRI of the thoracic spine with and

16 without contrast after thoracic surgery and a

17 revision states, per verbatim, 'Persistent cord

18 compression to an AP diameter of 5 millimeters at

19 T10-T11, persistent abnormal T2 hyperintensity in

20 the cord.  Decompression is similar in severity to

21 the prior MRI on February 4, 2020.  Ventral CSF is

22 effaced by fluid, probable postoperative blood

23 product.  Dorsal CSF appears effaced by enhancing

24 granulation tissue.'  The patient denies loss of

25 bladder control or saddle anesthesia."
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1      Q.   Okay.  And if we can turn to page 74, of

2 Exhibit 5.

3           Dr. Goz, what is this document appear to

4 be?

5      A.   This appears to be an MRI report from an

6 MRI of the thoracic spine dated 5/13/2020.

7      Q.   What is the Impression listed on this

8 document?

9      A.   "Severe spondylotic degenerative changes

10 with severe central spinal stenosis at T10-T11, and

11 moderate central stenosis at T9-T10.  AP diameter at

12 the T10-T11 level is 6 millimeters."

13      Q.   Can you explain the severe -- and how do

14 you pronounce that?

15      A.   Spondylotic degenerative changes.

16      Q.   What does that mean?

17      A.   Severe -- degenerative changes are wear

18 and tear or arthritis-related changes.

19      Q.   Now, lastly, Dr. Goz, if you could turn to

20 Exhibit 8, page 95?

21           MS. THOMAS:  I'm sorry.  What was that?

22           MR. SHOGREN:  Bates-stamped page 95 of

23 Exhibit 8, previously admitted.

24 BY MR. SHOGREN:

25      Q.   And, Dr. Goz, on this page, 95, what does
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1 this document look like to you?

2      A.   This appears to be an operative report by

3 Dr. Khavkin dated June 6, 2020.

4      Q.   And what is the date of surgery listed?

5      A.   June 5, 2020.

6      Q.   What is the preoperative diagnosis?

7      A.   Spinal cord compression, thoracic

8 stenosis.

9      Q.   And if you could just read into the record

10 the first three sentences of the Indication section?

11      A.   "Patient is a 49-year-old gentleman who

12 presents with progressively worsening weakness and

13 inability to walk.  The patient is thought to have a

14 severe spinal cord compression at the T10-T11 level.

15 The patient was told previously that this level was

16 addressed by another surgeon at his previous

17 surgery, but, unfortunately, the surgery that he had

18 was performed at the level above, and they were --

19 blank -- the patient's pathology, which resulted in

20 significant and worsening of his condition."

21      Q.   Okay.  If you could turn to page 97.

22           What does this document appear to be?

23      A.   This is a note from Dr. Khavkin, and the

24 note is dated -- I want to say this -- this is dated

25 8/26/2020.
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1      Q.   What does the History of Presenting

2 Illness state?

3      A.   "Patient presents for a follow-up.  He

4 reports significant improvement of his symptoms, and

5 he says that his leg strength has gotten

6 significantly better.  He is now able to stand on

7 its own, which he was not able to do prior to the

8 surgery."

9      Q.   And what does the next sentence state?

10      A.   "And his main complaint is the spasms in

11 the lower extremities."

12      Q.   Okay.  And so, Dr. Goz, after reviewing

13 records here on this case, would you opine that Dr.

14 Schneier committed malpractice?

15      A.   I would.

16           MS. THOMAS:  Objection.  Calls for a legal

17 conclusion.

18           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Overruled.

19 BY MR. SHOGREN:

20      Q.   Can you explain why you believe this?

21      A.   It is the delay in both identifying the

22 complication of the surgery and the delay in

23 appropriately addressing that complication that I

24 believe fell below the standard of care.

25           I want to be clear that I don't think that
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1 a single episode of wrong-level surgery, if

2 identified in a timely fashion and addressed,

3 constitutes malpractice.  But failing to identify

4 the wrong level of surgery that was performed and

5 the continued severe stenosis at T10-T11, which then

6 led to a delay in the appropriate decompression is

7 what, in my opinion, falls below the standard of

8 care.

9      Q.   And in your opinion, when should Dr.

10 Schneier have identified this?

11      A.   It's hard for me to give you an exact --

12 an exact time frame, but I think with this clinical

13 picture, ideally, it would have been identified, at

14 the very least, when that postoperative CT scan

15 identified a likely wrong-level surgery.

16      Q.   And what CT scan are you referring to?

17      A.   That was the CT scan that was performed --

18 it was probably on January 22, 2020, it was that

19 readmission after the initial surgery.

20      Q.   In your opinion, after the January 22 --

21 sorry -- January 23rd surgery, were there any other

22 times Dr. Schneier should have addressed the

23 patient's stenosis?

24      A.   I believe there were at least two other

25 MRIs that were performed that identified continued
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1 severe stenosis at the T10-T11 level, and those were

2 opportunities to then address the continued

3 stenosis.

4      Q.   And in your opinion, were Dr. Schneier's

5 records -- were they complete?

6      A.   Yes, I think the records are appropriate.

7           MR. SHOGREN:  I have no further questions.

8           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Cross-exam?

9           MS. THOMAS:  We're about an hour past the

10 point that we wanted to take a break.  Can we do a

11 ten-minute break?

12           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Yeah, we can.  I

13 kind of assumed that the break we took to, you know,

14 figure out the technical stuff, that's why I didn't

15 stop, but absolutely.

16           Let's take -- what do you want to take,

17 Ms. Thomas, five minutes, ten minutes?

18           MS. THOMAS:  Sure.  Why don't we split it

19 and go seven.

20           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Great.  11:32

21 and 30 seconds.  All right.  Off the record.

22                (Recess 11:25 A.M. to 11:33 A.M.)

23           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  We're back on

24 the record, and let's head off, Ms. Thomas, with

25 cross-exam.
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1 CROSS-EXAMINATION

2 BY MS. THOMAS:

3      Q.   Dr. Goz, were you present earlier when we

4 were asking questions of Ms. LaRue?

5      A.   No.

6      Q.   Okay.  She indicated that she provided you

7 the records that you reviewed in this case.  Is that

8 true?

9      A.   Yes.

10      Q.   Okay.  Will you please list for me

11 everything you received?

12      A.   All right.  Allegation; response, which I

13 believe the response is Dr. Schneier's response to

14 the allegation; Apex Medical Center records; API

15 Physical Therapy records; Clinical Neurology and

16 Associates records; Desert Radiologist records; Dr.

17 Khavkin's records; Harmon Hospital records; Horizon

18 Health and Rehab Center records; Machuca Family at

19 Jones records; Nevada Pain Center records; Silver

20 State Orthopedics records; Spring Valley records;

21 UMC records; Sunrise Hospital records; Morrison

22 Hospital records; and I believe -- give me one

23 second, yep, and and a number of imaging studies.

24           Do you want me list the imaging studies?

25 There's a lot of them.
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1      Q.   Sure.

2      A.   CT thoracic spine, 6/6/2020; X-ray chest,

3 6/5/2020; ultrasound guided intraoperative,

4 6/5/2020; X-ray spine, one view, 6/5/2020; MRI

5 thoracic spine, 6/4/2020; IR vertebroplasty,

6 6/4/2020; X-ray, chest, 6/4/2020; MRI at lumbar

7 spine, 6/1/2020; X-ray, chest, 1/17/2019; MRI,

8 lumbar spine, 1/16/2019; ultrasound, lower extremity

9 venous duplex bilateral, 1/15/2019; X-ray, pelvis,

10 one or two views, 1/15/2019; CT, spine lumbar,

11 1/15/2019; CT, abdomen, 5/13/2019; X-ray, hip,

12 3/11/2020; X-ray, left hip, 3/11/2020; abdomen, AP

13 only, 3/11/2020; X-ray, thoracic, 3/11/2020; X-ray,

14 lumbar, 3/11/2020; MRI, thoracic spine, 2/15/2020;

15 MRI, thoracic spine, 2/4/2020; MRI, joint left

16 without contrast, 1/29/2020; left knee X-ray,

17 1/25/2020.  Thoracic spine X-rays, 1/23/2020; X-ray,

18 left hip, 1/23/2020; X-ray, left hip, 1/22/2020; CT,

19 Thoracic spine, 1/22/2020; AP, chest, 1/22/2020; AP

20 1/10/2020; CT, pelvis, 1/8/2020; X-ray, left hip,

21 1/7/2020; X-ray, left hip, 1/5/2020; abdomen, AP

22 only, 1/4/2020; X-ray, left hip, 1/3/2020; AP,

23 portable, 1/3/2020; MRI, lumbar spine, 12/31/2019;

24 MRI, thoracic spine, 12/30/2019; MRI, lumbar spine,

25 12/27/2019; X-ray, hip, 12/26/2019; lumbar spine
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1 X-ray, 10/8/2019; X-ray, hip -- same one, apologize

2 -- left foot X-ray 6/5/2019; LS AP, 2/27/2019; and

3 X-ray, hip -- no, sorry -- X-ray, chest, 10/23/2019;

4 X-ray, right knee, 10/21/2019, X-ray, left knee,

5 10/21/2019; and X-ray, bilateral hip 10/21/2019.

6      Q.   Was the only person that provided you

7 records or documents in this case Ms. LaRue?

8      A.   I can't say for certain.

9      Q.   And why is that?

10      A.   Because I don't recall.

11      Q.   So did you receive records on the more

12 than one occasion?

13      A.   I'm not sure.  Because this review was a

14 little while ago, I don't remember the exact

15 mechanics of who gave me the records.

16           I know that Ms. LaRue was a person that

17 gave me records.  I don't recall whether there were

18 other folks that also provided records to me.  I

19 can't give you those details, to the best of my

20 recollection.

21      Q.   Did all records and documents you received

22 come from somebody at the Medical Board?

23      A.   Yes.

24      Q.   Ms. LaRue testified that she provided you

25 with the community complaint that initiated the
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1 investigation in this action.  You didn't list that

2 as one of the documents.

3           MR. SHOGREN:  Objection.  Misstating -- I

4 don't believe Ms. LaRue testified to that.

5           MS. THOMAS:  She absolutely did, and the

6 hearing officer told me to canvass this issue with

7 the witness instead of continuing to pursue it with

8 Ms. LaRue.

9           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  You mentioned

10 "community" --

11           MR. SHOGREN:  I --

12           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Hang on.

13           You mentioned "community complaint," I

14 think was the phrase that you used, which I don't

15 recall that phrase being used in any previous

16 testimony or even questions.

17           MS. THOMAS:  When I say "community

18 complaint" -- I do not know the identification of

19 the complainant, whether it is a patient or a

20 provider -- I mean that it came from the community,

21 that it was not generated by the Board.  It's a term

22 of art, formal complaint that initiated these formal

23 proceedings.

24           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  And your

25 specific question is what?
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1           MS. THOMAS:  That she testified to

2 providing this document to Dr. Goz as part of the

3 records that he received for his review, and I

4 wanted to know why he didn't mention that when I

5 asked him to identify everything he had been

6 provided for his review.

7           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  So that's a --

8 you ask -- the specific question is:  Why he did not

9 mention in his list of materials provided from the

10 Board that document or documents?

11           MS. THOMAS:  Correct.

12           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Mr. Shogren, on

13 that specific question, without getting into the

14 details of anything, do you have an objection to

15 that question?

16           MR. SHOGREN:  I don't believe that Ms.

17 LaRue testified that she provided a complaint.

18           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  I'm going

19 to allow, to the extent that the witness understands

20 the question, without going into any details, any

21 substance, any identifying information, or anything

22 else on that document, if he knows, number one, what

23 the document is, yes or no, and number two, why that

24 wasn't listed.  Okay?

25           THE WITNESS:  I'm not sure what you're
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1 referring to when you say "community complaint."

2 BY MS. THOMAS:

3      Q.   Any complaint regarding Dr. Schneier's

4 care?

5      A.   If you were to bring up a document, I'd be

6 happy to tell you if I have seen it as part of my

7 review.

8      Q.   Do you have a document complaining about

9 Dr. Schneier's care in the materials you received

10 for review?

11      A.   As part of the allegation response

12 document, the original letter that is sent to Dr.

13 Schneier by the Nevada State Board of Medical

14 Examiners is included in that document.

15      Q.   And do you have a document from a patient

16 or outside health care provider complaining about

17 Dr. Schneier's care in this case?

18      A.   I'm not sure.  You'd have to show me the

19 document and I could tell you if I have seen it or

20 not.

21      Q.   I'd like you to check your job file and

22 tell me what you have.

23      A.   There are thousands of pages.  I can't

24 effectively do that at the moment.

25      Q.   I need you to do that in order to provide
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1 Dr. Schneier with a full and fair, meaningful

2 opportunity to be heard today.

3      A.   So you want me to repeat -- or review the

4 entire file?

5           MR. SHOGREN:  I'm going to object.

6           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Mr. Shogren --

7           MR. SHOGREN:  I believe Ms. Thomas asked

8 and Dr. Goz specified what records he looked at.

9           MS. THOMAS:  He cannot confirm --

10           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Ms. Thomas,

11 you're asking the doctor whether or not in whatever

12 material -- which sounds fairly extensive -- that he

13 has received that it included the community

14 complaint?  Whatever that term, however we define

15 that term.

16           MS. THOMAS:  A complaint from a patient or

17 on a patient's behalf or from a medical provider on

18 a form provided by the Board, or similar to the

19 same, for filing or lodging of a complaint about

20 care provided by Dr. Schneier.

21           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Mr. Shogren,

22 your position is?  Just on that narrow question of

23 whether that was provided.

24           MR. SHOGREN:  Well, I'm saying I think Dr.

25 Goz answered what records he has been provided
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1 thoroughly.  He listed everything.

2           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  And Ms.

3 Thomas --

4           MS. THOMAS:  My response --

5           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Hang on a

6 second.  I just want to understand the parameters of

7 the discussion here.

8           The witness has indicated that there's,

9 perhaps, thousands of pages of material.

10           MS. THOMAS:  I understand that.  However,

11 Ms. LaRue testified that the complaint was provided

12 to Dr. Goz.  I went -- or attempted to go down the

13 path of asking questions about that, you asked me to

14 table those questions and resume them with Dr. Goz,

15 and I agreed.

16           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  And you have

17 certainly done that, and we've gone down that path

18 to an extent.

19           The position of the IC, as I understand

20 it, regarding any of that material that would be

21 contained in the community complaint, quote/unquote

22 community complaint, would be subject to the

23 confidentiality provisions of the rules.

24           Is that correct, Mr. Shogren?

25           MR. SHOGREN:  Yes.
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1           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Yes?

2           MR. SHOGREN:  That is correct.

3           MS. THOMAS:  And our position is that by

4 providing that document to someone who is not a

5 member of the IC and who is hired specifically to

6 offer opinions that Dr. Schneier committed

7 malpractice and violated the standard of care, is

8 not an employee of the Medical Board, that

9 protection and that privilege has been waived.

10           You cannot disseminate the document to a

11 third party and then attempt to preclude

12 dissemination to Dr. Schneier, you can't

13 collectively assert privilege or confidentiality.

14           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Mr. Shogren, it

15 sounds like counsel is making some sort of a waiver

16 argument.  Do you have a position on that?

17           MR. SHOGREN:  Sorry.  You were cutting out

18 there.  I did not hear --

19           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  It sounds like

20 Ms. Thomas is making an argument that the

21 confidential nature of the -- of whatever this

22 complaint is, was, essentially, waived by giving it

23 to Dr. Goz.

24           Am I stating that generally correct, Ms.

25 Thomas?
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1           MS. THOMAS:  Yes.

2           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  And,

3 Mr. Shogren, waiver, if it had been provided.

4           MR. SHOGREN:  All documents and other

5 information that's part of the investigative file

6 that's not disclosed in the prehearing disclosure is

7 confidential.

8           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.

9 Here's what we're going to do:  We're not going to

10 delay these proceedings having Mr. -- or having the

11 doctor go through everything, especially based upon

12 what Mr. Shogren just indicated.

13           I don't believe that that material that's

14 being referenced was not in any of the prehearing

15 disclosures.  I am cognizant of the private and

16 confidential nature of these investigations.

17           As a result of that, I am going to sustain

18 an objection to the extent -- to the extent I

19 understand it after our discussion regarding this

20 particular -- what's been termed a "community

21 complaint," and whether or not it is in Dr. Goz's

22 file, and more importantly, whether or not he ever

23 reviewed it.

24           For the record, he has testified

25 extensively about the materials that he -- medical
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1 materials that he did receive, and, therefore, the

2 objection, to the extent that I understand it, is

3 going to be sustained.

4           Ms. Thomas, please carry on with your

5 cross.

6           MS. THOMAS:  For the record, we would like

7 to strike the testimony of Dr. Goz.  Anything

8 reviewed by an expert must be disclosed to the other

9 side out of fairness.

10           I understand you have overruled my

11 objection, but we are preserving that for the

12 record.

13           And we would request that, during a break,

14 we be provided, via email, a copy of any document

15 sent to Dr. Goz that have not been disclosed by the

16 Medical Board.

17           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  Your

18 comments are noted on the record.  Please continue.

19 BY MS. THOMAS:

20      Q.   Did you prepare more than one report in

21 this case?

22      A.   No.  I just prepared one report.

23      Q.   Did you revise that report?

24      A.   I have not revised the report.

25      Q.   What is the report dated?
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1      A.   Let me take a look.

2                (Witness reviewed document.)

3           THE WITNESS:  I do not believe it's dated.

4 BY MS. THOMAS:

5      Q.   When did you provide it to the Board?

6      A.   It would be in -- around late April of

7 2023.

8      Q.   How many pages?

9      A.   Three pages.

10      Q.   Did you have any conversations with anyone

11 from the Medical Board prior to drafting or

12 finalizing your report?

13      A.   Besides the initial conversation engaging

14 me as an expert or as a reviewer, aside from that

15 initial conversation, no additional conversations

16 took place.

17           MS. THOMAS:  I would ask that the witness

18 transmit the report to me via email so that we could

19 go over it.

20           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Mr. Shogren?

21           MR. SHOGREN:  I object to that request.

22           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Based upon?  For

23 the record, based upon, please.  Basis for the

24 objection for the record?

25           MR. SHOGREN:  Anything that's part of the
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1 investigative file in this case that wasn't

2 disclosed by the IC for prehearing disclosure is

3 confidential.

4           MS. THOMAS:  The IC generated documents.

5 This is a document setting forth the opinions of

6 this expert that was not directed or influenced by

7 the Board in any way, and, therefore, for purposes

8 of providing Dr. Schneier a meaningful opportunity

9 to be heard today, this evidence must be disclosed

10 or this witness should be stricken.

11           MR. SHOGREN:  As I stated, it's part of

12 the investigative file, this is a well-tread issue,

13 this has been addressed, there's multiple cases in

14 Second Judicial District Court about the

15 confidentiality of the investigative file, and it's

16 been found in the Boards's favor that any documents

17 that are not part of the prehearing disclosures are

18 confidential.

19           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  I'm going to

20 sustain the objection.

21           Ms. Thomas, the issue is preserved for the

22 record, I think, adequately.  Can we move on?

23           MS. THOMAS:  Yes.

24 BY MS. THOMAS:

25      Q.   Dr. Goz, please read your report onto the
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1 record.

2           MR. SHOGREN:  I object to that question.

3           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Sustained.

4 BY MS. THOMAS:

5      Q.   Are there opinions contained in your

6 report that you have not provided today?

7      A.   No.  The report reflects the opinions that

8 I discussed today.

9      Q.   Have you provided any opinions today that

10 are not in your report?

11      A.   I don't believe so.  The general meaning

12 and the general interpretation are consistent.

13      Q.   Have you referenced your report during

14 your testimony today?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   More than once?

17      A.   Yes.

18      Q.   Did you rely on your report to testify

19 today?

20      A.   Can you define the difference between

21 "rely" and "reference"?

22      Q.   Would you have been able to testify

23 without looking at the contents of your report?

24      A.   Would I have been able to give a

25 testimony?
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1      Q.   Would you have been able to answer all of

2 Mr. Shogren's questions without looking at your

3 report?

4      A.   I would have been able to provide an

5 answer, sure.

6           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  You broke up.

7 Did the court reporter get that?  It was broken.

8           THE REPORTER:  "Provide an answer" was all

9 I heard.

10           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Doc, could you

11 go back and give an answer if you -- we didn't hear

12 it.

13           THE WITNESS:  Yes.  I said I would have

14 been able to provide answers to Mr. Shogren's

15 questions, absolutely.

16           THE REPORTER:  "I would have been able to

17 answers."  Thank you.

18           THE WITNESS:  I would have, yes.

19 BY MS. THOMAS:

20      Q.   How many times did you look at your report

21 during Mr. Shogren's questioning?

22      A.   I'm not sure.  I didn't keep count.

23      Q.   More than five?

24      A.   I genuinely don't know.

25      Q.   You can't say whether it was more than
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1 five?

2      A.   I can't because I wasn't keeping count.

3      Q.   Have you been licensed anywhere else

4 besides Nevada and California?

5      A.   Yes.

6      Q.   Where?

7      A.   During training, I was licensed in Utah,

8 New Jersey, Pennsylvania.  I think that's it.  I had

9 a Colorado license for a minute.

10      Q.   Why do you no longer retain those

11 licenses?

12      A.   Utah, New Jersey, Pennsylvania were for

13 training, residency, and fellowship, so those are

14 complete, I had no reason to keep them.  Colorado

15 was when I thought I may be joining a practice in

16 Colorado and ended up not.

17      Q.   How long have you been licensed and

18 qualified to perform spine surgery by yourself?

19      A.   Can you unpack that question a little bit

20 for me?

21      Q.   Sure.  What part is confusing?

22      A.   You asked about licensing and

23 qualification, and I think those are the different.

24      Q.   How long have you been performing spine

25 surgery without supervision?
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1      A.   Approximately five years.

2      Q.   Do you recall the date that you began?

3      A.   Approximately September of 2020.

4      Q.   How are you qualified to offer opinions on

5 the standard of care for a spine surgery performed

6 in December, 2019, prior to your qualification to

7 independently perform the same?

8      A.   My training and experience as a spine

9 surgeon gives me the expertise necessary to offer

10 opinions, regardless of when the surgery occurred.

11           If I reference a surgery, current -- you

12 know, if I reference the surgery that was done a

13 number of years back, even before I finished my

14 training, I still, at the time that I'm referencing

15 all the materials, have that expertise.

16      Q.   But you were not able to and/or performing

17 those procedures independently?

18      A.   I was asked to be an expert when this

19 surgery was done, I was asked to be an expert a

20 number of years after that.

21      Q.   So do you believe that you can serve as an

22 expert regarding the standard of care for a

23 procedure that was performed at the time that you

24 were not qualified to perform that procedure?

25      A.   Correct.  Because at the time that I
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1 offered my expert opinion, I was well qualified to

2 do so.

3      Q.   So you believe that expertise is

4 determined at that time the opinion is offered, but

5 not at the time that the procedure was performed?

6      A.   Correct.  In 2019, I would have not been a

7 good expert because I was training.  But in 2023, I

8 was a well-qualified expert.

9      Q.   And you would agree that the standard of

10 care changes over time, for example, based on

11 changes or in capability or technology; correct?

12      A.   The standard of care does evolve over

13 time, sure.

14      Q.   So do you concede that it may be possible

15 that a different standard of care applied in

16 December of 2019, at the time of Dr. Schneier's

17 surgery than at the time of your 2023 opinion?

18      A.   My opinion is that Dr. Schneier's care

19 fell below the standard of care for the time frame

20 when Patient A was being cared for.

21      Q.   Based on the standard applicable in 2023?

22      A.   Based on my expertise as a spine surgeon.

23      Q.   In 2023?

24      A.   As the sum total of all of my education,

25 training, and the patient care that I have
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1 delivered.

2      Q.   But your opinions are based on -- I'm

3 sorry.  Strike that.

4           So do you believe you had the expertise to

5 offer these opinions in December, 2019?

6      A.   I believe that in 2023, I had the

7 expertise to offer opinions on care delivered in

8 2019.

9      Q.   Based on the 2023 standard; correct?

10      A.   No.  Based on my expertise and training as

11 a spine surgeon.

12      Q.   How long have you served as an expert for

13 the Board?

14      A.   A number of years.  My CV may have when I

15 started.  I don't remember the exact date.

16      Q.   I don't see it on there.  Would you please

17 look at -- take a look at your CV and let me know if

18 you can find it?

19      A.   It was at some point in 2022 that I

20 started -- nope, wait -- 2021, I believe.

21           Yes, either in 2021 or 2022 is when I

22 started serving as a reviewer for the Board.

23      Q.   So somewhere between three months into

24 your licensure in Nevada, up until a year and a

25 half.  Is that about right?
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1      A.   Pretty broad range, but somewhere in

2 there.

3      Q.   How is it that you began reviewing cases

4 for the Board?

5      A.   I believe I was contacted by someone from

6 the Board's office staff to see if I was interested.

7      Q.   Have you ever received a patient complaint

8 that the Board asked you to provide information in

9 response to?

10      A.   I apologize.  Can you repeat that question

11 for me?

12      Q.   So in Exhibit 2, the Board's Exhibit 2,

13 there is a response from Dr. Schneier to a Board

14 request for information regarding a patient -- a

15 complaint regarding a patient's care.

16           Do you recall looking at that exhibit?

17      A.   Yes.

18      Q.   Have you ever been asked to provide a

19 similar response to allegations of improper care?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   By the Nevada Medical Board?

22      A.   Yes, ma'am.

23      Q.   How many occasions?

24      A.   One occasion that I can recall.

25      Q.   How long ago was that?
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1      A.   Approximately a year.

2      Q.   A year ago?

3      A.   Yes, about that.

4      Q.   Was a formal complaint filed in that case?

5      A.   I do not know.

6      Q.   Did you receive similar complaints in any

7 other jurisdiction where you were licensed?

8      A.   No.

9      Q.   Earlier you testified to reviewing about

10 five or six cases on behalf of the Board; correct?

11      A.   That sounds about right, maybe a little

12 more.  But, yes, somewhere in that ballpark.

13      Q.   Have you reviewed any cases for the Board

14 since you received a patient care complaint?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   Have you ever offered an opinion for the

17 Board that the provider met the standard of care?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   How many cases out of the five or six

20 cases that they've reviewed?

21      A.   On every other occasion.

22      Q.   Every other occasion?

23      A.   Yes, ma'am.

24      Q.   Did any of those other cases involve

25 similar allegations to those in this case?
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1      A.   No, ma'am.

2      Q.   Have you ever been accused of performing a

3 wrong-site surgery?

4      A.   No.

5      Q.   How are you compensated on this case?

6      A.   I believe the rate is, maybe, $150 an hour

7 for the review part.  I'm not sure if this part of

8 it, the deposition, is compensated or not.

9      Q.   How much have you been paid so far?

10      A.   I don't know.  I will have to look.  I

11 don't remember how long the review took or what my

12 billing was.

13      Q.   We can wait.

14           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Doctor, do you

15 have that information at hand?  And if so, how long

16 would it take you to get it?

17           THE WITNESS:  I do -- maybe I do.  Give me

18 a second.

19           To answer your question, I was compensated

20 $3,000 for the 20 hours of work for this case.

21 BY MS. THOMAS:

22      Q.   Do you expect to submit additional billing

23 after today?

24      A.   I honestly don't know.  I don't know if

25 this part of it is compensated or not.
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1      Q.   How much time did you spend reviewing this

2 case prior to drafting your 2023 report?

3      A.   I don't know.  It's over 20 hours.  At the

4 time, I was under the impression that I was only

5 compensated for the first 20 hours and that I

6 wouldn't be compensated after that, and so I would

7 just bill for the first 20 and I wouldn't bill for

8 the rest of it.

9           The answer is more than 20, but I don't

10 know how much total.

11      Q.   The fact that you would not be compensated

12 beyond 20 hours did not impact your review of the

13 totality of the information you were provided, did

14 it?

15      A.   Correct, it did not.  It impacted my

16 recordkeeping because I would keep track of the

17 first 20 hours and then continue working until the

18 job was done.

19      Q.   Walk me through your review in this case.

20 You have been designated as conducting a medical

21 review of this case.  What did that entail?

22      A.   It entailed reviewing all the documents

23 provided, reviewing all of the imaging provided,

24 synthesizing the material, and answering the

25 questions proposed to me in sort of the letter from
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1 the Board that requested my services.

2      Q.   What questions have you been asked?

3      A.   The important one was whether the standard

4 of care has been breached or not.

5      Q.   What other questions were there?

6      A.   I don't know if I have the original

7 letter.  Let me see if it's readily available.

8           MR. SHOGREN:  I'm objecting to this

9 because it's confidential, the letter to Dr. Goz.

10           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  That is the

11 indication in the ruling that I've made on the

12 evidence in this.  That objection is sustained.

13           I don't want it to be, again, back-doored

14 through these kind of questions.

15           MS. THOMAS:  Again for the record, this

16 witness has testified that his medical review

17 included answers from those questions, and he

18 already began to answer the question without an

19 objection until there was a belated objection made.

20           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Yeah, the

21 objection wasn't weighed by any timeliness issues,

22 so the objections stands.  And it's sustained.

23 BY MS. THOMAS:

24      Q.   Please identify everyone with whom you

25 have shared your written report in this case.
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1      A.   I sent the written report to whoever was

2 my contact at the Board at that time.  I

3 subsequently -- actually, I did not send it to Mr.

4 Shogren, just Ms. LaRue.  Whoever was my contact at

5 the Board at the time.

6      Q.   And no one else?

7      A.   No.

8      Q.   Did you interview anyone?

9      A.   No, ma'am.

10      Q.   Were you interviewed by anyone?

11      A.   Tell me more about that question.  What do

12 you mean?

13      Q.   Do you know what an interview is?

14      A.   Yes.  But I am not sure how an interview

15 would be part of my process as a medical reviewer

16 for this case.

17      Q.   That wasn't my question.

18           My question was:  Were you interviewed by

19 anyone?

20      A.   Like ever, have I ever been interviewed by

21 anyone?  I'm not sure what you're asking.

22      Q.   Regarding this case?

23      A.   I had a call with Mr. Shogren about this

24 case.

25      Q.   Were you provided with complete records
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1 for your review or only excerpts?

2      A.   I don't know how to answer that because

3 you kind of don't know the completeness of records

4 until some record turns up that you were missing.

5           I listed the records that I was provided,

6 and I read through all of those.  I can give numbers

7 of pages of each document that I found.  I can't

8 really testify to the completeness of those records.

9      Q.   Have you reviewed Dr. Schneier's

10 prehearing statement and all of the disclosed culled

11 exhibits?

12      A.   Yes.

13      Q.   Did you review the imaging that was

14 disclosed by Dr. Schneier?

15      A.   I reviewed the imaging that was provided

16 to me and that I listed during the beginning of our

17 deposition.

18      Q.   So that would have been imaging from the

19 Medical Board?

20      A.   All the images that I listed I reviewed.

21      Q.   Have you printed any records or materials

22 that were disclosed as exhibits?

23      A.   I have not personally printed anything,

24 no.

25      Q.   Is there any information you requested to
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1 to review that was not originally provided to you?

2      A.   No.

3      Q.   Did you personally review the imaging for

4 the date of service and scan performed that you

5 testified about earlier?

6      A.   Yes.

7      Q.   So, specifically, you reviewed the 12/27

8 MRI?

9      A.   Can you be more specific?

10      Q.   Are you aware of -- well, strike that.

11           -- 12/27/19 MRI lumbar spine?

12      A.   Yes, I reviewed that.

13      Q.   And you reviewed the imaging itself, not

14 just the report?

15      A.   Correct.

16      Q.   Did you review the 12/30/2019 MRI

17 thoracic?

18      A.   Yes, ma'am.

19      Q.   The MRI itself and not just the report?

20      A.   Correct.

21      Q.   Did you review the 1/22/20 CT thoracic?

22      A.   Yes.

23      Q.   And again, not just the report, but the

24 imaging itself?

25      A.   Yes, ma'am.

Page 109

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200



CORRECTED COPY

1      Q.   Did you review the 6/4/2020 MRI thoracic?

2      A.   Yes, ma'am.

3      Q.   The imaging itself and not just the

4 report?

5      A.   Correct.

6      Q.   Did you review the 6/4/2020 kyphoplasty?

7      A.   Yes.

8      Q.   The imaging itself or just the report?

9      A.   Imaging itself.

10      Q.   Are you a neuroradiologist?

11      A.   No, ma'am.

12      Q.   Do you have any training in

13 neuroradiology?

14      A.   I would say that there's a fair amount of

15 overlap in training between neuroradiology and spine

16 surgery.

17      Q.   Do you feel qualified to review and

18 interpret imaging?

19      A.   Yes.  The core competency for a spine

20 surgeon.

21      Q.   And did you rely on your interpretation of

22 the images I just listed with you, or did you rely

23 on the interpretation in the accompanying report

24 prepared by the radiologist?

25      A.   I used both.
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1      Q.   Did you find them to be consistent, or did

2 you disagree with any of the interpretations?

3      A.   It's a little bit nuanced, is what I would

4 tell you.  But I didn't have -- I didn't have

5 significant disagreements with the interpretation of

6 the radiologist.

7      Q.   So what do you mean that it's nuanced?

8      A.   Meaning that I would -- I would interpret

9 the imaging in the context of the radiology report

10 and even if the descriptors that I use, you know,

11 personally in my own interpretation were slightly

12 different than the descriptors used by the

13 radiologist, I would really look for key

14 discrepancies.

15           For example, if a radiologist identifies a

16 level as T10-T11, and said that even after a

17 laminectomy was done that there was continued

18 stenosis at the T10-T11 level, and maybe they talk

19 about granulation tissue as a contributing factor,

20 and in my opinion, you know, maybe the granulation

21 tissue was a slightly less of a significant factor

22 but it was more of the degenerative change, that is

23 a very small nuance.  It might be a little bit of a

24 discrepancy, but it wouldn't necessarily change the

25 major take-home points.
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1           You kind of have to take my -- or what I

2 do is I take my interpretation, I look at maybe

3 discrepancies with the radiologist, and then I

4 synthesize both together when I offer my opinions

5 and report.

6      Q.   Is that what you do when you treat your

7 own patients?

8      A.   Tell me more.  What do you mean by -- what

9 do you mean by what you just said?

10      Q.   Do you follow that same process when

11 treating your own patients?

12      A.   When treating my own patients, I also use

13 the radiology interpretation in addition to my own

14 interpretation in order to come up with the best

15 course of care.

16      Q.   And is your interpretation based on what

17 you see once you begin or get -- begin the operation

18 on the patient?

19      A.   I believe we're talking about two

20 different things now.

21      Q.   Tell me more about that.  What do you

22 mean?

23      A.   Your prior questions were about my process

24 of interpreting imaging and now you're asking me

25 about what I see during the operation, those are
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1 separate processes.

2      Q.   In what way?

3      A.   One is in surgery, and the other one is my

4 thought process in interpreting imaging studies.

5      Q.   Do you have a personal practice to always

6 review your patient's film?

7      A.   Context dependent, but reviewing films is

8 a key part of treating patients.

9      Q.   What's the difference between an

10 orthopedic spine surgeon and a neurosurgeon?

11      A.   The residency completed.

12      Q.   How do those differ?

13      A.   Neurosurgery residency involves

14 seven years that involves spine surgery, as well as

15 other parts of neurosurgery, cranial cases, et

16 cetera.

17           Orthopedic surgery residency involves

18 spine surgery in addition to other parts of

19 orthopedics, such as knee, hip replacement, you

20 know, fracture care, et cetera.

21           It is now fairly standard for spine

22 surgeons coming from the orthopedic track to do a

23 one-year fellowship in spine-specific, which is what

24 I did.

25      Q.   Do you collaborate with neurosurgeons?
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1      A.   I do.

2      Q.   Do you have any conflicts with

3 Dr. Schneier?

4      A.   I don't know Dr. Schneier.

5      Q.   Have you ever treated or shared patients

6 with Dr. Khavkin?

7      A.   Not that I'm aware of.

8      Q.   Have you ever treated or shared patients

9 with Dr. Germin?

10      A.   Again, not that I'm aware of.

11      Q.   Have you ever treated or shared patients

12 with Dr. Schneier?

13      A.   Didn't you just ask me that?  Oh, no, it

14 was Khavkin.

15           Not that I'm aware of.  I don't know of

16 any shared patients.  We practice in the same space

17 and we might have some, but I'm not aware of it.

18      Q.   Did you -- I'm sorry.  Strike that.

19           Have you ever held privileges at Sunrise

20 Hospital?

21      A.   No.

22      Q.   Have you ever held privileges at Spring

23 Valley Hospital?

24      A.   No.

25      Q.   Have you ever held privileges at any
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1 hospitals in Southern Nevada?

2      A.   No.

3      Q.   Did you hold privileges at any hospital in

4 Nevada in December, 2019?

5      A.   No.

6      Q.   Earlier, Mr. Shogren asked you how many

7 laminectomies you performed and you stated that you

8 weren't sure.  Can you estimate?

9      A.   I can't.

10      Q.   How -- what percentage of your

11 laminectomies have been performed in the thoracic

12 spine?

13      A.   There are more there in the lumbar spine

14 or the cervical spine, for sure.  I can't give you a

15 percentage.

16      Q.   You indicated that you performed 200 to

17 250 spine surgeries.  Is that accurate?

18      A.   Per year.

19      Q.   Per year?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   When's the last time you perform a

22 thoracic laminectomy?

23      A.   I would have to look at my case log, but

24 definitely within -- I would say within the last

25 six months for sure.  I don't know how recent.
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1      Q.   When's the last time you performed a

2 thoracic laminectomy at T10-11?

3      A.   That's a very specific question.  I would

4 definitely have to look at my case log.

5      Q.   Within the last year?

6      A.   T10-ll is a specific level, so I don't

7 know.

8      Q.   Is it your custom to use operative

9 microscopes for decompression of coarctation of

10 compression of the cord?

11      A.   What do you mean?  I need to find out more

12 for that one.

13      Q.   Do you know what an operative microscope

14 is?

15      A.   There are many types of operative

16 microscopes, and I have used some of them.

17      Q.   Have you used any type of operative

18 microscope for decompression of coarctation of

19 compression of the cord?

20      A.   Yes, I've used many different types of

21 microscope for decompression of the spinal cord.

22      Q.   Is that your typical custom and practice

23 for performing a decompression?

24      A.   Is what my custom and practice?

25      Q.   The use of an operative microscope.
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1      A.   My typical is the use of what are called

2 "surgical loops," which is a type of microscope.

3 You know, the microscope that you wear on the

4 glasses instead of the big ones that you wheel in.

5           I've used both.  I prefer loops in my

6 practice.

7      Q.   How many surgeries have you performed

8 without image guidance?

9      A.   What do you mean by "image guidance"?

10      Q.   Do you not understand the question?

11      A.   I do not.

12      Q.   How many surgeries have you performed

13 without fluoroscopy?

14      A.   A very low number.  Just about every

15 surgery we do involves fluoroscopy for some basis.

16      Q.   How many have you performed without a

17 robot?

18      A.   Without a robot?  It's pretty rare.

19      Q.   You know, the average age demographic of

20 the patients upon whom you perform thoracic

21 laminectomies?

22      A.   I don't.

23      Q.   What about the breakdown and procedures

24 performed on men versus women?

25      A.   You know, I don't know off the top of my
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1 head.

2      Q.   Would you agree that it is somewhat

3 unusual to have problems with the spinal cord at T10

4 to T11?

5      A.   Context dependent.

6      Q.   Please expand on that.

7      A.   Like is it rare in the scope of my entire

8 clinical practice?  Is it rare in emergent cases?

9 Is it rare in the scope of thoracic myelopathy

10 cases?  You know, those are all different issues.

11      Q.   Is it rare in the scope of your entire

12 practice?

13      A.   Yes, it's a very small component of my

14 practice.

15      Q.   And you'd agree that the ribs act somewhat

16 as a stabilizer for the thoracic spine; correct?

17      A.   Sure.

18      Q.   Would you agree that as a result, it's not

19 natural, for lack of a better word, to acquire

20 stenosis in the thoracic spine, even in the aging

21 population?

22      A.   It naturally occurs, I wouldn't say

23 frequently, but it naturally occurs occasionally.

24      Q.   Do you agree that this patient had an

25 exceptionally rare presentation of pathology?
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1      A.   No.

2      Q.   Why not?

3      A.   Thoracic myelopathy happens.  Thoracic

4 stenosis happens.  While it doesn't happen as common

5 lumbar stenosis, it still happens.

6           Any practicing spine surgeon is probably

7 going to see thoracic myelopathy, you know, some

8 number of times every year.

9      Q.   In your own practice, you get a patient's

10 history in order to understand the conditions that

11 the patient comes to the table with because the age

12 in your assessment and recommended intervention;

13 correct?

14      A.   Yes.

15      Q.   You'd agree -- or you're aware that this

16 patient had bilateral hip replacements in 2018 and

17 2019 prior to his surgery with Dr. Schneier?

18      A.   While I don't recall the date, yes, the

19 patient had bilateral hip replacements.

20      Q.   And you're aware that he had complaints of

21 extreme pain and could not extend his legs to lay

22 flat for the MRI secondary to his displaced hip

23 prostheses; correct?

24      A.   That's a little bit of a compound

25 question.
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1      Q.   Are you unable to answer it as a result?

2      A.   I can't answer it accurately.

3      Q.   Are you aware that the patient was unable

4 to extend his leg to lie flat for the MRI?

5      A.   Yes.

6      Q.   Are you aware that that was due to a

7 displaced hip prosthesis?

8      A.   Hard to say what the cause was.  I can't

9 really opine on that.

10      Q.   Within two months prior to seeing

11 Dr. Schneier, the patient had a documented history

12 of increased lower extremity weakness, back pain,

13 and falls; correct?

14      A.   I would have to reference the, you know,

15 review materials for that, but that sounds accurate.

16      Q.   So you don't dispute that?

17      A.   I don't dispute it.  I don't know about

18 the details on whether it was two months or longer

19 or shorter, but it sounds accurate.

20      Q.   Is it the norm for a 49-year-old male to

21 have spinal stenosis throughout his cervical,

22 thoracic, and lumbar spine?

23      A.   When you say "norm," do you mean like do

24 the majority of people that age have it?

25      Q.   Correct.

Page 120

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200



CORRECTED COPY

1      A.   No, the majority of people that age don't

2 have that condition.

3      Q.   So you would agree that this was a rare

4 case?

5      A.   It depends on how you define "rare."

6      Q.   How do you define rare?

7      A.   I would say that this is a well-described

8 condition, certainly is less common than other

9 conditions we frequently treat, but it is still a

10 condition that's encountered probably, you know,

11 every year during a spine surgeon's practice.

12      Q.   And then two months prior to seeing

13 Dr. Schneier, you're aware that the patient left two

14 separate rehabilitation centers against medical

15 advice after one day; correct?

16      A.   I'm not acutely aware of that.

17      Q.   Do you deny the accuracy of that

18 statement?

19      A.   I don't deny it.

20      Q.   And you're aware that he was ambulating

21 with a walker about five to six weeks before seeing

22 Dr. Schneier; correct?

23      A.   Again, not acutely aware of that.

24      Q.   And not denying it?

25      A.   Correct.
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1      Q.   Are you aware that he has a history of

2 substance abuse?

3      A.   I am not.

4      Q.   You didn't see that in the records that

5 you reviewed?

6      A.   I may have seen it, but I'm not currently,

7 years after my review, aware of that fact.

8      Q.   And in the records you reviewed, are you

9 aware that the patient had a positive drug screening

10 for cocaine at the time of his presentation for the

11 care at issue in this case?

12      A.   I --

13           MR. SHOGREN:  I'm going to object to that

14 as irrelevant.

15           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  The objection

16 was based upon the relevancy?

17           MR. SHOGREN:  Correct.

18           MS. THOMAS:  And the response is that it's

19 within the records that the provider who was taking

20 his history and physical felt was relevant to his

21 presenting condition and the care provided in the

22 case.

23           I wanted to know if the witness had seen

24 that information.

25           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  The question is
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1 allowed.  Witness can answer.

2           THE WITNESS:  While I'm sure I have seen

3 it in the record, I'm not currently -- again, a

4 couple of years after the review -- acutely aware of

5 that.

6      Q.   Are you aware that the patient had a

7 history of opioid dependence?

8      A.   Again, I was likely aware of that at the

9 time that I composed my report, but I'm not acutely

10 aware of that today.

11      Q.   The patient was taken by ambulance for 10

12 out of 10 low back pain on December 26, 2019, to

13 Sunrise Hospital; correct?

14      A.   Yes, ma'am.

15      Q.   Having reviewed the history and physical

16 for multiple practitioners, can you describe the

17 long tract findings on exam?

18      A.   Are you asking in general what are long

19 term -- long tract findings?

20      Q.   No.  I'm asking you, based on your review

21 of the history and physical performed by multiple

22 practitioners related to this patient, can you tell

23 me what the long tract findings were on exam?

24      A.   You're asking me specifically to recall

25 the exam on the patient's admission that occurred in
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1 2019?

2      Q.   Yes.

3      A.   I don't recall those documents off the top

4 of my head.

5      Q.   You're aware that the patient reported an

6 inability to walk for two months prior; correct?

7      A.   Again, I'm sure I was aware of it at the

8 time that my report was compiled, but not acutely

9 aware of that now.

10      Q.   You don't disagree with the statement, do

11 you?

12      A.   I do not disagree, no.

13      Q.   And you're aware that this patient's hip

14 prosthesis was found to be disarticulated; correct?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   You're aware the patient had a history of

17 osteoarthritis; correct?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   And you testified earlier that you

20 personally reviewed the imaging from the MRI of the

21 lumbar spine taken on December 27, 2019; correct?

22      A.   MRI of lumbar spine, December 27, 2019,

23 give me one second to see if that one was an

24 included study.

25           MRI, lumbar spine, yes.
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1           MS. THOMAS:  I am going to go ahead and

2 share my screen.

3           MR. SHOGREN:  Sorry to interrupt,

4 Mr. Burcham.  I know Dr. Goz said he had something

5 at one o'clock to attend to.

6           I don't know if you need to get to that.

7           THE WITNESS:  We can -- if we're getting

8 close, we can finish up, just in the interest of

9 everyone's time.

10           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Ms. Thomas,

11 let's continue on.  I don't know how far, you know,

12 how much time you have.

13           Doctor, if you have to run to whatever

14 else you have to run to, is that the rest of the

15 day?

16           THE WITNESS:  Yes.  I think let's keep on

17 trucking and finish the questioning.  I think that

18 would be fair to everyone.

19           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  I agree.

20           MS. THOMAS:  I appreciate that, thank you.

21           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  I agree.  Let's

22 do that.  Hang on.  The court reporter --

23           THE REPORTER:  Except the court reporter

24 is not a statue, I'm not a machine, so --

25           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Yeah.  Let's go
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1 off the record.

2                (Off-the-record discussion.)

3           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Let's go back

4 on.

5 BY MS. THOMAS:

6      Q.   Can you see my screen?

7      A.   Yes.

8      Q.   Do you need me to make it bigger?  Is that

9 a yes or no?

10      A.   I think we're okay.

11      Q.   Okay.  Do you see the red arrow on the

12 screen?

13      A.   Yes, ma'am.

14      Q.   What level is depicted by the red arrow?

15      A.   It depends.

16      Q.   On what?

17      A.   It depends on how you count.

18      Q.   On how you count.  Okay.

19           What do you count this level to be?

20      A.   So this is where the tricky thing with

21 spine surgery is, is that depending on the context,

22 you can count from the first multiple disc, you can

23 count down from T2, you can count from the thoracic

24 spine.

25           But the important thing is that when
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1 you're looking to address pathology, especially in

2 the thoracic spine, that you independently look at

3 the imaging and how you count, and you

4 cross-reference multiple imaging modalities and you

5 end up arriving at the same answer.

6      Q.   Dr. Goz, my question is what level is

7 depicted by the red arrow?

8      A.   It can be referred as either as L5 or S1,

9 depending on how you count.  I can't from this image

10 alone give you a concrete.  It really is

11 context-dependent as sort of why we're labeling it.

12      Q.   So you agree that a radiologist did

13 interpret this film as a standalone film on

14 December 22, 2019; correct?

15      A.   No.

16      Q.   Please turn to Exhibit 3 at page NSBME

17 059.

18      A.   You got to bring it up for me.  I don't

19 have it.

20      Q.   What are the documents that you do have in

21 front of you?

22      A.   I don't have any documents in front of me.

23 I have your -- I have the respondent's culled

24 exhibits, that's about it.

25      Q.   I will pull the exhibits up.  Please turn
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1 to Exhibit B, pages 13 to 14.

2      A.   There's a lot of -- I see page 1 here.

3 What are your page numbers?

4      Q.   How about this: Exhibit A SHMC 2428

5 through 2429.

6      A.   Thank you.  These jump around, these skip

7 around a lot.

8      Q.   So I will represent to you that the report

9 for this exam says "None available," next to

10 "comparison."

11      A.   Yes.  That's not relevant.

12      Q.   Well, I asked you how -- or if you were

13 aware that the radiologist interpreted this film

14 without additional information, as you suggested,

15 would be required for you to answer my questions?

16      A.   I don't know if you used the term "image"

17 or "film," but an MRI includes multiple series in

18 addition to a localizer film or a localizer series

19 that includes, typically, the entire slide.  And

20 that's actually what helps the radiologist sort of

21 determine how they label the level.

22           They don't go off of that picture that you

23 showed me.

24      Q.   Are you aware that this scan did not

25 include a localizer image?
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1      A.   I am not aware of that.  Typically a

2 localizer is run.

3      Q.   I will represent to you that one was not

4 used on the scan and that the radiologist was still

5 able to interpret the exam.

6           However, I'm asking you --

7      A.   I'm literally -- go ahead.

8      Q.   I'm asking you, based on your knowledge,

9 training, experience and stated expertise, what you

10 would label the vertebrae depicted by the red arrow?

11      A.   So there is a localizer that I'm looking

12 at, so it did contain that.

13      Q.   The 12/27/2019 scan?

14      A.   Yes.  It doesn't go up to the cervical

15 spine, but it includes key sagittal imaging.

16      Q.   Okay.  Based on that information, what is

17 the vertebrae depicted next to the red arrow?

18      A.   It can be referred to by multiple

19 different numbering.

20      Q.   How do you refer to it?

21      A.   It really depends on what I'm looking for.

22 So it can be referred to L5 or F1 or S2, but the L5

23 or F1 would be the most common.

24      Q.   And in this case, you are alleging that

25 Dr. Schneider operated at the incorrect level;
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1 correct?

2      A.   Yes.

3      Q.   So wouldn't it be important for you to

4 determine what -- with certainty, what level a

5 vertebrae is?

6      A.   A better way to frame this, in my opinion,

7 is that it would be most important to localize an

8 area of high stenosis and operate on the area of

9 severe or high stenosis, high degree of stenosis.

10           So whether you call the area of severe

11 stenosis T9-10 and you operate in that area, or you

12 call it T10-T11, you operate on that area.  That's

13 the most important part.

14           But if you call an area of severe stenosis

15 T10-T11 and you operate at T9-T10 and the area of

16 severe stenosis remains, that's when you have a

17 problem.

18      Q.   So you operate on the pathology, not the

19 ambiguous or differing interpretations within an MRI

20 report; correct?

21      A.   You operate on the pathology, and you have

22 to take special attention to what the radiologist --

23 how the radiologist numbered the vertebrae in their

24 report, where the pathology is, and whether what

25 you're calling T10-T11 is the same thing as what the
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1 radiologist called T10-T11.  That's sort of a key

2 issue with thoracic decompression.

3      Q.   Okay.  So your testimony is that the red

4 arrow depicts F1, L5, or S2; correct?

5      A.   Potentially.  Again, it's really not that

6 important.  The important part is not the number, it

7 is where the pathology is and if you can accurately

8 identify where the pathology is in the operating

9 room.

10           And I'll tell you, when I went through

11 that, sort of what I did is cross-reference the

12 thoracic spine with the lumbar spine imaging.

13 You're kind of showing me one picture and you're not

14 showing you the axial to then cross-reference to

15 this image, and I need to see the thoracic spine and

16 the lumbar spine imaging.

17           And then after I can cross-reference all

18 of them, can I accurately give you what number that

19 should be referring to.

20      Q.   Okay.  What number would the vertebrae

21 next to the green arrow on this image?

22      A.   Again, I really would have to

23 cross-reference both the radiology reports, the

24 thoracic spine and MRI spine, multiple series, in

25 order to be able to give you an accurate answer that
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1 also coincides with the radiology report.

2      Q.   So you don't know what level is adjacent

3 to the green arrow; correct?

4      A.   More importantly, I would say that there

5 are a number --

6      Q.   Dr. Goz, I'm happy to let you go on that

7 tangent, but I want you to answer my question.  My

8 question is important to me, so please answer my

9 question and then you can finish with the side

10 statement.

11      A.   It's not a side statement; it is an answer

12 to question.  I'd be happy to if you let me answer.

13           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Continue,

14 Doctor.  There was a question asked, maybe it's been

15 lost in the translation, I don't know.

16           That question needs -- Counsel Thomas, ask

17 it again specifically.

18 BY MS. THOMAS:

19      Q.   What level is depicted next to or by the

20 green arrow?

21      A.   So in order to answer that accurately, I

22 would need to cross-reference multiple studies and

23 reports.

24      Q.   What did the radiologist interpreting this

25 film read that level as?
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1      A.   I would have the cross-reference their and

2 multiple studies to provide that answer.

3      Q.   I provided you with the base number for

4 the report.  You stated that you have the

5 respondents exhibits in front of you.

6      A.   We actually could not track that report

7 down, if you recall, so I don't have it in front of

8 me.

9           I would have to actually, in the imaging

10 software, cross-reference multiple studies and the

11 reports to give you an accurate answer.

12      Q.   Do you have Exhibit B in your binder?

13      A.   I have tab B, and all of the pages on tab

14 B are labeled as "page 1" and then "page 2"

15 afterwards.  They are not numbered, you know, within

16 the tab.

17      Q.   Would you please count 13 pages in?

18      A.   Okay.  And what am I looking for?

19      Q.   The radiologist's interpretation of what

20 levels are depicted by the red and green arrows.

21      A.   Now I have one additional piece of the

22 puzzle, but I still need to be able to scroll

23 through multiple images and series with the thoracic

24 lumbar MRI in order to be able to give you that

25 answer.
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1      Q.   Okay.  The report found at T11 to T12,

2 there is severe spinal canal narrowing, secondary to

3 disc bulge, facet/ligamentum flavum hypertrophic

4 changes with mild T2 hyperintensity of the cord

5 suggesting edema.

6           Where is that on this view in relation to

7 the green arrow?

8      A.   I'm speculating, because I need multiple

9 series that are cross-referenced to give you an

10 accurate depiction, but it is likely that -- not the

11 direct disc involved, probably one above that, but,

12 again, I'd have to cross-reference multiple series

13 for both the thoracic and the MRI of the lumbar

14 spine to give you an accurate answer.

15      Q.   If I understand you correctly, the level

16 above the green arrow you are designating as T12?

17      A.   No, ma'am.  I would tell you that it's a

18 more nuanced issue than that requiring

19 cross-referencing multiple studies in order to get a

20 consistent, I guess, numbering scheme.

21      Q.   Where's the cord edema depicted on this

22 image in relation to the green arrow?

23      A.   I would have to be able to scroll through

24 that image to give you an accurate answer.  It does

25 appear to be -- I see some cord edema, potentially
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1 the one level up.  I have to scroll back and forth,

2 I have to look at, ideally, their images, and I

3 actually have a more complete set of data to be able

4 to give you an accurate answer as an expert.

5      Q.   So is it fair to say, then, that that

6 analysis was not something that you conducted in

7 forming your opinions in this case?

8      A.   No, ma'am, that is not fair to say.

9      Q.   So you have done this analysis in forming

10 your opinions in this case?

11      A.   Meaning -- what analysis are you referring

12 to?

13      Q.   The questions that I've been asking you,

14 Dr. Goz, related to the location of the edema and

15 the corresponding vertebral levels.

16      A.   I have looked at the location of the edema

17 on the MRI images as part of my analysis of the

18 case, yes.

19      Q.   Do you see cord edema or canal narrowing

20 on this film?

21      A.   I see a potential for cord edema, but in

22 order for me to give you a answer with confidence, I

23 would have to have access to the full study, which

24 is what I had when I formed my opinions for this

25 case.
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1      Q.   You agree that T11 and T12 are shown on

2 this film; correct?

3      A.   Yes.

4      Q.   Where are those in relation to the green

5 arrow?

6      A.   I will reference you back to my prior

7 answers, which is I would have to have access to

8 multiple series, and I would have to cross-reference

9 both the thoracic and lumbar spine MRI in the

10 reports to give you that answer.

11      Q.   And as a result of the cord edema found on

12 this film, Dr. Schneider was asked to consult on

13 this patient; correct?

14      A.   You asked me why Dr. Schneier was

15 consulted?

16      Q.   I'm asking you if you agree that as a

17 result of the cord edema found on this film,

18 Dr. Schneier was asked to provide a consult on this

19 patient?

20      A.   I think you would have to ask whoever

21 consulted him.

22      Q.   That's not information that you reviewed

23 in the records?

24      A.   No.  As far as the core cause for the

25 consult, I cannot recall -- I can't recall the exact
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1 cause of consult or reason for consult that was in

2 the note.  I'm not sure if it's cord edema, if it's

3 leg weakness, or back pain.

4           I would have to review those documents.

5 It could be any one of those things that would lead

6 to a consult by -- by a spine surgery.

7      Q.   And Dr. Schneier first saw the patient on

8 December 28, 2019; correct?

9      A.   That sounds plausible.

10      Q.   And at the time of his consult, the

11 patient had already had X-rays of his hip and pelvis

12 and the lumbar MRI; correct?

13      A.   That also sounds likely.

14      Q.   And you would agree that the records

15 demonstrate that Dr. Schneier reviewed the MRI

16 lumbar with this patient; correct?

17      A.   That is one of the studies that he

18 reviewed.

19      Q.   And Dr. Schneier ordered further MRI

20 imaging of the thoracic spine; correct?

21      A.   Yes, that sounds plausible.

22      Q.   And that imaging was performed two days

23 later on December 30, 2019; correct?

24      A.   Yes.

25           MS. THOMAS:  And for the record, the
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1 imaging we just looked at is a modified version of

2 Exhibit C at 001.

3           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Counsel, when

4 you say "modified," can you define modified?

5           The reason I ask that is that I am

6 colorblind and you guys have been talking about red

7 and green, and I want to make sure on the arrows

8 that are on there that I understand which is which.

9           MS. THOMAS:  Absolutely.

10           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  The red arrow is

11 the one at the bottom of the image.  Is that

12 correct?

13           MS. THOMAS:  Yes, that is correct.

14           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.

15           MS. THOMAS:  And the green arrow is on

16 top.  I will orient any further reference to arrows

17 in addition to stating their color just so that

18 you're able to participate.

19           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  I appreciate

20 that.  I was going to bring that up just to make

21 sure so you're aware.  Thank you.

22           MS. THOMAS:  Okay.  Thank you for letting

23 me know.  I apologize.  I would have done it sooner.

24           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Not your fault.

25
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1 BY MS. THOMAS:

2      Q.   Now I'm going to show you Exhibit C, which

3 is combined imaging studies of this patient, at 004.

4 Do you see that on the screen?

5      A.   Yes.

6      Q.   This is a scout image from the MRI

7 thoracic.

8           What is a scout image?

9      A.   It's an image used to help localize a sort

10 of a rough picture to help count or label the level.

11      Q.   Do you see the red arrow pointing at the X

12 on the screen?

13      A.   I do.

14      Q.   What spinal level does the X depict?

15      A.   If we use the method of counting down from

16 T1, that would be T1.

17      Q.   What is the lowest level of the spine --

18 I'm sorry.  The lowest level of the thoracic spine

19 shown on this image?

20      A.   You can see part of T11.

21      Q.   Is that covered by the text "I 268"?

22      A.   Yes.

23      Q.   I have now put page 005 on the screen.

24 This is an image from the thoracic spine MRI.

25           Are you able to identify the vertebral
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1 level that the red arrow is pointing to?

2      A.   No.  Because to do that -- this is what I

3 did during my review -- you have to basically use

4 your prior scout image, get an axial image to scroll

5 down to certain discs lower down, and then

6 cross-reference that axial image that you've used

7 your scout image to count where the axial image is

8 to localize to this.

9      Q.   So you're not able to tell us what

10 vertebral level that is based on the information

11 you're looking at right now?

12      A.   Correct.

13      Q.   Do you see cord edema or canal narrowing

14 on this film?

15      A.   Again, there's likely canal narrowing, but

16 you can't make an assessment by looking at one

17 picture.  That's not -- that's really not a safe way

18 to make an assessment.

19      Q.   But you looked in all the pictures in

20 forming your opinions in this case; correct?

21      A.   Correct.

22      Q.   Are you able to provide that information

23 based on the review you did in forming your opinions

24 in this case?

25      A.   Provide what information?
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1      Q.   The information I just asked you for,

2 whether you see cord edema or canal narrowing on

3 this film?

4      A.   You're showing me one picture, and so my

5 review of multiple images does not help me

6 accurately assess the one picture you're showing.

7           There's likely cord edema slightly --

8 maybe slightly above that arrow in the spinal cord.

9 There might not be.  There's multiple pictures.  I

10 don't know which picture you chose to show me.

11      Q.   So you're not sure but you think there

12 might be cord edema at how many levels above the red

13 arrow?

14      A.   It looks like there's pretty severe

15 stenosis one level below, and there's questionable

16 edema above.

17           But I can't really assess that without

18 being able to scroll through multiple series of

19 axial construction.

20      Q.   Okay.  So you can't rule it out but you

21 can't rule it in, based on --

22      A.   Exactly.  It always takes more than one

23 view to provide an accurate diagnosis.

24           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Counsel, the

25 court reporter needs to take a break.  It's one
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1 minute before a quarter after.

2           You started to ask another question, you

3 can ask that, but at the end of this, whenever you

4 switch subjects -- and hopefully at the end of this

5 subject -- we got to take a break.

6           MS. THOMAS:  Okay.  So the end of this

7 subject is probably a couple more questions long.

8 How long of a break do we need to take?

9           THE REPORTER:  I'm fine with a half an

10 hour.

11           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Need 30 minutes.

12           MS. THOMAS:  Okay.  Why don't we do that.

13           THE WITNESS:  If we're doing that, can I

14 continue at a different point in the day?  I have

15 patients.

16           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Let's go off the

17 record to discuss this.

18                (Off-the-record discussion.)

19           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  We're back on

20 the record.  We're going to take a short lunch

21 break, 30 minutes.  Dr. Goz has graciously agreed to

22 move his schedule around a little bit so we can

23 get -- complete his testimony.

24           We'll stand adjourned until 1:50.

25                (Recess 1:19 P.M. to 1:50 P.M.)
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1           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Let's go back on

2 the record.

3           Ms. Thomas, please continue.

4 BY MS. THOMAS:

5      Q.   Dr. Goz, did you have any conversations

6 during our break with anyone related to this case?

7      A.   No.

8      Q.   Okay.  Let's see here.  Before we went on

9 break, I was sharing my screen with you.  I want to

10 put that back up.

11           Are you able to see the image on the

12 screen?

13      A.   Yes.

14      Q.   And I don't recall the last question I

15 asked you.  Is the court reporter able to read that

16 back?

17                (Record read.)

18 BY MS. THOMAS:

19      Q.   Did you review the imaging while we were

20 on break?

21      A.   No, ma'am.

22      Q.   Do you see any anterior ventral

23 osteophytes on this film in the thoracic spine?

24      A.   You have to be a little bit more

25 descriptive than that.  Osteophytes anterior to the
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1 spinal cord?  Osteophytes on the anterior vertebral

2 bodies?  What are you referring to?

3      Q.   The vertebral bodies.

4      A.   There are osteophytes anterior to some of

5 the vertebral bodies, yes.

6      Q.   And in relation to the red arrow, are

7 those above or below or both?

8      A.   The ones I'm seeing that are most

9 prominent are below.

10      Q.   Okay.  How many -- how many levels below

11 is the longest osteophyte?

12      A.   I think for purposes of being explicit, we

13 should distinguish between levels and segments.

14           A level is generally the disc space,

15 T10-T11 level, as an example.  And then if, for the

16 sake of argument, that arrow is noted to be T10, T10

17 would be a segment.

18           The two segments below the arrow, have the

19 largest osteophytes that I can tell from this

20 picture, but as I emphasized in my prior answers to

21 you, you can't really judge an MRI based on one

22 picture.

23      Q.   Okay.  And so your response regarding the

24 osteophytes is based on this picture and not Dr.

25 Lev's interpretation of this picture; correct?
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1      A.   Yes.

2      Q.   And I believe -- I just want to clarify --

3 that you testified that you cannot say one way or

4 the other whether there is cord edema visualized on

5 this excerpt of Exhibit C at page 005?

6      A.   The picture in front of me, so it's a

7 potential for edema at the level of the arrow and at

8 the disc just below the arrow.  There's potential

9 cord edema higher up, but I can't rule it out

10 because I need, you know, the full MRI and all the

11 series involved with it in order to be able to give

12 you a conclusive answer.

13      Q.   And you're now at your office; correct?

14      A.   Yes.

15      Q.   Okay.  Can you please turn to Exhibit 3 at

16 NSBME 061?

17      A.   I don't have the paperwork, so we'll have

18 to go with the screen sharing.  I cannot find it, I

19 don't think.

20           Yes, I know where it is.

21      Q.   Did you bring the other binder of records

22 with you to your office?

23      A.   No.  Can you screen share whatever you

24 want me to look at?

25      Q.   Why didn't you bring the binder with you?
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1      A.   Did you instruct me to bring the binder

2 with me?

3      Q.   Well, they were referring to it in your

4 testimony.  Did I have to instruct you?  Did you

5 think that you did not need it?

6           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Argumentative.

7 Let's move on, please.

8           MS. FUENTES:  If I may, are we able to see

9 the documents that are on screen sharing right now?

10 Can everybody see those?

11           THE WITNESS:  Yes.

12           MS. FUENTES:  Okay.  Thank you.

13           MS. THOMAS:  That's not the document I was

14 sharing.

15           MS. FUENTES:  I'm sorry, Ms. Thomas.  You

16 directed Doctor Goz to go to Exhibit 3, and I do not

17 recall the Bates stamp number.  Was that correct or

18 did I get that wrong?

19           MS. THOMAS:  I would appreciate if you

20 allowed me to control the screen.  That was one of

21 our conditions for holding this via Zoom.

22           MS. FUENTES:  Sure.  I mean, if you have

23 the IC'S exhibits and you're able to project them --

24 I was just trying to assist in that.  I wasn't sure

25 if you had them or not.
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1           MS. THOMAS:  I'll be able to complete my

2 examination in the manner that I choose, but I do

3 appreciate you offering your assistance.

4           Let's move on.

5 BY MS. THOMAS:

6      Q.   Going back to page 001 of Exhibit C, are

7 you able to visualize the same osteophyte that you

8 just referenced on the thoracic MRI?

9      A.   No way of knowing if it's the same

10 osteophyte without cross-referencing multiple

11 images.

12      Q.   Do you disagree that there is edema in the

13 cord one level above the ventral osteophytes?

14      A.   It looks that way in this image, but to be

15 sure, I would have to review the entire series.

16      Q.   Do you disagree that there is cord edema

17 one level above the level with the red arrow?

18      A.   I would have to really review the entire

19 study to be sure.

20      Q.   How would you correlate this

21 intraoperatively?

22      A.   Well, you have to consider how you're

23 numbering.  Right?  So for the sake of argument,

24 let's say that the level below the red arrow where

25 this stenosis on this single image appears to be --
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1 let's say it appears to be on other images as well,

2 then you have to look at how your labeling.  Let's

3 say we call it T10-T11.

4           If you're counting down from the top, one

5 thing you could do is you can then look at where the

6 rib is at.  If you're going to count

7 intraoperatively, you need to double check -- you

8 know, if you're using ribs intraoperatively, then

9 you have to see if you can count the ribs on the

10 MRI.

11           If you're going to use one of the lumbar

12 disc spaces and count up, you will have to

13 cross-reference the lumbar MRI and the thoracic MRI.

14           And instead of blindly following the

15 numbers that the radiologist recommend, you have to

16 actually be able to reliably cross-reference the MRI

17 in whatever method you're going to use, and if you

18 can't identify a reliable marker that is present on

19 both the thoracic and the lumbar imaging, or if you

20 can't count down from the top of T2, then, as

21 happened in this case, you could always implant an

22 identifiable marker, such as doing a kyphoplasty

23 that is readily, you know, radial image -- repeat

24 imaging with that radial marker and go from there.

25           It really depends.  And it depends on what
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1 you can identify during the surgery and how you can

2 cross-reference the thoracic and the lumbar spine

3 MRIs as reliable.

4      Q.   Would an osteophyte provide the landmark

5 to cross-reference?

6      A.   No.  It's a terrible landmark.

7      Q.   Why?

8      A.   Because there are a lot of osteophytes,

9 usually.  You see one osteophyte here, if I were to

10 get a lumbar MRI, there could be multiple

11 osteophytes formed one level below in any particular

12 place.  It's not a unique identifier.

13           In a perfect world, you would have a more

14 unique marker.

15      Q.   Do you see multiple osteophytes on

16 page 001, the lumbar MRI at the level below?

17      A.   Yes.  That's a single cut, and you can

18 tell you're absolutely off center there, so you

19 would have to really -- you'd have to scrutinize

20 this pretty significantly.

21           And that's the reason why it's so easy to

22 do a wrong-level surgery in the thoracic spine.  It

23 is tricky.  You can't make these judgments based on

24 one image here and one image there.

25      Q.   What about using the 12th rib?
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1      A.   If you can see the 12th rib reliably on a

2 coronal cut or an axial cut of your MRI, then you

3 can absolutely use that as a reference point.  But

4 the caveat there as you can't blindly call the 12th

5 rib T12.  You have to be able to see it on the MRI

6 relative to where the area of the severe stenosis

7 is.

8      Q.   And earlier you testified that you

9 reviewed Dr. Schneier's operative report from

10 December 31, 2019; correct?

11      A.   Yes.

12      Q.   And his operative -- preoperative

13 diagnosis was thoracic myelomalacia myelopathy with

14 spinal stenosis, T10-T11; correct?

15      A.   Correct.

16      Q.   His postoperative diagnosis was the same;

17 correct?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   And this is a condition where the spinal

20 cord in the thoracic region is compressed; correct?

21      A.   Are you asking whether that is myelopathy?

22      Q.   Whether thoracic myelomalacia myelopathy

23 with spinal stenosis is a condition where the spinal

24 cord is compressed in the thoracic region?

25      A.   Yes.  The stenosis part that is specific
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1 to compression.

2      Q.   And it can result in a range of symptoms

3 affecting movements and sensation and, essentially,

4 bowel and bladder control; correct?

5      A.   Yes.

6      Q.   And in this patient, there was a

7 constriction limiting the circulatory outflow from

8 the spinal cord that needed to be removed or

9 decompressed; correct?

10      A.   It's not necessarily just a circulatory

11 issue.

12      Q.   So what was the issue in this case, then?

13      A.   Compression of the spinal cord, which can

14 both directly impact the neurologic structures as

15 well as the vascular supply of the spinal cord.

16      Q.   So this makes surgical intervention at the

17 compressed level urgent versus elective; correct?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   And the point of the surgery was to

20 address the pathology, the constriction; correct?

21      A.   Yes.

22      Q.   And the constriction was what was causing

23 the spinal cord edema; correct?

24      A.   Presumably.

25      Q.   After Dr. Schneier performed surgery on
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1 this patient, he was later admitted to Spring Valley

2 Hospital on May 29th, 2020; correct?

3      A.   Yes.

4      Q.   And Dr. Khavkin later operated on the same

5 patient; correct?

6      A.   Yes.

7      Q.   And according to the operative report

8 found within the Board's Exhibit 8 at NSBME 095 to

9 096 and corresponding to Dr. Schneier's Exhibit E,

10 the operation took place on June 5, 2020; correct?

11      A.   That sounds right.

12      Q.   And prior to that surgery, imaging was

13 performed on the thoracic and lumbar spine; right?

14      A.   Yes.

15      Q.   And prior to that surgery, Dr. Khavkin

16 requested interventional radiology to perform a

17 placement of cement in the thoracic spine to

18 facilitate localization of the correct level in the

19 surgery; correct?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   That procedure is also known as a

22 "kyphoplasty"; correct?

23      A.   Yes.

24      Q.   And according to the records, the

25 kyphoplasty was performed on June 4, 2020; correct?
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1      A.   That sounds accurate.  I would have to

2 double check.

3      Q.   Do you want to double check or will you

4 accept that representation?

5      A.   It sounds plausible.  That's fine.

6      Q.   If a patient has a laminectomy defect that

7 you can see on imaging, why would you need a

8 kyphoplasty?

9      A.   Sounds like a great question for Dr.

10 Khavkin.

11      Q.   So do you agree that it would not be -- in

12 your personal practice you would agree that it would

13 not be necessary if you already had a laminectomy

14 defect?

15      A.   I think you do whatever is needed to

16 prevent a second wrong-level surgery.

17      Q.   Do you think a kyphoplasty is needed in

18 the setting of a laminectomy defect?

19      A.   It's whatever works in your hand, and so I

20 think it is one of the many solutions to the problem

21 of wrong-level surgery.

22      Q.   Okay.  And as the expert for the Board in

23 this case, I'm asking you what your opinion is on

24 this, not what Dr. Khavkin may or may not have been

25 thinking.
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1           Do you think a laminectomy -- I'm sorry.

2 Do you think a kyphoplasty is necessary in the

3 setting of a laminectomy defect?

4      A.   I think it is a reasonable solution to the

5 problem at hand.

6      Q.   So if the patient already had a

7 laminectomy at the level adjacent to the proposed

8 kyphoplasty, why would you need the kyphoplasty to

9 serve as a surgical landmark?

10      A.   It provides even easier visualization via

11 flora.  You know, the term "necessary" implies it's

12 the only solution.  I would say it is sufficient,

13 it's a sufficient solution.  It's one of the many

14 things you could do.  It is not the only solution,

15 but it is a very reasonable solution that's within

16 the standard of care.

17      Q.   Is that your personal practice to use

18 preoperative kyphoplasty for the sole purpose of

19 establishing an unambiguous landmark?

20      A.   It depends on the case.  It is not a

21 common technique, but it is certainly a technique

22 within my skill set.

23      Q.   So being not common or uncommon, it is not

24 standard of care to perform a kyphoplasty?

25      A.   I explicitly said it is within the
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1 standard of care to perform a kyphoplasty in this

2 case.

3      Q.   Right.

4           My question was not whether it fell below

5 the standard of care; my question is, is it the

6 standard of care to perform a kyphoplasty?

7      A.   The standard of care within spine surgery

8 encompasses multiple techniques, and this is one of

9 the many techniques that is within the standard of

10 care for this case.

11      Q.   So there are other options or other means

12 available such that a kyphoplasty is not the only

13 means that would meet the standard of care?

14      A.   Correct.

15      Q.   And in this case, Dr. Khavkin requested

16 the kyphoplasty solely for the purpose of landmark

17 creation; correct?

18      A.   I wouldn't know.  That is definitely

19 something you have to ask him.  I think it could

20 serve the purpose of landmark creation.  I'm not

21 sure if he had other purposes in mind.

22      Q.   That was not something that you learned

23 from your review of the Spring Valley Hospital

24 records?

25      A.   No, I did not learn other purposes that
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1 Dr. Khavkin may have had for the kyphoplasty.

2      Q.   Okay.  And as we sit here now, you don't

3 have any opinions that there was any other purpose

4 for the kyphoplasty; correct?

5      A.   I don't know.

6      Q.   Would you rely on the records in that

7 regard?

8      A.   No.  My statement is I don't know if there

9 are other purposes for the kyphoplasty in this case.

10      Q.   That information is contained within the

11 record.  Do you disagree?

12      A.   I -- like I said, my statement is I don't

13 know other purposes.  If there is another purpose

14 among the records, I don't currently recall.

15      Q.   The primary purpose of a kyphoplasty is to

16 treat vertebral compression fractures; correct?

17      A.   That is it's most common use, yes.

18      Q.   Where was Dr. Schneier's operation in

19 reference to the level of the kyphoplasty?

20      A.   You would have to show me a picture of the

21 kyphoplasty.  Probably if there was a CT scan, I

22 would need to see that.  I don't remember where he

23 put the kyphoplasty.

24      Q.   Is that an opinion that you offered in

25 your report?
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1      A.   I knew where the kyphoplasty was at the

2 time I completed the report.  I just don't know it

3 now.

4      Q.   Do you need to refer to your report for

5 that information?

6      A.   You can tell me, like, if that information

7 you actually need me to answer.

8      Q.   I would like an answer to my question if

9 you're able to provide it.

10      A.   Let's see if I can access my report from

11 here.

12      Q.   Let me ask you this:  Isn't it important

13 for you to know where Dr. Schneier's procedure was

14 performed in relation to the kyphoplasty in order to

15 offer opinions in this case?

16      A.   Say that again?

17      Q.   Isn't it important for you to know where

18 Dr. Schneier's operation was in reference to the

19 kyphoplasty in order to offer your opinions that he

20 performed a wrong-site surgery in this case?

21      A.   No, it's not important.

22      Q.   Why not?

23      A.   Because the important bit from a clinical

24 perspective is that Dr. Schneier's surgery was one

25 level above the level he listed it as, making it an
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1 wrong-level surgery.

2           Regardless of where the kyphoplasty was

3 placed, whether you went above, one below, you know,

4 at the top end or bottom end of the decompression,

5 wherever it was as a landmark, what's important is

6 the level that was initially operated was above the

7 level of the severe stenosis, and multiple images

8 afterwards demonstrated continued severe stenosis

9 despite the original surgery.

10      Q.   I put Exhibit C at 006 on the screen.  Do

11 you see that?

12      A.   I was looking for my report.  I guess

13 we've moved on.

14           Yes, I see Exhibit C.

15      Q.   And just for the record and the benefit of

16 our Hearing Officer, there are two arrows on the

17 screen, one on the left and one on the right.  The

18 one on the right is red.  The one on the left is

19 yellow.

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   Do you see the red arrow on this image?

22      A.   Yes.

23      Q.   This is an image taken from the

24 January 22, 2020, CT thoracic spine.  Would you

25 agree that the red arrow shows the site of Doctor
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1 Schneider's laminectomy?

2      A.   Yes.

3      Q.   Do you see the yellow arrow on the image

4 on the left-hand side?

5      A.   Yes.

6      Q.   What is the arrow pointing to?

7      A.   Osteophytes.

8      Q.   Is that a landmark?

9      A.   It is a relatively unreliable landmark.

10      Q.   And why is it unreliable?

11      A.   Because it's common to have multiple

12 osteophytes.

13      Q.   Where are the other osteophytes on this

14 image?

15      A.   There are small osteophytes just above the

16 screw.  And above that, there osteophytes we see at

17 the cervical spine that we see at the very top.

18           There's a lot of osteophytes, and there

19 might be osteophytes further down.  I don't know.

20      Q.   And are any of those osteophytes even

21 remotely close to the size of the osteophytes next

22 to the yellow arrow?

23      A.   The rest of them are small.

24      Q.   Significantly smaller, you'd agree?

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   Are any of the other osteophytes within

2 the operative field?

3      A.   What are you defining as the operative

4 field?

5      Q.   Where the edema is within the cord.

6      A.   Can you bring up your exhibit with the

7 edema in the cord, in the sagittal in the thoracic

8 spine that you have?

9      Q.   Yes.

10      A.   It looks like the most significant

11 stenosis is one level above the large osteophytes.

12           But like I said, the most reliable

13 landmark.

14      Q.   And for the record, we have gone back to

15 Exhibit C at 005.

16           You are now able to visualize the edema in

17 the cord at the level above the osteophyte; correct?

18      A.   Again, not the most robust conclusion

19 because in order to accurately assess where the

20 edema and the stenosis are the worst, you need

21 multiple series and multiple images throughout each

22 series with careful cross-referencing.

23           But certainly from this image, it looks

24 like below the arrow is an area of potentially

25 significant stenosis.  The way to confirm that would
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1 be with cross-referencing axial images, which are

2 not provided here.

3      Q.   Earlier, I believe you testified that you

4 did not -- or, no, you did testify that you reviewed

5 the actual imaging for the kyphoplasty; correct?

6      A.   Yes.

7      Q.   And I will represent to you -- and for the

8 record, on the screen is Exhibit C at 007 -- this is

9 taken from the kyphoplasty.

10           Do you see the red arrow on the screen?

11      A.   Yes.

12      Q.   Would you agree that the arrow points to

13 and shows the vertebrate where the kyphoplasty was

14 performed on June 4, 2020?

15      A.   Yes.  Ideally, you would show me a

16 sagittal or a lateral image as well because it is

17 possible for that arrow to be actually pointing to

18 one level above or below the kyphoplasty, and you

19 need to cross-reference all images to be sure.

20      Q.   And for the record, the kyphoplasty

21 material appears darker than the surrounding

22 vertebral structure; correct?

23      A.   Yes.

24      Q.   In your review of the records, do you know

25 that right after the kyphoplasty was performed, an
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1 MRI of the thoracic spine was also performed to

2 confirm the kyphoplasty site; correct?

3      A.   Yes.

4      Q.   I've now put on the screen Exhibit C at

5 012.  This is an image taken from the June 4, 2020,

6 thoracic MRI.

7           Do you see the red arrow on the screen?

8      A.   Yes.

9      Q.   Would you agree with me that the red arrow

10 is pointing at the vertebrae where the kyphoplasty

11 was performed?

12      A.   Yes, it appears so.  You're giving me,

13 like, the most washed-out image with a little bit of

14 the cement, but it's plausible that that's the

15 kyphoplasty.

16      Q.   Yes.  You can kind of see the

17 darker-colored material within that vertebrae;

18 correct?

19      A.   Yes.

20      Q.   And now I put on a darker image for you,

21 013, do you see the red arrow?

22      A.   Yes.

23      Q.   And you'd agree you're still able to see

24 the kyphoplasty in the vertebra next to this level;

25 correct?
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1      A.   Yes.

2      Q.   Okay.  I'm going to share a different

3 screen with you.  I'm going to have to find it.

4           Okay.  I shared with you from Dr.

5 Schneier's Exhibit E, as in elephant, it's the

6 Spring Valley Hospital Records at pages 952 and 953,

7 the reference points.

8      A.   Yes.

9      Q.   Oh, I'm sorry.  That's the wrong reference

10 point.

11      A.   Okay.

12      Q.   Same exhibit, pages 949 through 951.  This

13 is also at the IC's Exhibit 7, pages 91 through 92.

14      A.   Okay.

15      Q.   Can you read this or do you need me to

16 there it bigger.

17      A.   I think I can do it.

18      Q.   Okay.  And so you'd agree that this is a

19 report for a kyphoplasty performed on June 4, 2020;

20 correct?

21      A.   It appeal it's a vertebroplasty, not a

22 kyphoplasty.

23      Q.   Are you aware of -- well, are you

24 disputing that there was more than one procedure

25 performed on the vertebrae on June 4, 2020?
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1      A.   No.  I'm just pointing out that it's a

2 vertebroplasty, not a kyphoplasty, according to this

3 report.

4      Q.   What is the difference?

5      A.   Kyphoplasty involves inflating a balloon

6 in the vertebral body first.

7      Q.   Okay.  And what does it say under the

8 History section?

9      A.   "Localization for surgery, other, please

10 specify."

11      Q.   And the kyphoplasty is used to provide

12 treatment; correct?

13      A.   This is a vertebroplasty.

14      Q.   I understand.  I'm asking you a question.

15           The kyphoplasty procedure is used to

16 provide treatment; correct?

17      A.   Used to provide treatment at times, sure.

18      Q.   That is why this radiologist did not use a

19 balloon; correct?

20      A.   I don't know.

21      Q.   Okay.  Can you please read the line

22 starting at -- well, I'm sorry.  Strike that.

23           You would agree that this report provides,

24 "The T11 vertebral body is identified by counting

25 cranial from the L5 vertebral body"; correct?
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1      A.   That's what that sentence states, yes.

2      Q.   And you'd agree that the report further

3 provides, "A 10-gauge introducer needle was advanced

4 via a right transpedicular approach to the posterior

5 fourth of the T11 vertebral body"; correct?

6      A.   Yes.

7      Q.   And you'd agree that on page 951, the

8 report provides, "Impression:  Status post T11

9 kyphoplasty"; correct?

10      A.   Yes.

11      Q.   And that this procedure was performed by

12 Dr. Hoque; correct?

13      A.   Yes.

14      Q.   And so you'd agree that Dr. Hoque

15 performed this procedure at T11; correct?

16      A.   This kind of gets us back to the original

17 point of when you had an image with the red and the

18 green arrow and you asked me whether, you know, if I

19 can identify the number and I said, "It depends on

20 how you count."

21           Sometimes it's going to be T11, maybe in

22 another form of counting it's T12, maybe the last

23 form of counting is T10.  The important part is

24 really where that cement is relative to the severe

25 stenosis.
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1           The post-vertebroplasty MRI that

2 determines, really, the importance of the location.

3 It's its localization relative to the pathology

4 where this becomes important, not just the T11, et

5 cetera, number scheme.

6      Q.   Right.

7           But given that you were unable to provide

8 me with your opinion based on your review of the

9 imaging that I showed you, what level you thought

10 was depicted by a certain arrow, would you agree

11 that Dr. Hoque was able to form an opinion, and that

12 he opined the level of the kyphoplasty was performed

13 at T11?

14      A.   I know that is completely missing the

15 point.

16      Q.   That's -- I understand that you might

17 think that I am missing the point, but I am asking

18 you a question, and I would really appreciate if you

19 would answer my question.

20      A.   My answer is that the important part is

21 that the same vertebral body, given different

22 methods of counting, can be referred to as "T11" or

23 "T10" or "T12," and then important part in location

24 of that vertebral body in the cement is relative to

25 the pathology, not the number assigned to it.
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1           MS. THOMAS:  Move to strike that last

2 answer.

3           Madam Court Reporter, would you please

4 read back to my last question?

5           THE REPORTER:  Yes.  If you could just

6 give me one moment.

7           MS. THOMAS:  Thank you.

8           THE REPORTER:  You're welcome.

9                (Record read.)

10           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Doctor, do you

11 understand the question that was asked?

12           THE WITNESS:  So my answer was that it is

13 not that the radiologist was able to identify T11

14 correctly and I was not, it is that the vertebral

15 body that can be referred to as T11 in one report

16 may be referred to as T10 in a different report, and

17 it's the ambiguity of the numbering schemes that's

18 important.

19           So it's not that I can't identify a level

20 and the radiologist can; it's that there's ambiguity

21 to what one person calls "T11" and another person

22 calls "T10."

23           MS. THOMAS:  All right.  I put Exhibit C

24 back on the screen.  I apologize.  I want to use

25 something different.
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1           I am sharing my screen with side-by-side

2 excerpts of Exhibit C.  For the record, the

3 left-hand side is a image taken from the

4 December 30, 2019, thoracic MRI, and the image on

5 the right is from the thoracic MRI taken on June 4,

6 2020, after Dr. Hoque's kyphoplasty.

7           Are you able to see that or would you like

8 me to make a bigger, Doctor?

9      A.   Can you make it a little bigger would be

10 great.

11      Q.   How's that?

12      A.   That looks good.

13      Q.   Are you able to confirm that on the image

14 on the right-hand side from the June 4, 2020,

15 thoracic MRI shows the kyphoplasty next to the red

16 arrow?

17      A.   Yes.

18      Q.   I'm sorry.  Did you say yes?

19      A.   Yes, I did.

20      Q.   Okay.  And on the left-hand side from the

21 December 30, 2019, thoracic MRI, do you see the red

22 arrow --

23           MS. THOMAS:  And for the record, for the

24 sake of the Hearing Officer, the arrow is a single

25 arrow on the left-hand side of the left screen.
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1 There are two other arrows on the same -- on the

2 left-hand side, on the right part of the image.  I

3 know that I just created a bad record.

4           Are you able to see three arrows, Mr.

5 Hearing Officer?

6           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Yes, I can.

7           MS. THOMAS:  Okay.  So it's the one arrow

8 by itself on the image on the left-hand side, that

9 arrow is red.  I'll start on the question over.

10 BY MS. THOMAS:

11      Q.   Do you agree that the red arrow on the

12 left-hand side is pointing towards the same

13 vertebral level depicted by the red arrow on the

14 June 4th thoracic MRI?

15      A.   Most likely.  But to be 100 percent sure,

16 you need the localizer images.

17      Q.   Do you see below the red arrow on the

18 left-hand film the osteophytes that we've been

19 discussing, the large osteophytes?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   And on the June 4, 2020, thoracic MRI, are

22 you able to see the large osteophytes below the red

23 arrow?

24      A.   Yes.

25      Q.   So would you agree now that the red arrow
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1 on each screen points to the site of where the

2 kyphoplasty is performed?

3      A.   As I said before, most likely, but the

4 most reliable way to be sure is the localizer

5 images, because, as per my testimony earlier,

6 osteophytes are not the most reliable marker.

7      Q.   Do you see the two white arrows the

8 December 30, 2019, MRI?

9      A.   Yes.

10      Q.   Would you agree that the white arrows

11 point to the edema within the spinal cord?

12      A.   Definitely for the bottom one.  The top

13 one, I'd have to see more images to be sure.

14      Q.   Do you see the yellow arrows on the

15 June 4, 2020, MRI?

16      A.   Yes.

17      Q.   Would you agree that the yellow arrows

18 point to the spinal cord at the same level as

19 depicted by the white arrows on the December 30,

20 2019, MRI?

21      A.   Yes.

22      Q.   You'd agree that the spinal cord has

23 expanded in the area of the bottom yellow arrow from

24 the same area marked by the bottom white arrow on

25 the December 30, 2019, MRI; correct?
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1      A.   The images what?

2      Q.   Expanded.  The spinal cord has expanded.

3      A.   We would really need an axial image of

4 both to be sure.  And from my recollection, it went

5 from severe stenosis to continued severe stenosis.

6      Q.   My question was:  Can you see that the

7 spinal cord has expanded in the areas depicted by

8 the bottom arrows from the December 30, 2019, MRI to

9 the June 4, 2019, MRI?

10      A.   And my answer is I can't conclusively say.

11      Q.   So you can't say that it didn't either;

12 correct?

13      A.   Correct.

14      Q.   You'd agree that the edema in the cord

15 next to the white arrows is no longer present next

16 to the yellow arrows on the June 4, 2020, image;

17 correct?

18      A.   You can't really make that comparison.

19      Q.   You can't?

20      A.   No, ma'am.

21      Q.   I've put Exhibit E, Spring Valley Hospital

22 records, Schneider 953, back on the screen.

23           Do you see that document?

24      A.   Exhibit E, Spring Valley Hospital Medical

25 Center.  I'm seeing MRI thoracic spine report.
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1      Q.   Okay.  And I understand that you are not

2 able to see the resolved edema within the cord based

3 on the imaging that I showed you.

4           But you would agree that the interpreting

5 radiologist in his June 4, 2020, report found that

6 "The spinal cord demonstrates normal signal

7 intensity"; correct?

8      A.   I'm just looking for that specific -- yes,

9 I do see that.

10      Q.   And that radiologist, Dr. Singh, reviewed

11 all of the imaging, not just but excerpts that I put

12 up on the screen; correct?

13      A.   I apologize.  Can you ask that question

14 again?

15      Q.   Yes.

16           So as the interpreting radiologist,

17 Dr. Singh, reviewed the totality of the images that

18 were produced in the June 4, 2020, MRI of the

19 thoracic spine; correct?

20      A.   Presumably.  I don't really know what he

21 reviewed.

22      Q.   Well, you're not suggesting or you don't

23 hold an opinion in this case that he didn't review

24 the entirety of the imaging; correct?

25      A.   I have no opinion on what imaging he
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1 reviewed.

2      Q.   Okay.  And you have no opinion on whether

3 his interpretation of that imaging was correct or

4 incorrect; correct?  Or is that accurate?

5      A.   Correct.

6      Q.   And normal signal intensity in the cord

7 demonstrates an absence of edema; correct?

8      A.   Correct.

9      Q.   So Dr. Singh's dictation is consistent

10 with what can be visualized next to the yellow

11 arrows on the June 4, 2020, image; correct?

12      A.   Dr. Singh's dictation is consistent

13 with -- what about the arrows?

14      Q.   What can be visualized next to the arrows

15 on the June 4, 2020, image.

16      A.   Could you be more specific in terms of

17 what you're asking?

18      Q.   The absence of cord edema?

19      A.   Correct.  Dr. -- is it Dr. Singh?  The

20 radiologist report indicates a lack of edema.

21      Q.   Do you have any criticisms of the June,

22 2020, surgery performed on this patient by Dr.

23 Khavkin?

24      A.   I do not.

25      Q.   And you'd agree that there are records
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1 showing that Dr. Khavkin offered the patient

2 additional spine decompression after his June,

3 2020th -- I'm sorry -- June, 2020, surgery; correct?

4      A.   I don't recall.

5      Q.   It's not uncommon in patients with

6 congenital spinal stenosis to have multiple

7 surgeries spanning many years; correct?

8      A.   Correct.

9      Q.   And you don't disagree that the patient's

10 neurological examination was normal, as documented

11 by Dr. Khavkin and Dr. Valencia, throughout mid to

12 late 2020 and through 2021; correct?

13      A.   I will look at the notes.  I don't know if

14 it was completely normal, if there were -- was

15 sustained neurologic deficits.

16      Q.   Do you want to go ahead and look at your

17 notes, or are you not offering an opinion in that

18 regard?

19      A.   Not offering an opinion.

20      Q.   So the absence of an abnormal neurological

21 examination would suggest that there were no

22 permanent neurological deficits; correct?

23      A.   I can't opine on the impact of delaying

24 surgery and delaying appropriate intervention had on

25 this patient.
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1      Q.   Did you review the entirety of the records

2 contained within Dr. Schneier's prehearing statement

3 and culled exhibits in the binder that you received?

4      A.   No.

5           MS. THOMAS:  I would move to admit Exhibit

6 C, the combined imaging studies of the patient as

7 marked, and the excerpt of Exhibit C, 005 and 013,

8 the side-by-side from December 31, 2019, and June 4,

9 2020.

10           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Mr. Shogren?

11           MR. SHOGREN:  That would be admitted as a

12 separate exhibit?

13           MS. THOMAS:  I am fine admitting them in

14 place of the actual disks contained in Exhibit C.

15 Otherwise, I'm happy to renumber them.

16           MR. SHOGREN:  I have no objection.

17           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.

18 They're going to be admitted, then.

19                (Respondent's Exhibit C was

20                admitted.)

21           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  However, I'm

22 going to need to make sure that I know how to access

23 this stuff on disks, or if we're not doing the

24 disks, if we're doing something else.  Counsel is

25 going to have to figure that out so that we have
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1 something.

2           The witness has testified extensively

3 regarding those images with the various add-on,

4 colored arrows, that sort of thing, so I just have

5 to make sure that we have those that we can

6 access -- that I can access.

7           MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  I can email those over

8 to you and the court reporter.  I have no further

9 questions of this witness.

10           If we need to take a break in between now

11 and the next witness or after Mr. Shogren completes

12 any follow-up questions he has, I'm happy to email

13 those over, if you want to provide your email

14 address to send them to, and also to ensure that the

15 court reporter gets them.

16           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  That's the most

17 important part.  The second part is that'll be an

18 official record.  Let's hold that.

19           Mr. Shogren, how much time do you have do

20 you think?

21           MR. SHOGREN:  I'll try to be brief.  I

22 don't know how long.

23           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Yes, let's try

24 to be brief so we can take an afternoon break.

25 Thank you.

Page 176

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200



CORRECTED COPY

1 REDIRECT EXAMINATION

2 BY MR. SHOGREN:

3      Q.   Dr. Goz, I just have a couple of further

4 questions.

5           When did you graduate medical school?

6      A.   I believe 2014.

7      Q.   When did you become licensed in Nevada?

8      A.   In 2020.

9      Q.   As a spinal surgeon in your experience,

10 would you say you're familiar with the standard of

11 care to which spinal surgeons are held?

12      A.   Yes.

13      Q.   Would you say you're familiar with what

14 the standard of care would have been in 2019?

15      A.   Yes.

16           MS. THOMAS:  Late objection.  That's calls

17 for speculation.

18           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Overruled.

19 BY MR. SHOGREN:

20      Q.   In your opinion, has the standard care for

21 spinal surgeons changed between 2019 and 2020?

22      A.   No.

23           MS. THOMAS:  Objection.  Calls for

24 speculation.

25           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Overruled.
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1           THE WITNESS:  I answered no.

2           MR. SHOGREN:  I didn't hear if Mr. Burcham

3 ruled on that objection.

4           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  I did.  I

5 overrulled.

6           MR. SHOGREN:  Okay.

7 BY MR. SHOGREN:

8      Q.   Dr. Goz, when you received records from

9 the Board regarding Patient A and Dr. Schneier,

10 roughly how many pages did you review?

11      A.   I don't know.  I can give you a quick

12 estimate.

13           Probably somewhere between be 4,000 and

14 5,000, I would assume.  Not assume, but I would

15 estimate between 4- and 5,000.

16      Q.   And were all those pages relevant in your

17 determining whether or not a Dr. Schneier departed

18 from the standard care?

19      A.   They were not all pertinent records, no.

20      Q.   Based on your review of the records, can

21 you say when Dr. Schneier's care of the patient

22 ended?

23      A.   That is hard to say, but I would -- I

24 think it's fair to say when Dr. Khavkin took over

25 care is when Dr. Schneier's responsibility ended.
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1      Q.   And in your review of the records, did

2 Dr. Schneier, was he involved with the Dr. Khavkin's

3 surgery?

4      A.   Not that I could tell.

5           MR. SHOGREN:  No further questions.

6           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Thank you,

7 Doctor.

8           THE WITNESS:  Thank you, guys.

9           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  We will

10 --

11           MR. SHOGREN:  Thank you, Dr. Goz.

12           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  We will take our

13 afternoon break, ten minutes.  We're off the record.

14                (Recess from 2:54 P.M. to 3:04

15                P.M.)

16           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Back on the

17 record.  All right.  Mr. Shogren, you had some

18 comment you wanted to make or no?

19           MR. SHOGREN:  That was my comment about

20 the time.

21           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Time.  Okay, so

22 what we're doing is we're just working with that.

23           Ms. Thomas -- well, excuse me.

24           Mr. Shogren, any other witnesses on your

25 end of things?
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1           MR. SHOGREN:  No other witnesses.

2           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.

3           Ms. Thomas, do you want to make an opening

4 or you want to --

5           MS. THOMAS:  We'll just move forward, and

6 I can do a closing.

7           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Good idea.

8 Okay.  Go ahead, ball's in your court.

9           MS. THOMAS:  All right.  We are calling as

10 our first witness Dr. Raj Agarwal.

11           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Doctor, would

12 you please state your full name for the record, and

13 then I'm going to have the court reporter swear you

14 in.

15           THE WITNESS:  Okay.  My first name is

16 Rajneesh, R-A-J-N-E-E-S-H, and last name is Agarwal,

17 A-G-R-A-W-A-L.

18                (The oath was administered.)

19 DIRECT EXAMINATION

20 BY MS. THOMAS:

21      Q.   Good afternoon, Dr. Agarwal.  Could you

22 please provide us with a quick summary of your

23 background, your education, training, experience?

24      A.   I'm a neuroradiologist.  I do diagnostic

25 neuroradiologist as well as interventional
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1 neuroradiology.

2           I did my medical school at Northwestern

3 University in Chicago.  I did my fellowship in both

4 interventional and diagnostic neuroradiology at

5 Henry Ford Hospital.

6           I came to Las Vegas right after my

7 fellowship in 1998, and I've been in practice with

8 Desert Radiology since then, 27 years.

9      Q.   And you're a board-certified

10 neuroradiologist; correct?

11      A.   Correct.

12      Q.   You've been asked to review some films in

13 this case?

14      A.   Yes.

15      Q.   Differentiating for a moment between films

16 and radiology reports, what specific films have you

17 reviewed?

18      A.   So I've looked at the MRI of the lumbar

19 spine from December 27, 2019, Sunrise Hospital; MRI

20 kyphoplasty spine, December 30, 2019, Sunrise

21 Hospital; the intraoperative thoracic spine report

22 from December 31, 2019; CT scan of the thoracic

23 spine, January 22, 2020; intraoperative film report

24 January 22, 2020; MRI thoracic spine February 4,

25 2020; MRI thoracic spine, February 15, 2020; MRI
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1 lumbar spine, June 4, 2020; MRI thoracic spine,

2 June 4, 2020; and CT scan thoracic spine, June 5,

3 2020.

4      Q.   And in performing your review, did you

5 notice any anomalies in this patient's spine?

6      A.   Yes, I did.

7      Q.   And what were they?

8      A.   Yes.  So this patient has what's called a

9 "segmentation anomaly."  What means it is that some

10 of the vertebral bodies and disc spaces are fused,

11 and the most common site is -- we see at the lumbar

12 sacral junction of the L5, S1, which is not that

13 uncommon, where you will see either the S1 segment,

14 which looks like a lumbar vertebral body, but we

15 call it "lumbarized," the L5 vertebral body can look

16 like the sacrum, we call it "sacralized."  In this

17 case, what was a little bit unusual was that the L5

18 vertebral body was completely sacralized.

19           So by that, what I mean is that the L5

20 vertebral body and S1 vertebral body had no disc

21 space so it was completely bony fused, that's a

22 congenital anomaly, and because of that, when you're

23 numbering, it becomes very difficult because the L5

24 level looks exactly like the S1 level.

25      Q.   Did this anomaly have any effect or impact
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1 on the interpretation of this patient's radiological

2 studies?

3      A.   Yes.  And if you look at all the reports,

4 depending upon where the scout film was taken, the

5 numbering is different between all radiologists and

6 neuroradiologists.

7           So, for example, if you are reading a

8 study and you use the lumbar sculpture -- which we

9 do all the time -- to count, then you will get a

10 different level, versus if you use the cervical

11 spine to count, you get a different levels.

12           One example is if you use the lumbar spine

13 to count, the anatomic or embryologic L5 vertebral

14 body looks like the S1 level.  And so the L1

15 vertebral body will have small ribs, so that's why

16 there's a difference -- that's why there's what we

17 call "anatomic ambiguity."

18      Q.   And I'm going to share my screen.  Give me

19 just a moment here.

20           I put on the screen Exhibit C, the

21 combined imaging studies of the patients that have

22 been marked.  I'm looking at 001.  Can you see it

23 that?

24      A.   Yes.

25      Q.   And this is the -- this is taken from the
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1 December 27, 2019, lumbar MRI.

2           You just testified that this is a study

3 you've reviewed in forming your opinions?

4      A.   That's correct.

5      Q.   The corresponding reports for what is on

6 the screen can be found at Exhibit B, pages 13

7 through 15.  I'll hand that to you for your

8 convenience.

9      A.   Yes.

10      Q.   Please take a look at that report and let

11 me know when you finish reading it.

12      A.   Yes.

13      Q.   Okay.  And moving back to Exhibit C at

14 0012, you see the green arrows and red arrows on the

15 screen?

16      A.   Yes, I do.

17      Q.   And for the record, and the red arrows are

18 at the bottom of the screen and the green arrow is

19 at the top.

20           Based on the corresponding report by Brock

21 Bleazard, M.D., what vertebral level is he reading

22 for the vertebra depicted next to the red arrow?

23      A.   He's reading that as one.

24      Q.   And based on Dr. Bleazard's corresponding

25 reports, what vertebral level is he attributing to
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1 the vertebrae depicted next to the green arrow on

2 this image?

3      A.   That would be the L1.

4      Q.   So that would make two levels above the

5 green arrow T12 and T11, respectively, according to

6 Dr. Bleazard's read?

7      A.   That is correct.

8      Q.   And for the record, 002 that I just placed

9 on the screen is another image taken from the same

10 lumbar MRI.

11           Would you agree that the red arrow is at

12 S1 and the green arrow is at L1, according to Dr.

13 Bleazard's interpretation?

14      A.   That is correct.

15      Q.   Same thing with the Exhibit 3, this is

16 another image taken from this lumbar MRI.  I'm

17 sorry, not Exhibit 3.  Exhibit C at 003.

18           The red arrow is at S1 and the green arrow

19 is at L1, according to Dr. Bleazard's

20 interpretation; correct?

21      A.   That is correct.

22      Q.   I believe you already testified about the

23 impact that such a manner of counting and vertebral

24 designation have with regard to this patient?

25      A.   That is correct.
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1      Q.   Would the patient's bilateral hypoplastic

2 ribs present another anatomical anomaly in addition

3 to his L5 developmental segmentation anomaly?

4      A.   Yes.

5           So these anomalies usually go hand in

6 hand, and so because we are reading the completely

7 sacralized L5 vertebral body S1, the L1 vertebral

8 body ends up having small ribs.

9      Q.   And both of these anomalies of the sites

10 present at birth?

11      A.   No.  This is -- this is -- so, yes, this

12 occurred from birth.  This patient had at birth.

13      Q.   Is this patient's variant spinal anatomy

14 out of the ordinary?

15      A.   What's unusual about this case is the

16 complete sacralization of L5.  We also get some

17 partial, but it's clear in this case, when the

18 radiologists who read it at the time they were

19 reading the study, they completely assumed just

20 looking at the lumbar spine films, that the S1 level

21 was S1.  Usually we have some clues.

22           They didn't even comment on the report

23 because they thought that was the S1.

24      Q.   And going back to Exhibit 3 at 003, are

25 there any other findings of significance on this
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1 image?

2      A.   Yes.  For me as a neuroradiologist, you

3 look for -- when you have ambiguity, you look for

4 other clues to give you hints for these patients.

5           Fortunately, this patient, you know, Dr.

6 Bleazard had one large osteophyte at the T12 of L1

7 level, based on this counting, that you could use as

8 a clue.  Now, if he had a lot of osteophytes,

9 multiple big osteophytes, then you can't use it.

10           But in this case, this patient only had

11 one large osteophyte, so that's a clue.  The

12 hypoplastic T12 ribs are clues at the L1.

13      Q.   And where is the large osteophytes on this

14 image, Exhibit C at 003?

15      A.   If we are counting at the L1, the

16 osteophyte is just above it right there.

17      Q.   So the green arrow at the top goes to L1,

18 and then where is the osteophyte in relation to

19 that?

20      A.   So that was -- the green arrow is the one

21 with the osteophyte, so it would to be T12-L1,

22 counting from the lumbar spine.

23      Q.   So is it this black, almost half circle to

24 the left above the green arrow?

25      A.   That's correct, yes.
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1           Osteophyte is just a large bone spur and

2 it's bone, so it looks dark on an MRI.

3      Q.   Can an osteophyte like this be a useful

4 landmark?

5      A.   So in this patient, yes.

6      Q.   Where is the osteophyte on this view in

7 relation to the severe spinal stenosis with cord

8 edema?

9      A.   You can see it.  This is a midline scan,

10 and so midline sagittal images where we most see the

11 spinal cord, the center, and as neuroradiologist,

12 that's where we use degree of -- spinal stenosis

13 cannot occur circumferentially, but the midline cut

14 is the most important cut, because if the spinal

15 cord is compressed, it will always be compressed in

16 the midline also.

17           And so you can see it just above the one

18 level.  If we're calling this T12 a "one," then the

19 severe spinal stenosis is at T11-T12, one level

20 above.

21      Q.   And so the last partial vertebrae that can

22 be visualized on Exhibit C at 003, is that what

23 you're counting is T11?

24      A.   That is correct.

25      Q.   And then the one below it is T12?
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1      A.   Correct.

2      Q.   And then the one next to the green arrow

3 is L1, according to Dr. Bleazard's read of this

4 12/27/19 MRI?

5      A.   That is correct.  And that's why -- he saw

6 that severe stenosis, and that's why he recommended

7 more evaluation.

8      Q.   So is it a correct statement that,

9 regardless of how the vertebrae are numbered, there

10 is severe spinal stenosis with cord edema at the

11 level above the large interior osteophytes?

12      A.   That is correct.

13      Q.   I'm going to put on the screen Exhibit C

14 at 004.  This is an image taken from the patients

15 December 30, 2019, thoracic MRI.

16           This is a study that you reviewed

17 informing your opinions, correct?

18      A.   That is correct.

19      Q.   And 004, this image is called a "scout

20 film"?

21      A.   That is correct.

22      Q.   Do you see the right arrow on the screen?

23      A.   Yes, I do.

24      Q.   It is pointing at a vertebra that has an X

25 over it.  Would you agree?
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1      A.   That is correct.

2      Q.   Would you agree that the X is placed over

3 T1?

4      A.   That is correct.

5      Q.   Do you see at the bottom of the screen

6 where it says "I 268" in the middle?

7      A.   Yes.

8      Q.   Based on this image and the placement of

9 the X over T1, is the vertebra that the I 268 is on

10 top of T11?

11      A.   That is correct.

12      Q.   So would you agree that the scout film

13 does not show the entirety of the thoracic spine?

14      A.   That is correct.

15           But, yes, the scout film's purpose is

16 purely for numbering.

17      Q.   And now moving to Exhibit C at 005.  This

18 is taken from the same December 30, 2019, MRI

19 thoracic?

20      A.   That is correct.

21      Q.   The corresponding report for what is on

22 the screen can be found at Exhibit C, pages 16 to

23 17, which I've just handed you.

24           Would you take a look at that report and

25 let me know when you finished reading it.
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1                (Witness reviewed document.)

2           THE WITNESS:  Yes, I have.

3 BY MS. THOMAS:

4      Q.   And moving back to Exhibit C at 005, based

5 on the corresponding reports by Raisa Lev, M.D., are

6 there differences in interpreting the level of

7 pathology in this patient from Dr. Bleazard's report

8 we discussed?

9      A.   Yes, that is correct.  Dr. Lev is purely

10 counting from the cervical spine, and so she comes

11 up to the conclusion that the severe stenosis is at

12 T10-T11.

13           When you count from the lumbar spine, it's

14 the same level as T11-T12.

15      Q.   And does she designate the large

16 osteophytes at a different level than Dr. Bleazard?

17      A.   That is correct.

18      Q.   Where is that osteophytes according to her

19 interpretation?

20      A.   So, again, just looking at the report, the

21 degree of the stenosis she describing is at this

22 level and the large osteophyte is one level above,

23 and so that is how you know that the findings of the

24 lumbar spine and the thoracic spine, even though

25 they both read at different levels, are the same
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1 level.

2      Q.   Dr. Bleazard's report placed the same

3 osteophyte at T12-L1?

4      A.   That is correct.

5      Q.   Do you see the red arrows on the screen?

6      A.   Yes.

7      Q.   Based on the corresponding report by Dr.

8 Lev, what vertebral level is she reading for the

9 vertebra depicted next to the red arrow?

10      A.   T10.

11      Q.   Dr. Bleazard's interpretation was that

12 this -- for this level next to the red arrow was

13 what?

14      A.   T11.

15      Q.   Do you have an opinion on these

16 differences in Dr. Bleazard's report and Dr. Lev's

17 interpretations are the same level taken three days

18 apart?

19      A.   So the degree of stenosis and core

20 compression is the same -- it's the same -- they

21 both talking about the same area, they are just

22 labeling them differently based on different scout

23 films they used.

24      Q.   Was Dr. Lev counting downward from the

25 cervical spine when counting the patient's vertebra?
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1      A.   That is correct.

2      Q.   And you heard earlier and now based on our

3 discussion of the differences between Dr. Lev and

4 Dr. Bleazard's interpretation, would you agree that

5 there seems to be ambiguity in assigning vertebral

6 levels on this patient?

7      A.   That is correct.

8      Q.   Would you agree that there is abnormal T2

9 hyperintensity within the cord at the level above

10 the red arrow?

11      A.   It is at the level and above the level,

12 that is correct.

13      Q.   I'm going to share a different screen with

14 you.

15      A.   Okay.

16      Q.   I have shared with you what's been

17 identified and admitted as Exhibit C, 005 and 013,

18 side-by-side thoracic.  The image on the left is

19 from the December 30, 2019, scan, and the image on

20 the right is from the June 4, 2020 scan.  I will

21 make this bigger for you.  I just wanted to orient

22 you the differences.

23           Would you agree that the red arrow on the

24 image to the left is at the same level as the red

25 arrow on the image to the right?
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1      A.   That is correct.

2      Q.   Do you see the two white arrows on the

3 left image?

4      A.   Yes.

5      Q.   Would you agree that those areas point to

6 edema within the spinal cord?

7      A.   That is correct.

8      Q.   The image on the right is taken from the

9 patient's June 4, 2020, thoracic MRI.

10           As previously discussed, this was a scan

11 that you reviewed in forming your opinion?

12      A.   That is correct.

13      Q.   Do you see the yellow arrows on the image

14 on the right?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   Would you agree that the yellow arrows are

17 placed at the same level as the white arrows on the

18 left image?

19      A.   Yes.

20      Q.   Do you have any opinions on whether there

21 are any differences in what the yellow arrows depict

22 from the image on the left?

23      A.   Yes.  There is two things, and I've looked

24 at the whole studies, the whole -- the whole exam.

25           The edema, the swelling, in the June,
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1 2020, had completely resolved.  It was very obvious

2 on the prior exam.  And the second is that the

3 spinal stenosis that we have seen previously with

4 the cord edema on top of the spinal stenosis, that

5 spinal canal is, you know, decompressed.

6      Q.   So does this June 4, 2020, thoracic MRI

7 confirm resolution of the spinal cord edema?

8      A.   Yes.

9      Q.   This MRI of the thoracic spine was taken

10 prior to Dr. Khavkin's surgery on June 5, 2020;

11 correct?

12      A.   That is correct.

13      Q.   So what does this all mean?

14      A.   So the -- despite the ambiguous numbering

15 system, the surgery was done at the level that was

16 the tightest, the spinal stenosis, by Dr. Schneier.

17 And there was decompression of the spinal canal and

18 there was resolution of the spinal edema, based on

19 imaging.

20      Q.   And I'm going to share with you again the

21 Exhibit C of the combined imaging studies for this

22 patient at page 006.

23           Have you reviewed the January 22, 2020, CT

24 of the thoracic spine?

25      A.   Yes, I have.
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1      Q.   And does this scan demonstrate to you

2 whether the appropriate level was decompressed?

3      A.   Yes.

4           And again, you know, you can look at it

5 now -- of course, I had all the imaging so I could

6 count from multiple levels.  But for the sake of

7 simplicity on this exam, you can see that there are

8 no large osteophytes except at this area, large

9 area, and we know that the level of stenosis was a

10 level above it.

11           You can see that the entire bone, what's

12 called a "wide splenectomy," so the entire posterior

13 bone has been taken out to decompress the spinal

14 canal.  This is your vertebral body behind where the

15 maximum stenosis is, and the disc space and attached

16 bone.

17      Q.   The yellow arrow on the left side of this

18 image, what does that point to?

19      A.   That's the osteophyte.

20      Q.   And the red arrow on the right side of the

21 image, what does that point to?

22      A.   The laminectomy site.

23           THE REPORTER:  Doctor, can I get

24 clarification from you, please?  This is the court

25 reporter.  When you responded, did you say "osteo
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1 site" or "osteophyte"?

2           THE WITNESS:  Osteophyte, P-H-Y-T-E.

3           THE REPORTER:  Okay.  Thank you.

4 BY MS. THOMAS:

5      Q.   So based on the December 31, 2019,

6 operative report, the January 22, 2020, CT thoracic,

7 and the June 4, 2020, thoracic, are you able to

8 state whether Dr. Schneier performed the

9 decompression at the correct level of the most

10 serious pathology?

11      A.   Yes.  The most serious pathology that the

12 patient presented with December, 2019, that was the

13 area that Dr. Schneier operated on.

14      Q.   Did the June 4, 2020, MRI of the thoracic

15 spine show resolution of the cord edema previously

16 noted on Dr. Lev's December 30, 2019, MRI thoracic

17 report?

18      A.   Yes, it did.

19      Q.   Do you believe that Dr. Schneier's

20 December 31, 2019, surgery provided a positive

21 response?

22      A.   Based on the imaging, yes.

23      Q.   And it's true that the pathology that

24 required immediate urgent intervention was one level

25 above the large anterior endplate osteophytes?
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1      A.   That is correct.  That was one of the

2 landmarks.

3      Q.   While multiple radiologists over multiple

4 dates, locations, and spine segments imaged came up

5 with different and inconsistent vertebra counts, the

6 landmark that remains unchanged is the large

7 anterior endplate osteophyte; correct?

8      A.   That is correct.

9      Q.   I've put the Exhibit C, 005 and 013,

10 side-by-side image back on the screen.

11           Do you see that?

12      A.   Yes.

13      Q.   On the image to the right taken from the

14 June 4, 2020, MRI of the thoracic spine, do you see

15 the site of the kyphoplasty?

16      A.   Yes.

17      Q.   Where is it in relation to the arrows of

18 the screen?

19      A.   The kyphoplasty is right there next to the

20 red arrow.

21      Q.   And in front of you there is the Board

22 exhibit book, it's a spiral binder, it's

23 spiral-bound.  Please turn to Exhibit 7, page 91.

24           Do you see that Dr. Hoque performed the

25 kyphoplasty at T11?
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1      A.   That is correct.

2           MR. SHOGREN:  I object.  Technically

3 Exhibit 7 wasn't admitted into evidence.

4           MS. THOMAS:  I apologize if I say

5 "admitted."  I thought I referenced just that it was

6 your Exhibit 7.

7           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Seven has not

8 yet been admitted.

9           MS. THOMAS:  Would you prefer to use

10 Exhibit E that has been admitted from Dr.

11 Schneier's, or do you have an issue with me asking

12 him questions about this document?

13           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Are you asking

14 Mr. Shogren that?

15           MS. THOMAS:  Yes.

16           MR. SHOGREN:  I just wanted to make a

17 record, point out, I understand that Exhibit E or

18 Exhibit 7 are the same records.

19           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  I tell you what,

20 7 is admitted, since, I believe, it already exists

21 elsewhere.

22           MS. THOMAS:  Yes.

23           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  So you can use

24 whichever one you want to use.

25                (IC's Exhibit 7 was admitted.)
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1           MS. THOMAS:  Thank you.  And just for the

2 record, referring to a document that is also located

3 at Exhibit E, page Schneier 000949 through 000951.

4 BY MS. THOMAS:

5      Q.   I believe you've already answered my

6 question that Dr. Hoque's report indicates that he

7 performed the kyphoplasty at the T11 vertebral body?

8      A.   That is correct.  And he uses the lumbar

9 spine to count.

10      Q.   You sat through the testimony of Dr. Goz

11 today, do you have any comments or opinions based on

12 the testimony he provided?

13      A.   Yes.  I think -- and again, I mean, I

14 don't know Dr. Goz, and I don't know how much

15 imaging he was using.

16           Neuroradiology is something I do every

17 day.  I consult with neurosurgeons, spine surgeons

18 on a daily basis.  I think that he was looking at

19 the reports, but not -- or maybe not looking at the

20 images at the same time, because this patient does

21 have a segmentation problem where the numbering can

22 be an issue.  And so that's why you have to really

23 look at it carefully when you're counting from above

24 and below to see the area that's operated on.

25           For me, regardless of what number we give
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1 this area, the question is:  What is surgery done on

2 the area of the severest stenosis that the patient

3 presented?

4           And that is, you know, I would say, yes,

5 the answer is yes, and that's based on two facts.

6 One is imaging showing that the spinal canal

7 expanded in this area, and the other reason is the

8 spinal edema has resolved.  And spinal edema

9 resolution -- so edema is just swelling, so that

10 means that the injury that was there in the spinal

11 cord has gone away because the cause of the injury

12 has been taken away.

13           This patient clearly has a lot of disease,

14 a lot of other reasons to have pain, though I can't

15 explain that, but the stenosis has resolved and the

16 swelling in the spinal cord has resolved.  If you

17 count from lumbar spine and cervical spine, the area

18 of surgery is the correct level.

19      Q.   With regard to the opinions that you have

20 offered today, are all of those opinions expressed

21 to a reasonable degree of medical probability and

22 medical certainty?

23      A.   Yes.

24           MS. THOMAS:  I have no further questions

25 at this time.
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1           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Cross-exam?

2 CROSS-EXAMINATION

3 BY MR. SHOGREN:

4      Q.   Good afternoon, Doctor.

5      A.   Yes.  Good afternoon.

6      Q.   I have you performed any expert witness

7 work before?

8      A.   I have.

9      Q.   How many cases have you performed?

10      A.   Probably about 30 to 40.  Not malpractice;

11 personal injury, and have been on a patent case.

12      Q.   I'm sorry.  Could you repeat that last

13 part?

14      A.   Also was involved -- was an expert witness

15 on a patent case, patent infringement law.

16      Q.   Have you done any expert witness work

17 testifying in a case like this before?

18      A.   I don't believe so, no.

19      Q.   Have you ever met Dr. Schneier in person?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   And how well do you know Dr. Schneier?

22      A.   I mean, being in Las Vegas for 27 years, I

23 know every neurosurgeon, spine surgeon.  I've worked

24 or helped someone out all the time.

25           Dr. Schneier, I don't -- I probably talked
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1 to him once a year, maybe.  He used to be -- I don't

2 know how long ago, over 10 years ago -- at Spring

3 Valley Hospital when I would see him more often.

4 Over the last few years, he moved to other

5 hospitals, so maybe once a year.  And it's usually

6 always -- never socially so I'm not friends, like

7 social friends with him, it's always been regarding

8 some patient care.

9      Q.   Have you worked with Dr. Schneier

10 professionally in any capacity?

11      A.   Yes, when he used to work at Spring Valley

12 a long time ago.

13      Q.   And are you being paid to testify today?

14      A.   I haven't been paid yet, but I will be.  I

15 will charge for it.

16      Q.   How much do you charge per hour?

17      A.   I'll -- probably $500 an hour.

18      Q.   Dr. Agarwal, are you a surgeon?

19      A.   I'm on what's called a

20 "neurointerventional surgeon."  I do do treatments

21 of complex vascular anomalies of the brain and

22 spine.  For example, I treat strokes, I treat brain

23 aneurysms, I treat spinal cord tumors, I do a lot of

24 kyphoplasties.

25           It's kind of a new field called
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1 "neurointerventional surgery."

2      Q.   Have you performed any thoracic

3 laminectomies?

4      A.   No, I've never done a thoracic

5 laminectomy.

6      Q.   Have you personally treated patients with

7 stenosis?

8      A.   Just for pain management.

9      Q.   Have you treated a patient under similar

10 circumstances as Dr. Patient A treated Patient A --

11 Dr. Schneier treated Patient A?

12           MS. THOMAS:  Objection.  Form, vague,

13 ambiguous.

14           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  What was the

15 question?

16           MR. SHOGREN:  I mangled the question.  I

17 apologize.

18           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Can you restate

19 it?

20           MR. SHOGREN:  Sure.

21 BY MR. SHOGREN:

22      Q.   Have you treated a patient under similar

23 circumstances as Patient A was treated by Dr.

24 Schneier?

25           MS. THOMAS:  Same objection.
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1           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Overruled.

2           If he can answer it.

3           THE WITNESS:  I don't do laminectomies, if

4 that's what you mean.

5 BY MR. SHOGREN:

6      Q.   So you believe you can opine on whether

7 Dr. Schneier met the standard of care in his

8 treatment of Patient A?

9      A.   As a neuroradiologist, I can opine if he

10 did the surgery at the correct level or not.  That's

11 my job.  As a neuroimager, as a neuroradiologist, I

12 do this every day where I talk to the surgeons about

13 what level the problem is.

14           So from just a neuroimaging standpoint, if

15 you ask me, is the level of surgery done at the area

16 of the severe spinal stenosis, I can opine on that.

17      Q.   And were you personally involved in the

18 treatment of Patient A at any time?

19      A.   And I never met this patient.  I've never

20 treated this patient.

21      Q.   I wanted to clarify, do you have the IC's

22 exhibits in front of you, the exhibit binder?

23      A.   Yes.

24      Q.   Please turn to the bottom -- the page

25 markings here at the bottom right corner, there's a
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1 page, page 74.

2      A.   Yes.

3      Q.   Is this your document?

4      A.   Yes, this is my report.

5      Q.   This is regarding Patient A?

6      A.   That is correct.

7      Q.   You have personally treated Patient A?

8      A.   No, just --

9           MS. THOMAS:  Objection.  Misstates

10 evidence.

11           THE WITNESS:  This is MRI of the spine,

12 MRI of the thoracic spine.  I read the report and

13 MRI.  I did not treat this patient.  I never met

14 this patient.

15 BY MR. SHOGREN:

16      Q.   You said you were involved in the care of

17 Patient A at some point?

18           MS. THOMAS:  Objection.  Misstates

19 evidence.

20           THE WITNESS:  I read hundreds of MRIs a

21 day.  It came through my path, yes.

22 BY MR. SHOGREN:

23      Q.   So what would you call this document?

24 What is your relationship with Patient A in this

25 document?
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1      A.   This is an MRI of the thoracic report

2 that -- Dr. Germin sent the patient for an MRI and I

3 read the MRI.

4           And if you look at my report, there is

5 no -- so we don't have access to Sunrise, so I knew

6 nothing else about the patient except the history

7 that was given.  No other imaging or anything was

8 provided at that time.

9      Q.   Is it correct in this document that you

10 stated Patient A has severe central spinal stenosis

11 at T10-T11?

12      A.   That is correct.

13      Q.   Doctor, if I can refer you to respondent's

14 exhibits, Exhibit B.

15           MS. THOMAS:  What page number?

16           MR. SHOGREN:  There's no page numbers that

17 I can see.

18 BY MR. SHOGREN:

19      Q.   I wanted to refer to the thoracic spine

20 MRI from December 30, 2019.

21      A.   Okay.  Yes.

22      Q.   You've reviewed this report before?

23      A.   Yes.

24      Q.   Do you agreed with the Impression that is

25 stated on the second page?
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1      A.   Yes.

2      Q.   Okay.  Now, Doctor, did you review the MRI

3 from January 2, 2020?

4      A.   Yes.

5      Q.   Patient A --

6      A.   Did you mean the CT scan?

7      Q.   The CT, yes.

8      A.   Yes.

9      Q.   Do you agree with the Impression from this

10 report?

11      A.   No.

12      Q.   Why don't you agree with it?

13      A.   I believe on the report he mentions a

14 T9-T10 laminectomy.  The laminectomy is actually at

15 -- it's a wide laminectomy, T10-T11, that extended

16 to the T9 level.  So it don't describe it.

17           If you look at the sagittal image, there's

18 actually levels on that film.  It's partially above,

19 and so the laminectomy is at the T10-T11.

20      Q.   And did you review an MRI of the thoracic

21 spine from -- the report from February 4, 2020?

22      A.   Sorry.  I'm looking through here.

23           MS. THOMAS:  Do you have a Bates number?

24           MR. SHOGREN:  No.  It's a couple pages

25 after the last one I referenced.
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1           MS. THOMAS:  Is it in the Board's

2 exhibits?

3           MR. SHOGREN:  This one, I don't believe

4 that it is.

5           MS. THOMAS:  Would you like me to put

6 Exhibit B on the screen or -- I don't know if you

7 can take control of it if I share it.

8           MR. SHOGREN:  I'm trying to look at the

9 February 4, 2020, MRI.

10 BY MR. SHOGREN:

11      Q.   Doctor, you did review an MRI from

12 February 4, 2020?

13      A.   I did.  I don't have the report in front

14 of me, but I did review it.

15      Q.   Do you recall if you agreed with the

16 report or not?

17      A.   Can you tell me what the impression said?

18 I'll go -- I believe I did, but I -- I think I did.

19      Q.   I can read the Impression.  Number 1,

20 "Post-operative changes from laminectomy at T9 and

21 T10.  There has been interval removal of the spinal

22 hardware."

23      A.   Yes.

24      Q.   Do you agree to with that impression?

25      A.   Do I agree?  I don't agree with the

Page 209

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200



CORRECTED COPY

1 laminectomy site, that the laminectomy was T9-T10

2 and T10-T11, or if it was more T10-T11 and partial

3 T9.

4      Q.   And then the second numbered Impression

5 is, "There is severe canal stenosis at T10-T11,

6 secondary disc protrusion of scar tissue from the

7 laminectomy at T10."

8      A.   Again, you know, I don't have it in front

9 of me, but, yes, you may have -- it was postop, so

10 there could be swelling in the scar tissue.  I don't

11 have in front of me.

12      Q.   Do you agree that that patient had

13 continued stenosis, severe stenosis between December

14 and February -- December of 2019 and February of

15 2020?

16      A.   Not at the level of the spinal surgery.

17           Can I clarify some of the reports to you?

18      Q.   Yes.

19      A.   Okay.  You know, we're going many

20 different hospitals, many different radiologists,

21 and so I want to try to be clear here.

22           This patient has a congenital anomaly that

23 is unusual, that's why have thrown a lot of the

24 doctors who are looking at it, and they don't have

25 the whole history, and so they don't -- so they're
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1 reading it incorrectly.

2           So when you look at my report that I read,

3 I read it, it was done at an outpatient facility

4 where for all thoracic spine, we use a lumbar spine

5 scout.  We don't use a cervical spine scout.  All

6 magnets are different, that's how we've established

7 the magnet, and that was actually used at the

8 request of the spine surgeon because they like to

9 also count down from the lumbar spine.

10           So when I looked at the MRI of the

11 thoracic spine at eastern, the level that I'm

12 counting calling the stenosis is actually one level

13 above where the severe stenosis was.

14           The other -- you can look at my report,

15 there is artifacts so evaluation of a signal in the

16 cord is difficult, and that's because our eastern

17 magnet or the eastern MRI is the oldest MRI so the

18 resolution is lower.  And so I can't even -- I don't

19 even see a sign of surgery, or I could even tell the

20 surgery was done because the resolution.  And I

21 didn't have any history on the patient at that

22 point.  The area of stenosis was a level above.

23           Now, if you look at the patient, this

24 patient has got congenital spinal stenosis and have

25 got significant stenosis throughout the lumbar spine
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1 and the thoracic spine.

2           So -- but what tells us is the whole

3 kyphoplasty or vertebroplasty MRI that is done

4 before Dr. Khavkin's surgery, that's done at Spring

5 Valley Hospital.  Spring Valley Hospital has a

6 three-step magnet, which is the most powerful magnet

7 and the most resolution, so you see the most and

8 best on that magnet, especially if the patient has

9 moved.  If the patient is in pain, they're moving,

10 things get very blurry for us.  It becomes important

11 we have the whole picture.

12           So on that MRI, the two things we see

13 clearly is, one, the stenosis, one level above where

14 the osteophyte was which is where the stenosis was,

15 is gone.  But more importantly, the swelling has

16 gone.

17           And actually the area that I read as

18 stenosis, just three, two months, a month before

19 that, does not look that bad, and so that's based on

20 the type of magnet and the imaging resolution.

21           So if you look at the -- I believe it was

22 the June 4 kyphoplasty, the June 4, 2020 MRI, and

23 look at the preoperative MRI, that tells you that

24 the stenosis is resolved and the edema has resolved.

25           But there's a lot -- in between, depending
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1 on all of us reading different, there's a lot of

2 confusion as to where the levels are, and so that's

3 why it's hard to tell.

4           The other thing I would tell you is that

5 the laminectomy, some can be difficult to see on an

6 MRI because MRI is not very good for both.  CT scan

7 is where you see the laminectomy the best.

8      Q.   One last question:  In your opinion, would

9 you have done anything different than what Dr.

10 Schneier did with Patient A regarding treatment and

11 care?

12           MS. THOMAS:  Objection.  This witness is

13 not a neurosurgeon.

14           Are you asking him to opine on a

15 neurosurgery that he doesn't perform?

16           MR. SHOGREN:  If he can't opine on that, I

17 will withdraw my question.

18           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  I'm not sure

19 whether you're waiting for me to say something.  If

20 he has an opinion within the scope of his expertise,

21 he can give it to us, but it's pretty clear he's not

22 a neurosurgeon, not an orthopedic surgeon.

23           So within the scope of his expertise, if

24 he has an answer to that, I'd like to hear it, if

25 you want the question.  You can withdraw the
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1 question, of course.

2           MR. SHOGREN:  I withdraw my question.  I

3 have no further questions.

4           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  Redirect?

5           MS. THOMAS:  I just have a couple

6 follow-ups.

7           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Go ahead.

8 REDIRECT EXAMINATION

9 BY MS. THOMAS:

10      Q.   To clear up any confusion about earlier

11 testimony, isn't it true that radiologists that

12 solely review imaging are not providing treatment to

13 a patient?

14      A.   That is correct.

15      Q.   Isn't it true that all of the cord edema

16 for which the urgent operation was required on

17 December 31, 2019, had resolved by June 4, 2020?

18      A.   That is correct.

19      Q.   And as a neuroradiologist, you review

20 films and images, just like those taken in this

21 case, to help determine what level has the most

22 serious pathology; correct?

23      A.   That is correct.

24      Q.   And it is your opinion to a reasonable

25 degree of medical probability and medical certainty
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1 that Dr. Schneier treated the urgent pathology and

2 that there was improvement, as demonstrated on the

3 June 4, 2020, MRI at the thoracic spine?

4      A.   That is correct.

5      Q.   Thank you.

6           MS. THOMAS:  I've got nothing further.

7           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Thank you,

8 Doctor.  Appreciate your time and your input.  Thank

9 you.

10           Witnesses is excused.

11           Ms. Thomas, next witness?

12           MS. THOMAS:  Are we good on time?  I'm

13 sorry.  Can we go off the record?

14           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Off the record.

15                (Off-the-record discussion.)

16           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right, Ms.

17 Thomas, carry on.

18           MS. THOMAS:  All right.  I am ready to

19 call Dr. Schneier.

20           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.

21 Doctor, would you please state your name for the

22 record, and then the court reporter will swear you

23 in.

24           THE WITNESS:  Ira Michael Schneier,

25 S-C-H-N-E-I-E-R.  Colloquially, Michael.
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1           MS. THOMAS:  All right.  In an effort to

2 try to speed things up, I'm going to go ahead and

3 show Dr. Schneier what's been admitted as Exhibit Q,

4 his curriculum vitae.

5 DIRECT EXAMINATION

6 BY MS. THOMAS:

7      Q.   Doctor Schneier, does your curriculum

8 vitae accurately set forth your education?

9      A.   Yes.

10      Q.   And is there anything that's not on your

11 curriculum vitae, any activities that have occurred

12 since then that are worth noting?

13      A.   In conjunction with the trauma center at

14 Sunrise Hospital, I am going to be a principal

15 investigator on confluence injury in spinal cord

16 injury with vertebral artery injury, high cervical

17 spine injury, and I was apprised last week that is

18 now going to be a multi-site, national study as

19 well.

20      Q.   And could you just give us briefly the

21 highlights of your education, training, and

22 experience?

23      A.   NYU Medical School, graduated in 1989.

24 Fellowship in -- sorry.  Neurosurgical residency

25 training at Einstein medical college.  Won some
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1 research awards in New York State, New York City

2 environment.  Then did a fellowship at University of

3 New Mexico.  Then when the chairman went on to

4 become the chairman at the Cleveland Clinic, I was

5 the director of trauma and spine services at the

6 University of New Mexico for several years.

7      Q.   And isn't it true that this surgery

8 performed prior to image-guided capability at

9 Sunrise Hospital, that spine surgeons would count

10 from the lowest rib and then identify the level of

11 interest by fluoroscopy when counting vertebrae?

12      A.   Yes.

13      Q.   Isn't it true that spine surgeons can also

14 use lumbar sacral segmentation as a landmark when

15 counting vertebrae?

16      A.   Yes.

17      Q.   In your fellowship in New Mexico at a

18 multi-site trauma center, both of these methods

19 would be appropriate for localization for level?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   But you also have a clinical acumen that

22 you use intraoperatively and that you used in this

23 case?

24      A.   Yes, ma'am.

25      Q.   You used the anterior osteophytes?
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1      A.   Yes.

2      Q.   In this case, do you find -- in this

3 patient's case, do you find the normal level above

4 the pathology and work down?

5      A.   Yes.

6      Q.   And "normal" meaning where the spinal cord

7 has normal diameter?

8      A.   In this case, yes.

9      Q.   This has all been under a microscope?

10      A.   It's my aptitude utilized after the

11 microscope, yes.

12      Q.   So as you're following the spinal cord, at

13 some point does it go from normal to abnormal?

14      A.   Yes, in this case.

15      Q.   In this patient, what did you identify as

16 abnormal during this process?

17      A.   In my office report, I did note the

18 findings, but from recollection, the patient had a

19 severe constriction -- compression of the spinal

20 cord from an atypical calcified ligament and facet,

21 which is a joint -- facet, F-A-C-E-T -- facet joint

22 encroaching and compressing the spinal canal and the

23 spinal cord.

24      Q.   And this was relatively unusual enough for

25 you to send it to pathology?
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1      A.   Yes.

2      Q.   What did you do next?

3      A.   Under -- just for the record, an accurate

4 microscope has at least 300, if not greater,

5 magnification.  Loop magnification, which the

6 Board's expert, has three and a half magnification,

7 so there's a differential.

8           But following the compression of the cord,

9 a microsurgical technique was utilized to morselize

10 the bony spurs or invaginated overgrowth of atypical

11 calcified ligaments and joints that was compressing

12 the spinal cord from its normative anatomic phase to

13 a two-dimensional compressed structure.

14           And once released from that, I followed

15 that distally to ensure that there was no further

16 compression or constraint on the spinal cord or

17 through the cerebrospinal fluid flow.  I could see

18 the pulsations of the spinal cord.  And also

19 introduced various instruments below the level of

20 laminectomy to ensure that there was no other points

21 above and below the decompression that showed

22 evidence of constriction and constraint to the

23 severe cerebrospinal fluid flow or cord compression.

24      Q.   And after releasing the cord, did you

25 visually see any differences?
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1      A.   The cord expands.  And just for the

2 record, with expansion of the cord and especially in

3 cases of spinal cord edema, there's always a risk of

4 intramedullary or intraparenchymal hemorrhage, but I

5 could see the cord expand and pulsate, which would

6 be a sort of clinical sign against any evidence of

7 hemorrhage.

8      Q.   In this case, within the exhibits and

9 listening to the testimony today, there's been

10 several inconsistent imaging reads by the

11 radiologists involved in the patients pre- and

12 post-operative imaging.

13           Would you agree?

14      A.   Correct.

15      Q.   According to some of them, you performed

16 this procedure at T10 to T11.

17           You'd agree?

18      A.   Correct.

19      Q.   There are some counting from the cervical

20 spine downward that suggests the procedure was

21 performed at T9 to T 10?

22      A.   Correct.

23      Q.   Earlier I was -- when I was asking Dr. Goz

24 and Dr. Agarwal questions, you saw me show them the

25 before-and-after imaging?
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1      A.   Correct.

2      Q.   And would you agree that the imaging

3 showed improvement from December 31, 2019, to

4 June 4, 2020?

5      A.   I think we're all in agreement on that.

6      Q.   And it improved because you treated the

7 patient's pathology?

8      A.   Correct.

9      Q.   So whether we go with your account, the

10 radiologist reading the lumbar imaging in

11 December of 2019, or even Dr. Hoque's count on

12 June 4, 2020, in performing the kyphoplasty, we can

13 see that there is multiple sources of evidence that

14 suggests that this procedure was performed at the

15 appropriate levels for relief of the spinal cord

16 edema, as read on December 27, 2019, and on the

17 June 4, 2020, kyphoplasty?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   Is there any landmarks on this patient's

20 imaging that did not change regardless of the

21 vertebral counts that was used?

22      A.   The ventral osteophyte one level below the

23 area of the coarctation of the cord, or edema of the

24 cord as noted by the radiologist, was a fixed

25 landmark that could be used as a reference point of
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1 localization.

2      Q.   And regardless of any vertebral counts

3 used, you operated at the level of the most emergent

4 pathology; correct?

5      A.   Correct.

6      Q.   And that was the constricted edematous

7 portion of the cord?

8      A.   The answer to that is yes, but there was

9 also edema and constriction above the level --

10 whether labeled T10-T11, T11-T12, there was also

11 significant arthritic pathology similar to that

12 level of the edema in the cord.

13      Q.   The purpose of the surgery was to

14 decompress the spinal cord?

15      A.   To relieve the venous congestion clogging

16 the edema in the cord.

17      Q.   As you've heard, there's an allegation by

18 the Board that your care of the patient resulted in

19 additional pain, discomfort, surgical procedures,

20 hospitalizations, and medical expenses.  We're going

21 to break that down.

22           After your first surgery --

23           MR. SHOGREN:  Objection.  Misstates the

24 record (inaudible).

25           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  What?
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1           MS. THOMAS:  I'm sorry.  I didn't hear

2 you, Hearing Officer.

3           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  The word was

4 "what."  I couldn't hear anything nor could the

5 court reporter, from what Mr. Shogren said.  I don't

6 know, I don't know what he said.  We don't.

7           THE REPORTER:  Mr. Shogren, what was your

8 objection, please?

9           MR. SHOGREN:  I believe the way the

10 question was worded, it's misstating the allegations

11 in the Board's Complaint.

12           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Yes, counsel

13 asked that question.  Is there an objection?

14           MR. SHOGREN:  Yes.

15           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Are you

16 objecting to the question?

17           MR. SHOGREN:  Yes.

18           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  On the

19 basis of what?  The question was -- well, Ms.

20 Thompson, can you repeat what the question was that

21 elicited the objection?

22           MS. THOMAS:  Absolutely.  Sure.  It's no

23 problem.  I said:  There is an allegation that your

24 care of the patient resulted in additional pain,

25 discomfort, additional surgical procedures,
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1 hospitalizations, and medical expenses.  Let's break

2 that down.

3           After your first surgery, the patient

4 returned around January 22, 2020; correct?

5           THE WITNESS:  Yes.

6           MS. THOMAS:  Sorry.  He asked me to repeat

7 the question so he could rule on the objection, I

8 believe.

9           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Well, I didn't

10 even hear what the objection was.

11           MR. SHOGREN:  I think it's misstating --

12 the Complaint alleges that Dr. Schneier departed

13 from the standard of care, committed malpractice,

14 among other counts.

15           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Ms. Thomas, are

16 you just reading the Complaint?

17           MS. THOMAS:  So, for whatever reason, the

18 Board chose not to make the Complaint an exhibit to

19 their materials, and instead, as Exhibit 1 --

20           MR. SHOGREN:  It's --

21           MS. THOMAS:  Okay.  Mr. Shogren, if I may

22 finish, I'll let you finish too.  I think it's

23 difficult if we talk over each other for the court

24 reporter.

25           But for whatever reason, it was not made
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1 an exhibit to these proceedings, and so I was going

2 off of the language in the Board's Exhibit 1, page

3 NSBME 001, paragraph 5:  Your care of the patient

4 resulted in additional pain, discomfort, additional

5 surgical procedures, hospitalizations, and medical

6 expenses.

7           MR. SHOGREN:  I would say that that's not

8 part of the Board's Complaint.  That's not

9 specifically stated in the Board's Complaint against

10 Dr. Schneier.

11           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  It was stated in

12 other documents.  Let's quickly go -- can you

13 quickly go through this, Ms. Thomas?

14           MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  So if Mr. Shogren's

15 position is that's not an allegation made against my

16 client, I'm happy to move on.  I just don't want

17 that to be taken into consideration if that's not an

18 allegation that they are any longer making against

19 my client.

20           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Comment,

21 Mr. Shogren?

22           MR. SHOGREN:  At this point, I withdraw my

23 objection.

24           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  Carry on,

25 Mr. Thomas.
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1           MS. THOMAS:  Thank you.

2 BY MS. THOMAS:

3      Q.   And you answered yes, that you saw the

4 patient somewhere around January 22, 2020.

5           After your initial care of this patient in

6 December, the patient had undergone a hip reduction

7 for displaced prosthesis; correct?

8      A.   Correct.

9      Q.   He had a revisit -- or revision surgery

10 related to his hip?

11      A.   I think he had a closed reduction

12 initially -- this is surmised -- and then eventually

13 that failed and underwent a hip revision surgery.

14 He had two procedures.

15      Q.   And he had a history of hip and knee

16 issues?

17      A.   Correct.

18      Q.   Did he have any bowel or bladder

19 incontinence when you saw him in January, 2020?

20      A.   No.

21      Q.   Any Lhermitte pain?

22      A.   Lhermitte?

23      Q.   Lhermitte-type pain?

24      A.   L-H-E-R-M-I-T-T-E, no.

25      Q.   Did he have distal motor movement in his

Page 226

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200



CORRECTED COPY

1 feet and toes?

2      A.   Yes.

3      Q.   This is consistent with healthy function

4 of the spinal cord?

5      A.   It's distal conducting through the spinal

6 cord to the peripheral nerves, yes.

7      Q.   He had continued restriction on his left

8 knee extension?

9      A.   Yes.

10      Q.   A problem that preexisted your treatment

11 of him?

12      A.   Yes.

13      Q.   There's an allegation that there was a

14 medial breach of a left T9 screw.  Forgetting the

15 semantics regarding T9 or T10 for a moment, let's

16 focus on the medial breach of a pedicle screw

17 alleged to have projected 50 percent into the left

18 lateral aspect of the central canal.

19           Was there any evidence of CSF leak?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   For the record, what is CSF?

22      A.   Through the fluid, which is the

23 differential between arterial pressure metabolism

24 and venous pressure.

25      Q.   And so the absence of a CSF leak is
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1 significant because why?

2      A.   If you had a 50 percent breach of the

3 canal, you would have had to have violated the

4 spinal canal, and cerebrospinal fluid would be

5 leaking out.  That would be pathognomonic for spinal

6 cord injury, findings would be apparent.  Not

7 radiology's finest moment in a very difficult case.

8      Q.   So and you used neuro -- intraoperative

9 neuro monitoring during your second surgery;

10 correct?

11      A.   Correct.

12      Q.   And that intraoperative neuro monitoring

13 would have shown a breach if there had been one?

14      A.   Correct.

15      Q.   Did the intraoperative neuro monitoring

16 show a breach?

17      A.   No.

18      Q.   Did you use ball-tip palpation?

19      A.   Ball-tip probe is a blunt instrument used

20 for palpation, yes.

21      Q.   Is there any evidence of pedicle breach by

22 ball-tip palpation?

23      A.   No.

24      Q.   You also visualize the absence of a

25 pedicle breach intraoperatively?
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1      A.   Correct.

2      Q.   There was never any evidence of CSF leak

3 and fluid leak on any CT scan?

4      A.   Correct.

5      Q.   Was the patient compliant with physical

6 therapy?

7      A.   Not to my knowledge.

8      Q.   Was the patient compliant with any patient

9 rehab?

10      A.   Not to my knowledge.

11      Q.   And due to reports of pain, he required

12 anesthesia for his MRIs, and you advocated for the

13 same, including with his orthopedic surgeon, for his

14 hip-related issues?

15      A.   Correct.

16      Q.   Your surgery relieved the spinal cord of

17 its constriction at that level?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   The patient's ambulatory status was

20 limited by the constructure and his knee and

21 displaced orthotic implant; correct?

22      A.   In my clinical opinion, it was the

23 dislodged orthotic implant that blocked -- it

24 limited -- it was painful to the patient and limited

25 his ambulatory status and left him unable to extend
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1 the knee for quad, secondary to pain, not consistent

2 with long tract findings of a spinal cord

3 compression or injury.

4      Q.   And there was improvement objectively

5 identifiable on the June 4, 2020, MRI, thoracic

6 spine?

7      A.   We all agree on that, yes.

8      Q.   You personally reviewed the medical

9 records related to his admission, including the

10 history and physical, prior to your operation?

11      A.   Yes.

12      Q.   You personally reviewed the consent form

13 in this case?

14      A.   Yes.

15      Q.   You personally reviewed the patient's

16 radiograph prior to operation?

17      A.   Yes.

18      Q.   You had a personal discussion with the

19 patient before he underwent anesthesia?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   You personally marked the intended level?

22      A.   Yes.

23      Q.   You used intraoperative radiographs?

24      A.   Fluoroscopy.

25      Q.   And this patient improved -- the pathology
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1 improved after your procedure?

2      A.   Yes.

3           MS. THOMAS:  I have no further questions.

4 I'm sorry.  Strike that.

5           One more.

6 BY MS. THOMAS:

7      Q.   And the procedures that you performed on

8 this patient met the standard of care to a

9 reasonable degree of medical probability and

10 certainty?

11      A.   Unequivocally.

12           MS. THOMAS:  No further questions.

13           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Cross-exam?

14           MR. SHOGREN:  I have a couple of quick

15 questions here.

16 CROSS-EXAMINATION

17 BY MR. SHOGREN:

18      Q.   Do you recall how many times you saw the

19 patient?

20      A.   In what circumstance?

21      Q.   In your professional capacity?

22      A.   I saw the patient several times.  I last

23 saw him as an outpatient and had him admitted to the

24 hospital because I thought the patient was going

25 through acute, unmonitored narcotic withdrawal, and
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1 I was concerned for his well-being.

2      Q.   What date did that happen?

3      A.   I don't have that in front of me.

4      Q.   Do you remember when you last saw the

5 patient regarding the stenosis?

6      A.   No.

7      Q.   Did you see the patient after the

8 January 23, 2020, surgery?

9      A.   I can't recall if did.  I believe he had

10 gone to rehab.  I don't know if I saw him after that

11 event.

12      Q.   Do you recall what complaint the patient

13 presented with prior to your December, 2019,

14 surgery?

15      A.   The outstanding complaint is pain and

16 inability to extend the knee.

17      Q.   Do you recall a complaint the patient

18 presented to you prior to the January, 2020,

19 surgery?

20      A.   I'm sorry.  I didn't hear your question.

21      Q.   You performed a surgery on Patient A on

22 January 23, 2020; correct?

23      A.   Yes.

24      Q.   Were you aware of what the patient's

25 complaints were prior to that surgery?
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1      A.   Again, it looked to me as the patient was

2 going through acute withdrawal without monitoring or

3 support, and was -- had discharged himself from a

4 facility and did not have supportive care and was

5 beginning to fail for ADL.  I had him admitted to

6 Sunrise.  He was ambulatory at the time of

7 presentation to the office, with bladder/bowel

8 function.

9      Q.   In your experience, what are the typical

10 symptoms of spinal stenosis?

11      A.   The typical scenario of spinal stenosis is

12 associated with what we call "neurogenic

13 presentation," where there is ambulatory intolerance

14 over distance, and it's usually associated with

15 lumbar spinal stenosis, not thoracic spinal

16 stenosis.

17      Q.   Do you recall after the December 31, 2019,

18 surgery did the patient present any symptoms of

19 thoracic stenosis?

20      A.   There is no classic description of

21 thoracic stenosis symptoms.

22      Q.   Did the patient present symptoms after

23 December 31 of stenosis?

24      A.   Vague, unclear -- the short answer is no.

25      Q.   All right.  Give me one second.
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1           IC's Exhibit 2, page 13, the fourth

2 paragraph, which starts with "Dr. Schneier prepared

3 his complication report."  "The patient is

4 complaining of left lower extremity pain."

5      A.   Do you want to read forward?

6           MS. THOMAS:  Is there a question?

7 BY MR. SHOGREN:

8      Q.   Is that statement accurate that the

9 patient now complained left lower extremity pain?

10      A.   I'm sorry.  Was that left lower extremity

11 pain with the left quadricep pain, the left hip

12 dislocation?

13      Q.   I was referring to the statement.  Would

14 you say that's not -- is that a symptom of stenosis?

15      A.   Not necessarily.  Not pathognomonic.

16      Q.   Can you repeat that last part, please?

17      A.   Pathognomonic, P-A-T-H-O-G-N-O-M-O-N-I-C.

18 Not unique to or specific for.

19      Q.   Would you agree after December 31, 2019,

20 the patient continued to have severe stenosis?

21      A.   No.

22      Q.   Do you think this contradicts various MRI

23 statements that you reviewed after --

24      A.   Dr. Agarwal was trying to -- to educate us

25 that there are multiple sites with multiple
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1 radiologists without comparison of studies that may

2 -- subjective to reads of studies that may or may

3 not be causative to any other prior study, so

4 "severe," "significant," "mild," "moderate" are all

5 subjective terms that I defer to the radiologist who

6 reads the report.

7      Q.   In your opinion, what does severe spinal

8 stenosis entail?

9           MS. THOMAS:  I just want to object that

10 this exceeds the scope of the direct examination,

11 the Board listed and chose not to call Dr. Schneier

12 in their case in chief, and so should be limited to

13 a proper and limited cross-examination.

14           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  I think this is

15 within that scope.  Overruled.

16           Witness can answer.

17           THE WITNESS:  Yes.  If you can repeat

18 that?

19           THE REPORTER:  If I heard it correctly,

20 Doctor, the question was:  In your opinion, what

21 does severe spinal stenosis entail?

22           Is that correct, Mr. Shogren?

23           MR. SHOGREN:  Yes.

24           THE WITNESS:  An arthritic condition.

25           MR. SHOGREN:  No further questions.
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1           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Redirect?

2           MS. THOMAS:  Nothing further.

3           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Doctor, you are

4 relieved from your witness duties, but obviously

5 free to stay.

6           Ms. Thomas, anything further on your end

7 of things?

8           MS. THOMAS:  No further witnesses for us.

9 We rest.

10           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Any rebuttal at

11 all, Mr.  Shogren?

12           MR. SHOGREN:  No rebuttal.

13           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  All right.  I

14 know Ms. Thomas would like to make a closing.

15 Mr. Shogren, you as well.

16           Are you ready to proceed, do you want to

17 take two minutes to gather your thoughts, or are you

18 ready to go?

19           MR. SHOGREN:  I'm ready to go.

20           MS. THOMAS:  Okay.  Go ahead and I'll be

21 ready.

22           MR. SHOGREN:  Okay.  I'll try to keep this

23 brief and given the time right now being a little

24 later in the day.

25
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1 CLOSING STATEMENT

2 BY MR. SHOGREN:

3           On behalf of the Investigative Committee,

4 I'd like to thank everyone involved in today's

5 hearing, Hearing Officer Burcham, Ms. Court

6 reporter, Dr. Schneier, counsel for your good work

7 and your presentation.  I would also like to thank

8 all the witnesses for their time and consideration.

9 I think everyone made modifications to their

10 schedules to be here today, so I do thank all of

11 them.

12           As I mentioned in my opening statement,

13 we're here to present evidence so the Board can

14 determine if Dr. Schneier violated the Medical

15 Practice Act.

16           You heard today, the IC presented

17 testimony from their expert witness, Dr. Goz, who

18 reviewed this case.  He reviewed thousands of pages

19 of documents regarding the care provided by Dr.

20 Schneier to Patient A.

21           Dr. Goz, as he stated, has significant

22 experience as a spinal surgeon himself, he has

23 performed hundreds of surgeries, performed surgery

24 similar to what Dr. Schneier performed on Patient A.

25 He opines that Dr. Schneier departed from the
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1 standard of care here and failed to appropriately

2 address Patient A's continued spinal stenosis.

3           I think the issue here is that Patient A

4 presented with severe stenosis starting from at

5 least December 31, 2019, until at least February,

6 2020, perhaps longer, Patient A continues to have

7 severe stenosis.

8           The pathology, according to Dr. Goz when

9 he testified, Dr. Schneier did not address this

10 after multiple times of seeing patient and

11 performing surgery on December 31, 2019, and then a

12 follow-up in January, 2020.

13           There were multi MRIs and CT scans and

14 reports that showed that the patient continued to

15 have stenosis.  Also Patient A was presenting

16 symptoms that showed that he continued to suffered

17 problems from this pathology, and this went

18 unaddressed by Dr. Schneier at the correct level.

19 This was over the course of several months as well.

20 Dr. Schneier had opportunity to correct it.  There

21 was a continual failure to exercise due diligence

22 and skill.

23           So specifically with regards to Count I of

24 the Complaint, Dr. Schneier did not follow the

25 standard of care and committed malpractice.  Also,
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1 Count III, he failed to continually exercise skill

2 and diligence regarding failure to address the

3 severe pathology.  The pathology was not treated

4 regardless of what, technically, the level of

5 thoracic spine this occurred at.

6           Therefore, I think the exhibits admitted

7 here today, along with the testimony given that

8 support the allegations of malpractice and the

9 continued failure to exercise due diligence.

10           On behalf of the Investigative Committee,

11 we ask the Board to consider the record presented

12 here and render the appropriate findings and

13 discipline.

14           Thank you.

15           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Thank you.

16           Ms. Thomas?

17           MS. THOMAS:  Thank you.

18 CLOSING STATEMENT

19 BY MS. THOMAS:

20           Likewise, I'd like to thank all the

21 participants today as well, especially Madam Court

22 Reporter, who's been a marathon participant getting

23 us through this and staying late.

24           The Board has made several allegations

25 that they have not established against Dr. Schneier.
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1 First and foremost, the Board's Complaint alleges,

2 Count I, malpractice, Count II, failure to maintain

3 complete medical records, and Count III, continual

4 failure to exercise skill or diligence.

5           With regards to Count II, the Board's

6 expert, Dr. Goz, testified, "The records are

7 complete and appropriate."  As a result, we would

8 move for a directed verdict on that issue, that the

9 Board has not established Count II, and, in fact,

10 its own expert witness has resolved that count in

11 favor of Dr. Schneier.

12           With regard to the remaining allegations,

13 I would like to note that, despite the relaxation of

14 the rules of evidence and procedures in an

15 administrative proceeding such as this, there is

16 still an evidentiary burden that the Board must

17 carry.  And through medical consultation and issues

18 related to the standard of care, must be established

19 to a reasonable degree of medical probability, the

20 Board did not offer any testimony or opinions today

21 stated to a reasonable degree of medical

22 probability.

23           Dr. Goz never used those words, nor were

24 opinions to that degree elicited from him.  His

25 opinions at times were that he could not make a

Page 240

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200



CORRECTED COPY

1 decision one way or the other.  They were tentative,

2 tenuous, and, in fact, he never once stated where an

3 appropriate level surgery should have been

4 performed.

5           In fact, he agreed unequivocally with the

6 statement in the June 4, 2020, MRI of the thoracic

7 spine interpreted by the radiologist that stated

8 that there was no abnormal intensity -- signal

9 intensity within the spinal cord.  He agreed that

10 the edema that was present on the December 31 -- the

11 December 30, 2019, thoracic MRI had improved and

12 resolved.

13           Dr. Agarwal testified to a reasonable

14 degree of medical probability that the area of the

15 most severe pathology was treated successfully and

16 improved by the surgery performed by Dr. Schneier.

17           All of the witnesses today agreed that the

18 pathology was the edema and the constriction.  This

19 is a case involving a congenital stenosis in the

20 cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spine, a condition

21 that this patient was born with, a condition that

22 operated at every level.

23           The witnesses in this case agreed that the

24 radial -- radiographic numbering was ambiguous

25 throughout the report.
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1           I asked Dr. Goz, who holds himself out as

2 an expert in spine surgery as well as having

3 training and competency in neuroradiology, if he

4 could -- if he could review and interpret images.

5 He said yes.  He was unable to do so.  He was given

6 an opportunity to look at the totality of the images

7 on each series that was discussed today.  He was

8 unable to do so.  That testimony resolved in favor

9 of Dr. Schneier.

10           The testimony related to the standard of

11 care applicable at the time of Dr. Schneier's

12 surgery demonstrates that Dr. Goz is not an expert

13 and that he is not qualified to opine on the

14 standard of care in December, 2019, because he was

15 not qualified to perform the procedure at issue.

16           You must have the qualifications to

17 perform the procedure at issue at the time it was

18 performed in order to opine on the standard of care.

19 This would be akin -- and this is an extreme

20 example -- to providing a stick in the mouth to bite

21 on and liquor before the advent of anesthesiology.

22 That was the standard of care before anesthesia was

23 available for procedures, but that is not the

24 standard of care now that things have advanced and

25 modern medicine provided for the use of anesthesia.
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1           To say that somebody violated the standard

2 of care requires evidence and opinions stated to a

3 reasonable degree of medical probabilities.  What

4 the evidence showed today was that Dr. Schneier

5 performed at complete T10-T11 laminectomy.  There

6 was no wrong-level probable surgery.

7           The medical reports and records were

8 confusing because thoracic CT and MRI count spinal

9 levels from the top down and yield a different

10 result from counting from the sacrum up, as what had

11 been done for the lumbar MRIs and X-rays and

12 intraoperative fluoroscopy.  Counting from above

13 yields one's higher spinal level compared to

14 measuring below.

15           Most surgeons preferred counting from

16 below and identifying the sacrum or lowest ribs

17 because these are bony structures that are easily

18 identified at the time of surgery using fluoroscopy.

19           This is particularly difficult because the

20 unrebutted testimony established that this patient

21 had variant spinal anatomy, including complete

22 sacralization of the L5 vertebrae to the S1

23 vertebrae.

24           The laminectomy was successful as

25 demonstrated by the resolution of the cord signal
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1 changes in the lower thoracic spine.  The patient's

2 need for additional laminectomies is not unusual for

3 a patient such as this one who has congenital spinal

4 stenosis in all levels of the spine: cervical,

5 graphic and lumbar.  Which Dr. Goz agreed was

6 unusual and not common, particularly in the setting

7 of a 49-year-old man.

8           The patient had bilateral hip replacements

9 that were complicated by a left hip dislocation and

10 a flex arthritic left knee that impacted his gait.

11 These gait abnormalities seem to be alluded to or

12 implied to be related to the surgery performed by

13 Dr. Schneier, but the subsequent operating

14 neurosurgeon, Dr. Khavkin, documented several

15 physical examinations with the absence of any

16 abnormal neurological findings.  There is no

17 evidence of any permanent neurological deficit.

18           Dr. Schneider treated the most urgent

19 level of pathology in this patient, and that

20 pathology was objectively improved, as identified by

21 subsequent interpreting radiologists.  And

22 admittedly by Dr. Goz himself, there was an

23 improvement.

24           It is important to note that there are

25 several providers in this case that interpreted the
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1 vertebral counts in the same manner as Dr. Schneier.

2           There exists other reports that provide a

3 different count, counting from the next stem, from

4 the cervical spine stem.

5           Dr. Goz conceded and offered testimony

6 that when there is ambiguity in counting, it's

7 important to treat the pathology.  And, again, he

8 did concede in his own testimony that the pathology

9 had been improved and resolved.

10           There is no wrong-level surgery, and this

11 patient's condition improved.  The spinal cord

12 signal was gone on subsequent imaging.

13           In order to say that a provider did not

14 meet the standard of care or committed malpractice,

15 those are opinions that require expert -- competent,

16 qualified, expert support stated to a reasonable

17 degree of muscle probability.  These are important

18 nuances that present procedural and substantive

19 rights to Dr. Schneier and must be adhered to even

20 in the administrative setting.

21           They have not been met in this case, and

22 this case should be resolved in Dr. Schneier's

23 favor.

24           There is more than sufficient evidence to

25 allow a reasonable mind to reach this conclusion,
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1 including that expressed by a 20-plus-year,

2 experienced neuroradiologist that demonstrated

3 through these exhibits admitted in this case that

4 the pathology has unequivocally improved since the

5 commission of Dr. Schneier's first surgery.

6           Any delay or healing restraint or

7 inflammatory process had resolved and cleared up no

8 later than June 4, 2020, prior to the surgery

9 performed by Dr. Khavkin, the edema resolved on its

10 own, it required the construction being removed, and

11 that is what Dr. Schneier did.

12           Thank you.

13           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Thank you.

14           Mr. Shogren, real quick question, counsel

15 brought up, Count II.  I heard the same testimony

16 from Dr. Goz that counsel heard.  That's no longer

17 part of the case; correct?  It's the medical

18 records.  You didn't address it in there --

19           MR. SHOGREN:  That is correct.

20           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Okay.  All

21 right.

22           Ms. Thomas, you talked about a directed

23 verdict, in whatever order I come out with, findings

24 and all, that is how Count II will be addressed.

25           Anything further?
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1           MS. THOMAS:  Not from me.

2           MR. SHOGREN:  Nothing further.

3           HEARING OFFICER BURCHAM:  Hearing nothing

4 further, we can go off the record.

5           Thank you.

6                (Hearing ended at 5:00 P.M.)

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Page 247

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200



CORRECTED COPY

1 STATE OF NEVADA     )

                    )  ss.

2 COUNTY OF WASHOE    )

3

4           I, BRANDI ANN VIANNEY SMITH, do hereby

5 certify:

6           That I was present on May 28, 2025, for

7 the hearing at the Nevada State Board of Medical

8 Examiners, and took stenotype notes of the

9 proceedings entitled herein, and thereafter

10 transcribed the same into typewriting as herein

11 appears.

12           That the foregoing amended transcript is a

13 full, true, and correct transcription of my

14 stenotype notes of said proceedings consisting of

15 248 pages, inclusive.

16           DATED:  At Reno, Nevada, this 14th day of

17 June, 2025.

18

19

20

                    <%31676,Signature%>

21                     BRANDI ANN VIANNEY SMITH

22

23

24

25
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1-5, 7-10 



EXHIBIT 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 1 



NSBME 001



NSBME 002



NSBME 003



NSBME 004



NSBME 005



EXHIBIT 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 2 



NSBME 006



NSBME 007



NSBME 008



NSBME 009



NSBME 010



NSBME 011



NSBME 012



NSBME 013



NSBME 014



NSBME 015



NSBME 016



NSBME 017



NSBME 018



NSBME 019



NSBME 020



EXHIBIT 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 3 



NSBME 021



NSBME 022



 

MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 



EXHIBIT 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 5 



 

MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 
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EXHIBIT 7 



 

MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 
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EXHIBIT 8 



 

MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 
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EXHIBIT 9 



NSBME 100



NSBME 101



NSBME 102



NSBME 103



NSBME 104
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EXHIBIT 10 



NSBME 105



NSBME 106



NSBME 107



NSBME 108



NSBME 109



 

 

Dr. Schneier’s Exhibits 

Admitted at Hearing 

“Culled” Exhibits:  
 

Exhibit A 

Exhibit B 

Exhibit C (still shot with markers, “Combined imaging studies patient marked”, and “Side by 

side thoracic”) 

Exhibit E 

Exhibit F 

Exhibit G 

Exhibit H 

Exhibit I 

Exhibit J 

Exhibit K 

Exhibit P 

Exhibit Q 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 



 

MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 



 

MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT C 



 

MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT E 



 

MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT I 



 

MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT J 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT K 



 

MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT P 



 

MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT Q 



Curriculum Vitae 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
EDUCATION: 
 
07/1997 – 06/1998 ​ - Fellowship, Neuro-Oncology – Cedars Sinai Medical Center 
07/1995 – 07/1996 ​ - Fellowship, Reconstructive Spine Surgery – University of New 
Mexico 
07/1994 – 06/1995 ​ - Chief Residency, Neurological Surgery – Montefiore Medical Center, 
Albert Einstein College of Medicine 
07/1990 – 06/1994 ​ - Residency, Neurological Surgery - Montefiore Medical Center, Albert 
Einstein College of Medicine 
06/1989 – 06/1990 ​ - Internship, General Surgery - Montefiore Medical Center, Albert 
Einstein College of Medicine 
09/1985 – 06/1989 ​ - Doctor of Medicine, New York University School of Medicine 
09/1982 – 06/1985 ​ - BA, Economics – University of Pennsylvania 
 
 
POST GRADUATE EXPERIENCE: 
 
07/2013 – Present – ​Neurosurgeon, Private Practice (Las Vegas, NV) 
08/2005 – 06/2013 – ​Neurosurgeon, Private Practice (Los Angeles, CA) 
10/2004 – 07/2005 – ​Neurosurgeon, Albert Einstein Medical Center (Philadelphia, PA) 
01/2002 – 09/2004 – ​Chief of Neurosurgery, Frankford Healthcare System (Philadelphia, 
PA) 
06/1999 – 12/2001 – ​Director of Reconstructive Spine Surgery (University of New 
Mexico) 
08/1998 – 06/1999 – ​Neurosurgeon, Private Practice (Portland, OR) 
07/1997 – 08/1998 – ​Fellowship, Neuro-Oncology (Staten Island, NY) 
09/1996 – 06/1997 – ​Neurosurgeon, Private Practice (Staten Island, NY) 
07/1995 – 07/1996 – ​Fellowship, Reconstructive Spine Surgery (University of New 
Mexico) 
 
LICENSURE: 
 
Nevada – 14728 
California – G84184 
DEA – BS4547711 
UPIN – G05328 



NPI – 1891734075 
 
 
BOARD CERTIFICATION: 
 
May 2000​ - American Board of Neurological Surgery  
Recertified 2009 – ​American Board of Neurological Surgery 
 
 
AWARDS: 
 
1994 – Residency Research Award, New York Neurosurgical Society 
1993 – Residency research Award, New York Neurosurgical Society 
1991 – Leo Davidoff Society Residency Award, Albert Einstein College of Medicine 
1987 – Levin Foundation Grant, Weitzman Institute (Rehovot, Israel) 
 
 
HONORARY AND PROFESSIONAL SOCIETIES: 
 
-Surgical Review Committee, St. John’s Hospital Review Journal of Spine 
-Advisory Board journal of Spine 
-ARGOS International Spine Society 
-Radichian Society  
-Society Lateral Access Surgery, American Association of Neurological Surgeons 
-American Association of Neurological Surgeon 
 
 
PUBLICATIONS: 
 
Schneier, M., Textbook Contributor; “Biomechanics of Spine Stabilization”; AANS Press 
 
Schneier, M., Mehler MF, Kessler JA. Preferential Maturation and Migrations into Brain of 
Neural Progenitor Cells Following One Marrow Implantation, submitted 
 
Krulwich, Schneier, M., Guffanti. Buffering Capacity of Bacilli that Grow at Different pH 
Ranges. J Bacteriology, 162 (2), 768-772 (1985) 
 
Guffanti, Fuchs, Schneier, M., Krulwich. Trans-membrane Electrical Potentials, J. Biological 
Chemistry, 295 (5), 2971 (1984) 
 
Abstracts: 
Schneier, M., Mehler MF, Kessler JA. Preferential Maturation and Migration into Brain of 
Neural Progenitor Cells Following Bone Marrow Implantation, American Association of 
Neurological Surgeons, San Diego, CA (1994) 
 
Schneier, M., De Los Reyes RA. Cerebral Revascularization via Non-reversed Saphenous Vein 
Graft, Congress Of Neurosurgery, Washington D.C., (1993) 
 



Mehler MF, Rosenthal, R., Schneier, M., Spray DC, Kessler JA. Hematolymphopoietic 
Cytokines Regulate Differentiation of Neuronal Progenitor Cells in Vitro. Neurology 43 
A231, (45​th​ Annual Meeting of American Academy of Neurology, NY, NY (1993) 
 
Rosenthal R., Mehler MF, Schneier, M., Spray DC, Kessler JA. Ontogeny of Electrical 
Responsiveness of Immortalized Murine Hippocampal Progenitor Cells, Annual Meeting 
FASEB/Experimental Biology, New Orleans, LA (1993) 
 
Mehler MF, Rosenthal, R., Schneier, M., Spray DC, Kessler JA. Erythromlymphopietic 
Interleukins Program Progressive Neuronal Differentiation of Hippocampal Stern and 
Pogenitor Cells. Annual Meeting, FASEB/Experimental Biology, New Orleans, LA (1993) 
 
Mehler MF., Schneier, M., Kessler JA. All Major CNS Elements Arise from a Single Neural 
Stem Cell. 118 Annual Meeting. American Neurological Association, Boston, MA (1993) 
 
Papavasiliou AK, Goodrich JT., Schneier, M., Mehler MF., Kessler JA. The Role of Macrophage 
Colony Stimulation Factor in Medulloblastoma. Congress of Neurosurgery, San Francisco, 
CA. (1995) 
 
 
US PATENTS: 
 
Facet Joint Pain Relief Method and Apparatus – Patent # 6,014,588 (Jan 11, 2000) 
Dynamic Spinal Implant or Joint Replacement – Patent# 11/254,615 (Oct 20, 2005) 
 
 
CORPORATE CONSULTING AGREEMENTS: 
 
Lifespine Corp, 13951 S. Quality Drive Huntley, Il 60142 - Microsurgical Technique and 
Instrumentation development for lateral interbody fusion implant. 
 
Nuvasive Corp, 7475 Lusk Blvd., San Diego, CA 92121 – Facet/joint pain relief method. 
Shared Patent (# 6.014.588) 
 
 
Neurostructures LLC., 16 technology Dr., Suite 164 Irvine, CA 92618 – Lateral inner body 
instrumentations and implants. 
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